REGULATION OF O₂- AND CO₂-CHEMOSENSITIVITY IN CHROMAFFIN CELLS

Molecular Mechanisms Regulating Ontogeny of O₂- and CO₂-Chemosensitivity in Rat Adrenomedullary Chromaffin Cells: Role of Nicotinic ACh and Opioid Receptor Signalling

By SHAIMA SALMAN, B.Sc. (Hons).

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies In partial Fulfilment of the Requirements For the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University

© Copyright by Shaima Salman, August 2013

Doctor of Philosophy (2013) McMaster University (Biology) Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Molecular Mechanisms Regulating Ontogeny of O₂- and CO₂-Chemosensitivity in Rat Adrenomedullary Chromaffin Cells: Role of Nicotinic ACh and Opioid Receptor Signalling

AUTHOR: Shaima Salman

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Colin A. Nurse

NUMBER OF PAGES: 202

ABSTRACT

Catecholamine (CAT) secretion from adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) is essential for survival of the fetus and for adaptation of the newborn to extrauterine life. CAT secretion protects the fetus from intrauterine hypoxia (low O_2) and is required for maintaining cardiac conduction and preparing the lungs for air breathing. Asphyxial stressors (e.g. hypoxia, hypercapnia (high PCO₂), and acidosis (low pH)) arising from labor contractions and postnatal apneas, are the main stimuli for the 'non-neurogenic' CAT release from perinatal AMCs. In the rat, the mechanisms of hypoxia chemosensitivity in AMCs involve inhibition of a variety of K⁺ channels, leading to membrane depolarization, voltage-gated Ca²⁺ entry, and CAT secretion. The magnitude of this depolarization is regulated by the simultaneous activation of ATP-sensitive K⁺ (K_{ATP}) channels, which tends to hyperpolarize the membrane potential during hypoxia. Interestingly, chemosensitivity of rat AMCs and CAT secretion in response to asphyxial stressors are markedly reduced postnatally following the development of functional innervation of these cells by the splanchnic nerve.

The primary purpose of this thesis was to delineate molecular mechanisms involved in the suppression of hypoxia and hypercapnia chemosensitivity following splanchnic innervation in neonatal rat AMCs. Experiments were designed to test the general hypothesis that the ontogeny of O_2 and O_2 sensitivity in AMCs is regulated by the activation of postsynaptic nicotinic ACh and opioid receptor signalling pathways following innervation. Previous studies in this laboratory showed that exposure of perinatal rat AMCs to nicotine in utero and in vitro resulted in the selective blunting of hypoxia (but not hypercapnia) chemosensitivity. The underlying mechanism was attributable to the increased membrane hyperpolarization caused by the functional upregulation of KATP channels. In Chapter 2, I report the results of investigations of molecular mechanisms involved in the nicotine-induced upregulation of KATP channels, using a rat fetalderived, O₂- and CO₂-sensitive immortalized chromaffin cell line (MAH cells), as a model. Exposure of MAH cells to chronic nicotine (50 µM) for 7 days in culture caused an increase in the expression of the KATP channel subunit, Kir6.2. This effect was blocked by α-bungarotoxin, a blocker of homomeric a7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (a7 nAChRs). The upregulation of Kir6.2 in MAH cells was also dependent on the transcription factor, hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-2 α . First, whereas the upregulation of Kir6.2 was present in wild type and scrambled control

MAH cells, it was absent in HIF-2 α -deficient (shHIF-2 α) MAH cells. Second, chronic nicotine caused a progressive, time-dependent increase in HIF-2 α accumulation that occurred in parallel with the increase in Kir6.2 expression. Third, chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays revealed the binding of HIF-2 α to a hypoxia response element (HRE) in the promoter region of the Kir6.2 gene. These data suggest that chronic nicotine causes the accumulation of HIF-2 α which results in the transcriptional upregulation of the Kir6.2 gene. These observations were validated in an *in vivo* model where rat pups were exposed to nicotine *in utero*. Western blot analysis of adrenal gland tissues from nicotine-exposed (relative to saline-exposed) pups revealed a significant increase in Kir6.2 subunit expression and HIF-2 α accumulation, and both were restricted to the medullary (but not cortical) tissue.

Chapter 3 tested the hypothesis that postnatal innervation causes the suppression of O₂- and CO₂chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs via opioid receptor signalling. It was found that chronic µand δ -opioid agonists (2 μ M) in vitro led to the suppression of both O₂- and CO₂-chemosensitivity; this was correlated with the upregulation of KATP channel expression and the downregulation of carbonic anhydrase (CA) I and II respectively. The underlying molecular and signalling mechanisms were further investigated in Chapter 4. Using the MAH cell model, it was found that exposure to a combination of μ - and δ -opioid agonists for 7 days resulted in the naloxone-sensitive upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit and the downregulation of CAII. Similar to chronic nicotine exposure, the effects of chronic opioids on the upregulation of Kir6.2 and downregulation of CAII were HIF-2a-dependent. Western blot analysis revealed that HIF-2a accumulation in opioidtreated MAH cells occurred along a time-course that paralleled the upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit. ChIP assays demonstrated the binding of HIF-2 α to the promoter region of the Kir6.2 subunit gene in opioid-treated MAH cells. Moreover, PKA activity (but not PKC or CaMK) was found to be required for the effects of opioids on Kir6.2 and CAII expression, but not HIF-2a accumulation. In complementary in vivo studies, adrenomedullary tissues from morphine-exposed rat pups showed an increased expression of both HIF-2 α and Kir6.2, and decreased expression of CA1 and II protein. These findings have uncovered novel mechanisms by which postnatal innervation contributes to the ontogeny of O₂- and CO₂-chemosensitivity in rat adrenal chromaffin cells. They also suggest mechanisms by which exposure of the fetus to nicotine in cigarette smoke or opioids from drug abuse might contribute to abnormal arousal reflexes, and pathophysiological conditions such as Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Most of all thanks to God the Divine who continues to make the impossible possible and helped me complete this thesis.

Foremost, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Colin A. Nurse, for his continuous patience, expert guidance, sincere encouragement and enthusiasm. I am tremendously appreciative of him offering me the opportunity to be a part of his lab and of the many ways in which he lovingly supported me when at the same time he patiently challenged me knowing when to push and when to let go.

I would like to express my sincere thanks and respect to my committee members, Dr. Ana Campos and Dr. Joanna Wilson for their continuous encouragement, constructive criticism and hard questions. I would also like to thank Dr. Juliet Daniel and Dr. Andre Bedard for all the stimulating discussions. I am deeply grateful to Cathy Vollmer, the 'backbone' of our lab, for all the inspiration and support she has provided me with throughout the years of my PhD (especially for coming in on the weekends to help with animal experiments). Thank you Cathy, I am deeply grateful for that.

My special thanks to Dr. Alison Holloway for her continuous help with animal experiments (even on weekends) and for the many life-related conversations we had. They continue to be valuable lessons especially when starting the next step of my married life (i.e. moving in together).

I wish to thank past and present members of our lab who I had the unique opportunity to share my PhD years with. A special thank you to Dr. Josef Buttigieg for initiating this study and to Dr. Stephen Brown for generously creating and providing the HIF-2 α -deficient cells, which made studies in this thesis possible, Min Zhang for assisting with electrophysiological experiments, Nikol Piskuric and Angela Scott for contagious enthusiasm and continuous support, and Simon Livermore and Sindy Murali. Members of the Juliet's lab and the O'Donnell lab also deserve my special thanks for all the support and laughter we shared at lunchtime

Beyond Mac, I would like to thank one of my dearest friends, Christina, for being there for me through the ups and downs of this journey. Your exceptional friendship and kindness has taught me a lot. Thank you for all the fun we had the past three years sharing family times, sleepless nights trying to meet deadlines and also for having the greatest housemate quality: driving me to Metro, Fortinos and Walmart for groceries. I will miss these days. A special thank you to my best

friends, Leema and Diana for their continuous support. A mile walked with a friend contains only hundred steps.

To my father, Ali, who has always been a continuous source of inspiration and encouragement throughout my studies at McMaster and throughout my life. Thank you for providing me with 'writing space' and words of encouragement and for providing me with the unique opportunity of bringing me here to pursue my education. To the kindest person I have ever known, my mother, Rafal, who has always been a living example of the mother's ability to recreate lives despite the tremendous and repressive hardships we had gone through in our life. You never gave up on us and you have always been the biggest and kindest soul that gives and forgives. Also, thank you for all your prayers and the delicious food you made and froze away for me by your blessed hands. The unceasing encouragement, constant love and support and endless amounts of chocolate coming from my two sisters, Iman and Huda, are sincerely acknowledged. Life wouldn't be the same without you sisters.

To my husband, Firas, whose unconditional love, encouragement and support were part of the driving force that helped me finish this journey. He already has my heart so I will give him a big heartfelt thank you for believing that I can finish this journey. I am immensely grateful to have you in my life and I am blessed to have you in it while perusing this degree.

Many thanks to the sweetest mother-in-law, Inaam, and father-in-law, Wisam, for all the laughter and good times we shared. To all of my family, I hope this work will make you proud.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	.I
DESCRIPTIVE PAGEII	Π
ABSTRACT	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSV	1
TABLE OF CONTENTS	Π
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLESXII	Π
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSXV	V
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION 1	.6
Role of catecholamine secretion in the transition of the neonate to extrauterine life 1	7
Structural organization of the adrenal gland1	8
-The adrenal cortex 1	9
-The adrenal medulla1	9
-Adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs)	20
-The immortalized fetal adrenomedullary chromaffin cell line (MAH cells) vs PC12 cells 2	21
Innervation of chromaffin cells and ontogeny of O_2 and CO_2/H^+ chemosensitivity 2	23
Electrophysiological mechanisms of O ₂ and CO ₂ sensing in rat chromaffin cells 2	24
-Hypoxia inhibits Ca^{2+} -dependent K ⁺ and delayed rectifier K ⁺ currents	24
-Hypoxia activates ATP-sensitive K^+ (K _{ATP}) channels in peripheral chromaffin cells 2	25
Mechanisms of CO ₂ sensing in chromaffin cells	26
Signalling mechanisms via postsynaptic receptors on chromaffin cells	28
-Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs)	28
-Opioid peptides and opioid receptors in the adrenal gland	29
-Signalling pathways induced by opioid receptor stimulation	60
Hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs)	\$1
-Oxygen-independent HIF regulation	3
Thesis objectives and organization	3
CHAPTER 2: CHRONIC NICOTINE INDUCES HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR-2α IN DEDINATAL DAT ADDENAL CHROMA FEIN CELLS, DOLE IN	
IN PERINATAL KAT ADRENAL CHROMAFFIN CELLS: KOLE IN TRANSCRIPTIONAL UPREGULATION OF KATP CHANNEL SUBUNIT Kir6.2	6
ABSTRACT	57

INTRODUCTION	
MATERIAL AND METHODS	
-Cell culture	40
-Preparation of adrenal tissues from nicotine- vs. saline-treated-Pups	
-Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay	
-Western Immunoblot analysis	41
-Quantitative real time-PCR	
-Drugs	
-Statistical analysis	
RESULTS	43
-Effects of chronic nicotine on Kir6.2 subunit expression in control and HIF-2α-α MAH cells	leficient 43
-Time-dependent effects of chronic nicotine on HIF-2 α accumulation and express of Kir6.2 and SUR1 subunits of the K _{ATP} channel in MAH cells: role of α 7 nACh	ion pattern R 43
-Chronic nicotine upregulates both Kir6.2 and VEGF mRNA in MAH cells	
-ChIP assay reveals binding of HIF-2 α to the promoter region of the Kir6.2 gene .	
-Effects on chronic nicotine <i>in utero</i> on expression of Kir6.2 and HIF-2 α in adren vs cortex.	al medulla 46
DISCUSSION	
CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE	50
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
CHAPTER 3: CHRONIC EXPOSURE OF NEONATAL RAT ADRENOMEDU CHROMAFFIN CELLS TO OPIOIDS <i>IN VITRO</i> BLUNTS BOTH HYPOXIA A HYPERCAPNIA CHEMOSENSITIVITY	LLARY ND
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	
MATERIAL AND METHODS	
-Ethical Approval	
-Cell culture	
-Electrophysiology	71
-Western Immunoblot analysis	
-Immunofluorescence	
-Drugs	
-Statistical analysis	

RESULTS	75
-Electrophysiological studies of the effects of chronic opioid exposure on hypoxic sensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs	75
-Role of ATP-sensitive K^+ (K_{ATP}) channels in mediating the blunting effects of chronic opioids on hypoxic sensitivity in neonatal AMCs	77
-Chronic opioids upregulate expression of Kir6.2 subunit of the KATP channel	79
-Chronic opioid exposure blunts CO ₂ chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs	79
-Chronic opioid exposure reduces expression of CA isoforms I and II in neonatal AMC	s 81
-Immunocytochemical detection of μ - and δ -opioid receptors on cultured neonatal rat chromaffin cells	82
DISCUSSION	84
-Mechanisms underlying opioid-mediated suppression of hypoxic chemosensitivity	85
-Mechanisms underlying opioid-mediated suppression of CO ₂ chemosensitivity	87
CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE	88
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	89
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α	113
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT	 113 114
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION	 113 114 115
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS	 113 114 115 118
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS -Cell culture: v-myc immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells	 113 114 115 118 118
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS -Cell culture: v-myc immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells -Adrenal Gland Tissues Immunofluorascones	 113 114 115 118 118 118
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS -Cell culture: v-myc immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells -Adrenal Gland Tissues -Immunofluorescence	 113 114 115 118 118 118 119
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS -Cell culture: v-myc immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells -Adrenal Gland Tissues -Immunofluorescence -Quantitative Real-Time PCR (QPCR) Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay	 113 114 115 118 118 118 119 120
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2a ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS -Cell culture: v-myc immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells -Adrenal Gland Tissues -Immunofluorescence -Quantitative Real-Time PCR (QPCR) -Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay -Western Immunoblot analysis	113 114 115 118 118 118 119 120 120 121
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT	113 114 115 118 118 118 119 120 120 121
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2a ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS -Cell culture: v-myc immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells -Adrenal Gland Tissues -Immunofluorescence -Quantitative Real-Time PCR (QPCR) -Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay -Uciferin-Luciferase Chemiluminescence detection of ATP release in MAH cells -Drugs	113 114 115 118 118 118 119 120 120 121 122
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS -Cell culture: v-myc immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells -Adrenal Gland Tissues -Immunofluorescence -Quantitative Real-Time PCR (QPCR) -Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay -Western Immunoblot analysis -Luciferin-Luciferase Chemiluminescence detection of ATP release in MAH cells -Drugs -Statistical analysis	113 114 115 118 118 118 118 119 120 120 121 122 122 122
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS -Cell culture: v-myc immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells -Adrenal Gland Tissues -Immunofluorescence -Quantitative Real-Time PCR (QPCR) -Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay -Western Immunoblot analysis -Luciferin-Luciferase Chemiluminescence detection of ATP release in MAH cells -Drugs -Statistical analysis	113 114 115 118 118 118 118 119 120 120 121 122 122 123 123
EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α ABSTRACT INTRODUCTION MATERIAL AND METHODS -Cell culture: v-myc immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells -Adrenal Gland Tissues -Immunofluorescence -Quantitative Real-Time PCR (QPCR) -Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay -Western Immunoblot analysis -Luciferin-Luciferase Chemiluminescence detection of ATP release in MAH cells -Drugs -Statistical analysis -Diagrams RESULTS	113 114 115 118 118 118 118 119 120 120 121 122 122 123 123 124

-HIF-2α stabilization is required for opioid-induced upregulation of K _{ATP} channel subunit (Kir6.2) expression in MAH cells
-Time-dependent effects of chronic opioids on HIF-2α accumulation and Kir6.2 subunit expression in MAH cells
-HIF-2 α binds to the promoter region of Kir6.2 gene in opioid-treated cells
-Chronic opioid exposure downregulates the expression of carbonic anhydrase II in MAH cells: Role of HIF-2α
-Central role of protein kinase A (PKA) in mediating the downstream effects of opioid receptor signalling in MAH cells
-Chronic opioids blunt hypoxia sensing in MAH cells as monitored by ATP release 130
-Effects of chronic maternal morphine exposure on Kir6.2, CAI, CAII, and HIF-2α expression in the adrenal glands of affected neonates
DISCUSSION
-Role of HIF-2 α in opioid-induced regulation of Kir6.2 and CAII expression
-Role of protein kinase A in opioid-induced regulation of Kir6.2 subunit and CAII expression
-Effects of chronic morphine <i>in utero</i> on expression of Kir6.2, CAII and HIF-2α in adrenal medulla vs cortex of affected neonates
CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 138
CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION OF THESIS 162
Role of postsynaptic opioid receptor stimulation in regulating the direct O ₂ and CO ₂ /H ⁺ chemosensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs
Fundamental mechanisms involved in nicotine- and opioid-induced suppression of the direct O ₂ chemosensitivity in chromaffin cells
Signalling mechanism leading to K_{ATP} channel upregulation in nicotine- and opioid-treated AMCs: Role of transcription factor HIF-2 α and protein kinase activation
Molecular mechanisms involved in opioid-induced suppression of the direct CO ₂ chemosensitivity in chromaffin cells
Molecular mechanisms leading to carbonic anhydrase (CA) II downregulation in opioid-treated chromaffin cells: Role of transcription factor, HIF-2 α , and protein kinase activation 172
Effects of <i>in utero</i> exposure to chronic nicotine and morphine on the expression of Kir6.2, CAII and HIF-2 α in the neonatal adrenal medulla vs cortex
CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS OF THIS THESIS 175
Maternal health and its implication in Sudden Infant Death Syndrome
-Prenatal nicotine exposure

-Prenatal opioid exposure	
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

CHAPTER 2: CHRONIC NICOTINE INDUCES HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR	-2α
IN PERINATAL RAT ADRENAL CHROMAFFIN CELLS: ROLE IN	
TRANSCRIPTIONAL UPREGULATION OF KATP CHANNEL SUBUNIT KIR6.2	36
Table 1: List of primers used for Q RT-PCR and ChIP analyses	53
Figure 1. Effects of chronic nicotine and nicotinic antagonists on Kir6.2 protein expression	on in
MAH cells	55

Figure 2. Time course of the effects of chronic nicotine on Kir6.2, SUR1, and HIF-2 α

expression in MAH cells	57
Figure 3. HIF-2α accumulation in MAH cells exposed to nicotine, nicotine plus nicotinic blockers, or hypoxia	59
Figure 4. Effects of chronic nicotine ± nicotinic blockers on Kir6.2 and VEGF mRNA expression in MAH cells	61
Figure 5. Hypoxia Response Element in Kir6.2 gene and chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay	63
Figure 6. Effects of <i>in utero</i> chronic nicotine exposure on the K_{ATP} channel subunit (Kir6.2) and HIF-2 α expression in neonatal adrenal gland tissues	65

Figure 1: Effects of chronic exposure of neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) to opioid agonists for ~1 week <i>in vitro</i> on hypoxia sensitivity
Figure 2: Effects of glibenclamide on outward K ⁺ current and membrane potential during hypoxia in control vs. opioid-treated neonatal AMCs
Figure 3: Upregulation of functional K _{ATP} channels and Kir6.2 subunit in opioid-treated neonatal rat AMCs
Figure 4: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on CO ₂ sensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs 106
Figure 5: Comparative estimates of the blunting effects of chronic opioids on CO ₂ -mediated responses in neonatal AMCs
Figure 6: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on carbonic anhydrase enzyme expression in neonatal rat AMCs
Figure 7: Immunofluorescence staining of neonatal rat AMC cultures for μ- and δ-opioid receptor expression

CHAPTER 4: REGULATION OF KATP CHANNEL SUBUNIT KIR6.2 AND CARBONIC ANHYDRASE I&II IN PERINATAL RAT ADRENAL CHROMAFFIN CELLS EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE
FACTOR (HIF)-2α
Table 1: Effects of chronic morphine exposure on pregnancy outcomes 141
Figure 1: Immunofluorescence staining of μ - and δ -opioid receptors in MAH cells
Figure 2: Quantitative RT-PCR (QPCR) and western blot analyses of K _{ATP} channel subunit Kir6.2 expression in MAH cells
Figure 3: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on Kir6.2 subunit expression in HIF-2α-deficient MAH cells
Figure 4: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on Kir6.2 and HIF-2α expression in MAH cells
Figure 5: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on carbonic anhydrase II (CAII) expression in MAH cells
Figure 6: Effects of HIF-2α-deficiency on expression of carbonic anhydrase II (CAII) expression in MAH cells
Figure 7: Effects of protein kinase inhibitors on expression of Kir6.2, CAII and HIF-2α in MAH cells following chronic opioid exposure
Figure 8: Effects of chronic opioids on hypoxia-evoked ATP release from MAH cells 157
Figure 9: Effects of maternal morphine injections on the expression of K_{ATP} channel subunit (Kir6.2), carbonic anhydrase (CAI & II) enzymes and hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) in adrenal gland tissues of affected neonates
Figure 10: Proposed signalling pathway for chronic opioid-induced regulation of hypoxia and hypercapnia sensitivity in neonatal chromaffin cells

CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION OF THESIS	
Figure 1. Schematic representation showing the effects of stimulating nicotinic ac	etylcholine
receptors (nAChRs) and opioid receptors on specific targets in the chemotransduc	ction cascade
in rat neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs).	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AMC	adrenomedullary chromaffin cell
BK _{Ca}	large (big) conductance calcium (Ca^{2+})-activated potassium (K^+) channel
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
bHLH	Basic Helix-Loop-Helix
CAT	catecholamine
ChIP	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation
CREB	cAMP response-element binding protein
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
E14.5	embryo day 14.5
HIF	hypoxia inducible factor (transcription factor; subtypes HIF1,2,3)
Hox	Нурохіа
HRE	Hypoxia Response Element
HRP	Horse Radish Peroxide
HNK-1+	human natural killer–1 (marker for neural crest cells)
IgG	immunoglobulin G (most abundant class of antibody in blood)
K _{ATP}	ATP –sensitive (or dependent) \mathbf{K}^+ channel
Kir	\mathbf{K}^+ inward rectifier (subunit of K _{ATP} channel)
Kv	voltage-gated, delayed rectifier, K ⁺ channel
MAH	<i>v-myc</i> , adrenal–derived, $HNK-1+$ cell
NSERC	National Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada
Nox	Normoxia
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PC12	pheochromocytoma 12 (cancer cell line derived from rat adrenal medulla)
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PHD	Prolyl Hydroxylase Domain Enzymes
PNMT	phenylethanolamine N-methyltransferase
PO_2	(partial) pressure of oxygen (O ₂)
PVDF	Polyvinylidene Difluoride
QPCR	quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RNAi	RNA interference
ROS	Reactive O ₂ Species
RT	Reverse Transcriptase
ScCont	Scrambled Control MAH cells
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate
shRNA	short hairpin RNA
SH–SY5Y	third generation human neuroblastoma cell line
SUR	sulfonylurea receptor (subunit of K_{ATP} channel)
TASK	TWIK-related a cid-sensitive \mathbf{K}^+ channel
TBS	Tris Buffered Saline
VGCaC	voltage–gated Ca^{2+} channel
<i>v–myc</i>	viral oncogene for my elo c ytomatosis
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
VHL	von Hippel Lindau
w.t.	Wild Type

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1. Introduction

Mammals have developed a variety of mechanisms by which specialized organs sense and respond to changes in oxygen (O₂) tension in order to maintain metabolic homeostasis. A constant O₂ supply is needed for proper function of mammalian cells. Exposure of specialized 'receptor' cells in specific organs to a decrease in O₂ tension or partial pressure of O₂ (PO₂), i.e. hypoxia, induces a physiological response so as to restore PO₂ homeostasis in different organs and tissues in the body. In adult mammals, chemoreceptor cells, i.e. type I or glomus cells, of the carotid body are specialized in sensing local chemical factors in arterial blood that include not only PO₂, but also partial pressure of CO₂ (PCO₂) and pH as well (Gonzalez *et al.*, 1994; Kumar, 2007). Thus, a decrease in arterial PO₂, or an increase in CO₂/H⁺ (i.e. acid hypercapnia) causes membrane depolarization in glomus cells and release of excitatory neurotransmitters (e.g. acetylcholine and ATP) onto sensory afferent terminals of the carotid sinus nerve (Fitzgerald, 2000; Iturriaga & Alcayaga, 2004; Nurse, 2005; Prabhakar, 2006). A reflex pathway is thereby activated, resulting in a compensatory increase in ventilation so as to maintain arterial PO₂, PCO₂ and pH constant (Gonzalez *et al.*, 1994).

In neonatal mammals on the other hand, the carotid body is not fully developed and arousal responses to asphyxial stressors such as hypoxia and acid hypercapnia originate in 'chromaffin' cells located in the medullary region of the adrenal gland (Lagercrantz & Bistoletti, 1977; Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986; Wasicko *et al.*, 1999). These cells, referred to as neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs), are similar to glomus cells of the carotid body in their ability to respond directly to hypoxia and acid hypercapnia (Nurse *et al.*, 2009). Unlike

glomus cells, however, the direct chemosensitivity of human and rodent AMCs is restricted to the perinatal period when their innervation is immature. Interestingly, chemosensitivity is lost or suppressed postnatally as the AMCs acquire functional innervation via the splanchnic nerve (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985). Moreover, denervation of the adult adrenal gland results in the restoration of direct chemosensitivity in AMCs (Slotkin & Seidler, 1988; Cheung, 1990). When the research described in this thesis began, the molecular mechanisms underlying the loss of direct chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs following innervation were poorly understood. A major goal of this thesis was to uncover at the molecular level some of the fundamental mechanisms by which innervation of AMCs regulates their sensitivity to hypoxia and hypercapnia. The physiological importance of direct chemosensing mechanisms in neonatal AMCs, and the critical role of catecholamine secretion during the transition of the neonate to extra-uterine life, is reviewed below.

2. Role of catecholamine secretion in the transition of the neonate to extrauterine life

Catecholamine (CAT) secretion from adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) is a crucial physiological response during the transition of the fetus to extra-uterine life (Slotkin & Seidler, 1988; Van Woudenberg *et al.*, 2012). CAT secretion is required in the newborn for a number of physiological adaptations such as preparation of the lungs for air breathing, activation and maintenance of cardiac conduction, glucose homeostasis, temperature control, and eating (Van Woudenberg *et al.*, 2012). For example, as delivery approaches, CAT secretion decreases lung fluid production by shutting down the active chloride-mediated fluid production and activating the passive Na⁺ transport with water and other electrolytes (via Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase activation in type II epithelial cells) to clear the airways (Grotberg, 2001). In addition, CAT secretion stimulates

the production of surfactant in the lungs (via β_2 -receptor activation) which helps to reduce the fluid surface tension to keep the lung inflated (Faridy & Thliveris, 1987; Burri, 2006). In the developing fetus, CAT secretion protects the fetus from intra-uterine hypoxia-induced bradycardia and maintains fetal O₂ homeostasis (Ream *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, it directs cardiac output to supply vital organs (e.g. heart, brain and adrenal gland) at the expense of non-essential organs (e.g. kidney and lungs) (Giussani *et al.*, 1993).

Evidence that emerged in the 1960s showed that CAT secretion in the perinatal period in response to asphyxial stimuli originated in the adrenal gland (Comline & Silver, 1961). Impaired CAT secretion as a result of adrenalectomy in neonatal mammals (e.g. sheep and rat) leads to abnormal arousal reflexes, and increased mortality and morbidity rates (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985; Padbury et al., 1987). Prior to maturation of the preganglionic sympathetic input to the adrenal gland via the splanchnic nerve, CAT secretion is initiated in response to asphyxial stressors that the neonate experiences during, and soon after birth (Comline & Silver, 1961; Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986; Seidler & Slotkin, 1986). These stressors arise as a result of uterine contractions during the birthing process and postnatal apneas due to intermittent cessations of breathing in the newborn (Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986; Poets et al., 1994; Nock et al., 2004). However, CAT secretion from AMCs in response to direct asphyxial stressors is diminished postnatally following the maturation of splanchnic innervation (Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986; Seidler & Slotkin, 1986; Thompson et al., 1997). These and other studies (see later) suggest that innervation per se plays a key role in regulating the direct O₂ and CO₂/H⁺ chemosensitivity of developing AMCs.

3. Structural organization of the adrenal gland

The adrenal gland was first described and localized in 1563 by Bartolomeo Eustachius though it was not generally accepted at that time. The presence of the adrenal gland in the human body was subsequently established in the early 17th century and various theories were then proposed to explain its physiological function (Richard, 1990). In the mid-19th century, upon the emergence of histochemical techniques, Kölliker was able to distinguish the medulla and cortex as distinct regions of the adrenal gland (Kölliker, 1854). It is now generally accepted that the structure of the adrenal gland consists of the outer steroid-producing cortex (arising from the mesoderm) and the inner catecholamine-producing medulla (arising from the neuroectoderm). In general, the adrenal gland releases a number of hormones into the blood stream that help maintain homeostasis during stress.

3.1.The adrenal cortex

The adrenal cortex consists of three distinct layers. The outermost area is called the zona glomerulosa and is the site of mineralocorticoid synthesis such as the hormone, aldosterone, which plays a key role in Na⁺ homeostasis. The central area is referred to as zona fasciculata which is responsible for the release of glucocorticoids (i.e. cortisol and corticosterone) during stress (Boron, 2011). Glucocorticoids influence the expression of phenylethanolamine-*N*-metheyltransferase (PNMT) in epinephrine-producing chromaffin cells (Betito *et al.*, 1992). In addition, they trigger gluconeogenesis and inhibit the uptake of glucose into muscle and adipose tissues to ensure enough energy is available during stress (Boron, 2011).

3.2. The adrenal medulla

In mature mammals, the sympathetic nervous system and adrenal medulla contribute to the 'fight-or-flight' response during stressful conditions. The main cell types in the adrenal medulla are the chromaffin cells which synthesize and release stress hormones, i.e. catecholamines (e.g. norepinephrine, epinephrine and dopamine), when they are stimulated. This catecholamine secretion is triggered by the activation of the sympathetic nervous system whose preganglionic axons make cholinergic synapses with adrenal chromaffin cells (Schinner & Bornstein, 2005). Thus, activation of the sympathetic nervous system leads to acetylcholine (ACh) release from preganglionic splanchnic nerve terminals and stimulation of mainly nicotinic neuronal acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) expressed on chromaffin cells. Stimulation of these nAChRs increases cell excitability, leading to voltage-dependent Ca^{2+} entry and catecholamine release.

3.2.1. Adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs)

Catecholamine-producing endocrine cells of the adrenal medulla were named 'chromaffin' cells due to their affinity for chromic acid or chromate salts, as first observed in histological studies by Bertholdus Werner in the mid-1960s (Richard, 1990). Similar to sympathetic neurons, chromaffin cells are derived from pluripotent precursor cells in the embryonic neural crest (Anderson, 1993b). These precursor cells migrate ventrally and eventually differentiate into their ultimate fate following interactions with environmental factors. The differentiation of chromaffin cells occurs around embryonic day 14.5 in the rat (Fernandez-Espejo *et al.*, 2005), and is facilitated by glucocorticoids produced by the adrenal cortex. In addition, glucocorticoids also promote the expression of phenylethanolamine*N*-methyltransferase (PNMT), the enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of norepinephrine to epinephrine (Anderson, 1993a).There are two functionally distinct populations of chromaffin cells in the adrenal medulla, i.e. epinephrine- and

norepinephrine-synthesizing cells. This distinction was made based on electron microscopy and immunohistochemical studies that labelled the glucocorticoid receptor and PNMT-containing chromaffin cells (Ceccatelli *et al.*, 1989). PNMT expression in chromaffin cells is induced by corticotropin, as well as cholinergic (nicotinic and muscarinic), and angiotensin II stimulation. Glucocorticoids are thought to be the signal required for differentiation and maintenance of the chromaffin phenotype (Doupe *et al.*, 1985).

In order to study factors that regulate the differentiation of sympathoadrenal precursors, the use of cell lines has attracted much attention. Perhaps the most commonly-used cell line is the phaeochromocytoma or PC12 line, which originated from a tumor of the adult rat adrenal gland (Greene & Tischler, 1976). For this thesis, however, another immortalized chromaffin cell line played a critical role in addressing the main aims. A brief history and relative advantages of this cell line, and a comparison to PC 12 cells, are discussed below.

3.2.2. The immortalized fetal adrenomedullary chromaffin cell line (MAH cells) versus PC12 cells

The use of continuous cell lines is a common practice in molecular and biochemical studies. Such cell lines can provide a suitable surrogate model for studying molecular mechanisms since they are easily propagated and maintained, and can be readily manipulated for molecular applications. Although primary cell cultures offer a more relevant model for physiological studies, it is often difficult to obtain enough material for molecular analyses (e.g. western blotting and PCR), as well as a relatively pure cell population. Therefore, the use of continuous cell lines, for example the O₂-sensitive PC 12 cell line, has proved advantageous. Indeed, the PC 12 line has been widely utilized to study O₂-sensing mechanisms and the effects of acute, chronic, and intermittent hypoxia on K⁺ channel activity and regulation of gene expression (Conforti & Millhorn, 1997; Taylor & Peers, 1998; Conforti *et al.*, 2000; Prabhakar, 2001; Kumar & Prabhakar, 2008). Similar to primary neonatal chromaffin cells, hypoxia causes K⁺ channel inhibition coupled to membrane depolarization and catecholamine secretion in PC 12 cells (Taylor & Peers, 1998). However, the validity of this model has been questioned since neonatal rat chromaffin cells respond to hypoxia via inhibition of a different subset of K⁺ channels when compared to PC 12 cells. For example, in PC12 cells, hypoxia causes inhibition of Shaker-type K⁺ channels containing the Kv1.2 α -subunit (Conforti & Millhorn, 1997; Conforti *et al.*, 2000). In contrast, hypoxia inhibits the large conductance, voltage and Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ (BK) channels and/or the small conductance Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ (SK) channels in both rat and ovine chromaffin cells (Thompson & Nurse, 1998). These considerations have led to the search for other models to study the O₂ sensitivity of chromaffin cells.

A more recent and attractive model used by our laboratory for studying the ontogeny of O_2 chemoreception in chromaffin cells is the immortalized *v*-**m**yc **a**drenal- derived **H**NK1⁺ (MAH) cell line (Fearon *et al.*, 2002; Nurse *et al.*, 2009). This cell line was derived from sympathoadrenal progenitor cells at embryonic day 14.5 of the fetal rat adrenal medulla and was originally utilized to study the development of neural crest-derived sympathetic neurons (Birren & Anderson, 1990). The cells were immortalized using a *v*-*myc*-expressing retrovirus and identified by the cell surface marker HNK1, expressed by neural crest progenitors (Birren & Anderson, 1990). Similar to primary neonatal AMCs, MAH cells respond to asphyxial stressors, i.e. hypoxia (low O_2), hypercapnia (high CO_2), and hypoglycemia (low glucose), and express similar O_2 -sensitive K⁺ (SK, BK) channels (Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Fearon *et al.*, 2002; Johnson *et al.*, 2004; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008a; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008b; Piskuric *et al.*, 2008;

Livermore *et al.*, 2011). Consequently, this cell line appears as an attractive model for studying factors that regulate the development of O_2 and CO_2/H^+ chemosensitivity in perinatal chromaffin cells, as demonstrated later in this thesis.

4. Innervation of chromaffin cells and ontogeny of O₂ and CO₂/H⁺ chemosensitivity

The mature adrenal gland receives both an extrinsic and intrinsic innervation. The extrinsic innervation is supplied mainly by cholinergic sympathetic preganglionic fibers via the splanchnic nerve, with additional inputs from preganglionic parasympathetic and afferent sensory fibers (Coupland & Weakley, 1970; Toth, 1998). The intrinsic innervation is supplied by two types of ganglionic neurons distributed throughout the cortex and the medulla (Parker *et al.*, 1993; Dagerlind *et al.*, 1995). Type I ganglionic neurons express a number of neuropeptide including neuropeptide tyrosine, substance P, pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide (PCAP), and pro-enkephalin, in addition to catecholamine- synthesizing enzymes except PNMT (North & Egan, 1983; Dagerlind *et al.*, 1995; Mravec, 2005). Type II ganglionic neurons contain vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) (Holgert *et al.*, 1996).

In adult animals, stressful events cause activation of preganglionic sympathetic fibers, leading to release ACh, and excitation of chromaffin cells via nicotinic receptors. The resulting catecholamine secretion causes a number of adaptive cardiovascular responses, e.g. increased blood pressure, heart rate, and contractility that enable the animal to cope with the stress. By contrast, the preganglionic sympathetic innervation is immature at birth in a number of species including humans and rodents (Seidler & Slotkin, 1986; Cooper *et al.*, 1990; Naidoo *et al.*, 2001). In neonatal rodents, functional splanchnic innervation does not become fully mature until around postnatal day 10. However, in response to asphyxial stressors (e.g. low oxygen (hypoxia)

and high CO₂ (hypercapnia)) experienced at birth, chromaffin cells release catecholamines by a 'non-neurogenic' mechanism and this is critical for proper transition of the newborn to extrauterine life (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985; Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986).

5. Electrophysiological mechanisms of O₂ and CO₂ sensing in neonatal rat chromaffin cells

Neonatal rat chromaffin cells express a number of ion channels that participate in the transduction pathway leading to catecholamine secretion in response to asphyxial stressors. Since the molecular mechanisms by which chromaffin cells respond to these stressors is central to this thesis, a basic understanding of the role of ion channels in O_2 and CO_2 sensing is necessary. It is generally accepted that hypoxia and hypercapnia cause inhibition of several K⁺ channel subtypes that facilitate membrane depolarization, voltage-dependent Ca²⁺entry, and CAT secretion (Mochizuki-Oda *et al.*, 1997; Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Keating *et al.*, 2001; Thompson *et al.*, 2002; Rico *et al.*, 2005; Bournaud *et al.*, 2007; Livermore *et al.*, 2011; Livermore *et al.*, 2012). Importantly, and as discussed in more detail below, hypoxia also simultaneously activates ATP-sensitive K⁺ (K_{ATP}) channels, which are a major focus of this thesis.

5.1. Hypoxia inhibits Ca²⁺-dependent K⁺ and delayed rectifier K⁺ channels

Excitable cells in general express a number of voltage-dependent Ca^{2+} -activated K⁺ channels that help control cell excitability. In perinatal chromaffin cells, two types of these channels are known to be inhibited by hypoxia. These are the large-conductance, voltage- and Ca^{2+} -activated **K**⁺ (Maxi K⁺ or BK) channels (Mochizuki-Oda *et al.*, 1997; Thompson *et al.*, 1997), and the small conductance calcium-activated \mathbf{K}^+ (SK) channels (Lee *et al.*, 2000; Keating *et al.*, 2001; Keating *et al.*, 2005). The SK channels are open at the resting membrane potential in neonatal rat and fetal ovine chromaffin cells, and their inhibition by acute hypoxia leads to membrane depolarization (i.e. receptor potential) (Lee *et al.*, 2000; Keating *et al.*, 2001; Keating *et al.*, 2005). Delayed rectifier-type (K_v) K⁺ channels have also been shown to be inhibited by hypoxia in a number of O₂ sensitive cells, including neonatal rat and mouse chromaffin cells (Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Lopez-Barneo *et al.*, 2001; Thompson *et al.*, 2002). Inhibition of the voltagedependent K⁺ channels is thought to contribute to the broadening of the action potential duration, increased Ca²⁺entry, and enhanced catecholamine secretion (Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Nurse *et al.*, 2009).

5.2. Hypoxia activates ATP-sensitive K^+ (K_{ATP}) channels in perinatal chromaffin cells

Chromaffin cells express another subtype of K⁺ channels, i.e. ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels (K_{ATP}), that are *activated* during hypoxia (Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Bournaud *et al.*, 2007). Generally, these channels are proposed to link metabolic function in the cell to membrane excitability (Miki *et al.*, 1999; Ashcroft & Gribble, 2000; Miki *et al.*, 2001). Historically, K_{ATP} channels were first discovered in the heart and other organs including the brain, skeletal and smooth muscle cells, kidney, and pancreatic β -cells, where they play a role in glucose-induced insulin release (Ashford *et al.*, 1994; Miki *et al.*, 1999). Structurally, the K_{ATP} channels are hetero-octameric proteins containing 4 inwardly rectifying K⁺ channel (Kir6.1 or Kir6.2) pore-forming subunits and 4 sulfonylurea receptor (SUR1 or SUR2A/B) subunits, in varying combinations depending on cell type (Miki *et al.*, 1999; Nichols, 2006; Craig *et al.*, 2008).

Functionally, K_{ATP} channels are activated during exposure to stimuli that inhibit metabolism and lower intracellular ATP levels (e.g. hypoxia and hypoglycemia) (Trauner & Kramer, 2004). In neonatal rat chromaffin cells, physiological levels of ATP under normoxic conditions result in K_{ATP} channel closure at the resting membrane potential (Thompson & Nurse, 1998). During exposure to hypoxia or hypoglycemia, the lower intracellular ATP concentration results in channel activation that increases K⁺ efflux and favours membrane hyperpolarization (Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Bournaud *et al.*, 2007; Piskuric *et al.*, 2008; Livermore *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, pharmacological studies using the K_{ATP} channel blocker, glibenclamide, have shown that activation of K_{ATP} channels during aglycemia decreases excitability in the immortalized chromaffin cell line, i.e. MAH cells (Fearon et al., 2002; Piskuric *et al.*, 2008). In general, activation of K_{ATP} channels during such stimuli is thought of as an "excitatory brake" that limits membrane depolarization, rise in intracellular Ca²⁺, and catecholamine secretion.

Relevant to this thesis, previous work in this laboratory demonstrated that chronic exposure of neonatal AMCs to nicotinic nAChR agonists (i.e. nicotine) *in vitro* caused the functional upregulation of K_{ATP} channel expression and blunting of hypoxia sensitivity (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008a; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Also, neonatal AMCs derived from rat pups exposed to nicotine *in utero* showed functional K_{ATP} channel upregulation and diminished membrane depolarization and CAT secretion during acute hypoxia (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008a; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). K_{ATP} channel expression also plays a key role in the blunting of hypoxia sensitivity in chromaffin cells following chronic opioid exposure, as will be discussed in detail in Chapter 4 of this thesis.

5.3. Mechanisms of CO_2 sensing in chromaffin cells

Similar to hypoxia, sensitivity of neonatal AMCs to isohydric hypercapnia (10% CO₂; pH=7.4) involves inhibition of outward K⁺ current, membrane depolarization, voltage-gated Ca²⁺ entry and CAT secretion (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008a; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). However, in contrast to hypoxia, the receptor potential induced by high CO₂ appears to be mediated by activation of a resting Na⁺-permeable, cation conductance that has not been well characterized (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). In addition, responsiveness to hypercapnia is dependent on the activity of the CO₂ hydrating enzyme, i.e. carbonic anhydrase (CA). This is supported by electrophysiological observations that hypercapnia sensitivity in neonatal chromaffin cells is prevented when the membrane-permeable CA inhibitor, methazolamide, is present (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). According to this schema, CO₂ diffuses into the cell where intracellular CA catalyzes the reversible hydration of CO₂ as follows:

$$CO_2 + H_2O \leftarrow CA \rightarrow H_2CO_3 \leftarrow \rightarrow H^+ + HCO_3^-$$

The resulting increase in H⁺ lowers intracellular pH, which in turn leads to ion channel regulation, e.g. inhibition of voltage-gated K⁺ channels (Lahiri *et al.*, 1996; Putnam *et al.*, 2004; Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). *In situ* hybridization studies revealed the presence of two CA isoforms (CAI and II), localized to chromaffin cells in tissue sections of the neonatal rat adrenal gland; interestingly, expression of both isoforms was markedly reduced or absent (>1000-fold lower) in the adult gland (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). This apparent loss in expression of the two CA isoforms during postnatal development appeared to be specific for the adrenal gland as it was not observed in the kidney or carotid body. These observations highlight the important role of CAI and II in the mechanisms mediating hypercapnia sensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). Chapter 4 of this thesis examines the regulation of these two enzymes in chromaffin cells exposed to chronic opioids *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

6. Signalling mechanisms via postsynaptic receptors on chromaffin cells

This thesis addresses the hypothesis that chronic activation of specific neurotransmitter receptors on chromaffin cells plays a key role in the developmental regulation of O_2 and CO_2 sensitivity. In Chapter 2, the focus is on nicotinic ACh receptor signalling, whereas Chapters 3 and 4 focus on opioid receptor signalling. A brief account of the relevant signalling mechanisms associated with these receptors in the context of chromaffin cell biology is presented below.

6.1. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChR)

In 1968, the term "stimulus-secretion coupling" was coined by William Wilton Douglas and his colleagues following the discovery that calcium ions were required for catecholamine secretion from chromaffin cells in the adrenal medulla (Douglas, 1968). It was later recognized that release of ACh from preganglionic sympathetic nerve endings activated postsynaptic nicotinic neuronal AChRs (nAChRs) on chromaffin cells, leading to membrane depolarization and CAT secretion (Kidokoro *et al.*, 1982). The nAChR is a ligand-gated ion channel with a pentameric structure that spans the cell membrane and is permeable to Na⁺, K⁺ and Ca²⁺ ions (Ifune & Steinbach, 1992). Cloning techniques have identified several nAChR subunits that includes ten α -subunits and four β -subunits (Sala *et al.*, 2008). Molecular studies indicate that chromaffin cells express mRNA for about seven of these nAChR subunits including $\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3$, $\alpha 4$, $\alpha 5$, $\alpha 7$, $\beta 2$, and $\beta 4$ (Mousavi *et al.*, 2001; Di Angelantonio *et al.*, 2003). Mature nAChRs expressed on chromaffin cells can have both homomeric and heteromeric structures. The predominant forms consist of two $\alpha 3$ and three $\beta 4$ subunits, though the $\alpha 3$ subunit can also associate with $\beta 2$ and constitute functional nAChRs in chromaffin cells (Mousavi *et al.*, 2001). These heteromeric receptors are

insensitive to the snake toxin, α -bungarotoxin (α -Btx), and are involved in mediating membrane depolarization and CAT release (Free *et al.*, 2002). The homomeric nAChRs on chromaffin cells are mainly formed by the α 7 subunit and are highly permeable to Ca²⁺; they are inhibited by α Btx but do not contribute significantly to the physiological response of chromaffin cells during stress (Garcia-Guzman *et al.*, 1995). However, their existence on neonatal chromaffin cells raises questions about their physiological significance. Chapter 2 of this thesis partly addresses this point.

6.2. Opioid peptides and opioid receptors in the adrenal gland

Opioid peptides such as met-enkephalin, have been localized within splanchnic nerve terminals and in adrenal chromaffin cells (Schultzberg *et al.*, 1978; Chang *et al.*, 1982). Moreover, immunohistochemical studies revealed a postnatal, age-dependent increase in the expression of these opioid peptides that coincides with the loss of direct hypoxic chemosensitivity in chromaffin cells (Holgert *et al.*, 1998). Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis will test the hypothesis that activation of postsynaptic opioid receptors during splanchnic innervation contributes to the suppression of direct O_2 and CO_2 chemosensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs. Opioid receptors are known to be members of the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily containing seven hydrophobic transmembrane domains that are connected to each other by few intracellular and extracellular loops. Molecular cloning of opioid receptors and pharmacological studies have identified three major types of opioid receptors, μ , δ , and κ (Law *et al.*, 2000). Opioid receptors are known to be promiscuous when activated, in the sense that they interact with multiple Gprotein subunits. Upon activation, opioid receptors interact with multiple G-proteins to regulate a number of effectors such as adenylyl cyclase (AC), phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) and the MAP kinase pathways (Carter & Medzihradsky, 1993; Laugwitz *et al.*, 1993; Prather *et al.*, 1994; Burt *et al.*, 1996). Receptor activation by opioid drugs is known to be involved in a number of effects such as analgesia, euphoria and reward, respiratory depression, constipation, progression of drug tolerance, and dependence (Law *et al.*, 2000).

In the rat adrenal gland, mRNA analysis showed the presence of all three main classes of opioid receptors, μ , δ and κ (Wittert *et al.*, 1996). Radioligand binding assays show specific κ -opioid binding sites predominantly localized in the adrenal cortex (Quirion *et al.*, 1983; Wittert *et al.*, 1996). Opioid receptors are also activated by the synthetic alkaloid opioids including heroin and its metabolic derivative, morphine. Binding of opioid ligands such as morphine, [D-Ala2, NMe-Phe4, Gly5-ol]-enkephalin (DAMGO), and [D-Pen2, D-Pen5]-enkephalin (DPDPE) shows some specificity for the three major classes of opioid receptors. These three synthetic opioids were used in Chapters 3 & 4 of this thesis to stimulate the different opioid receptors on chromaffin cells.

6.2.1. Signalling pathways induced by opioid receptor stimulation

Stimulation of the three G-protein coupled opioid receptors activates signalling pathways that regulate a similar range of effectors including adenylyl cyclase (AC) (Fukuda *et al.*, 1993; Meng *et al.*, 1993), phospholipase C (Johnson *et al.*, 1994), mitogen-activated protein kinases (Fukuda *et al.*, 1996), ion channels including Ca²⁺ channels (Piros *et al.*, 1996), and G-protein gated inward rectifying K⁺ channels (Henry *et al.*, 1995). The presence of at least 9 isoforms of mammalian ACs with different sensitivities to G-protein subunits allows opioid receptors to regulate multiple cell-specific signalling pathways (Tang & Hurley, 1998). Recently, a number of proteins and signalling pathways have been proposed to be regulated by chronic opioid

exposure. Of particular relevance to Chapter 4 of this thesis is a recent study demonstrating that chronic exposure to opioid agonists (i.e. fentanyl) induced the transcription factor HIF-1 α via μ - and δ - opioid receptors in neuroblastoma (SH-SY5Y) cells (Daijo *et al.*, 2011). The next section contains a brief review of HIF transcription factors which were found to play a critical role in the effects of both chronic nicotine and chronic opioid exposure on perinatal chromaffin cells (Chapters 2 and 4 of this thesis).

7. Hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs)

The hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) are master regulators of gene expression in response to low O₂ (i.e. hypoxia) and were first discovered in 1993 by Semenza's group (Wang & Semenza, 1993). Cellular adaptations to hypoxia involves the regulation of expression of genes (e.g. glycolytic enzymes) that lead to activation of alternative metabolic processes with lower demand for molecular O₂. Adaptations to hypoxia also involve increased O₂ delivery at the tissue level via upregulation of erythropoietin (EPO) to increase red blood cell production (Jiang et al., 1996b), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) to increase angiogenesis (Forsythe et al., 1996). The HIF family of transcription factors, i.e. HIF-1 α , HIF-2 α and HIF-3 α , bind to DNA as a heteromeric structure consisting of two subunits, HIF- α and HIF-1 β (Wang *et al.*, 1995; Rocha, 2007; Kenneth & Rocha, 2008; Semenza, 2009). Both subunits contain two well- conserved domains, i.e. the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) and the Per-AHR-ARNT-sim (PAS) domains (Wang et al., 1995). The bHLH domain is present in most transcription factors and is required for the dimerization of the two subunits and binding to DNA (Jiang *et al.*, 1996a). HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α are closely related and they contain additional domains known as the oxygen-dependent degradation domain (ODD) and N-terminal and C-terminal transactivation domains (N-TAD and C-TAD). HIF-3a is less closely related and lacks the C-TAD domain (Wiesener et al., 1998). While HIF transcripts are stable, products of the α -subunit (unlike HIF-1 β subunit) are constitutively degraded in normoxia via mechanisms involving O₂-dependent proline hydroxylation (at the ODD domain, residues 400-600) and ubiquitination (Wang et al., 1995). In normoxia, HIF degradation is mediated via the protein von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor (pVHL) which recruits the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex (Kamura et al., 2000). Proline hydroxylation in the ODD signals the binding of pVHL which recruits the ubiquitin ligase complex to facilitate HIF ubiquitination (Baek et al., 2007). Hydroxylation of HIF proline residues occurs via prolyl hydroxylase domain enzymes (PHD) 1-3. PHD2 is known to hydroxylate principally HIF-1a whereas PHD1 and 3 hydroxylate HIF-2a (Appelhoff et al., 2004; Baek et al., 2005). During hypoxia, HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α subunits are stabilized via a decrease in proline hydroxylation, ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation. Following stabilization, the α -subunit translocates to the nucleus where it dimerizes with the β -subunit and binds to its consensus/core binding site located within the hypoxia response element (HRE) [(A/G)CGTG] so as to regulate gene transcription (Semenza *et al.*, 1996; Wenger *et al.*, 2005).

Another level of HIF regulation involves transactivation domains, C-TAD (residues 786-826) and N-TAD (located at the ODD, residues 531-575) (Hirota & Semenza, 2005; Schofield & Ratcliffe, 2005). TADs bind to coactivators such as p300 and CBP (cAMP response-element binding protein (CREB)-binding protein) to form the transcription activation complex involved in initiating gene transcription. Factor inhibiting HIF-1 (FIH-1) binds to asparagine (Asn) residues (residue 803 for HIF-1 α and residue 847 for HIF-2 α) in the C-TAD and hydroxylates them in normoxia. Asparagine hydroxylation of the TAD blocks the binding of coactivators CBP

and p300 (Lando *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, O₂-dependent regulation of HIF may occur via changes in stability and/or transcriptional activity.

7.1. Oxygen-independent HIF regulation

A number of "non-hypoxic" stimuli has been reported to induce HIF accumulation in some cells. For example, VEGF expression can be induced by angiotensin II (a vasoactive hormone) via HIF-1 α accumulation (Richard *et al.*, 2000). Similarly, insulin and insulin-like growth factors induce HIF-1 α accumulation under normal O₂ levels (Wenger, 2002). Mechanical stress has also been reported to induce HIF-1 α accumulation in cardiac myocytes under normoxic conditions (Kim *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, chronic exposure to neurotransmitter receptor agonists such as nicotine and opioids has also been shown to induce HIF accumulation in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cells and SH-SY5Y cells respectively (Zhang *et al.*, 2007; Daijo *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, as discussed in Chapters 2 and 4 of this thesis, HIF-2 α accumulation is also induced in perinatal chromaffin cells during chronic nicotine and opioid exposure, and is critically involved in the regulation of O₂ and CO₂ chemosensitivity in these cells.

8. Thesis objectives and organization

The overall objective of this thesis is to elucidate the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the postnatal suppression of the hypoxic and hypercapnic chemosensitivity in neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs). The central hypothesis is that tonic release of factors (i.e. neurotransmitters) by the preganglionic splanchnic nerve during development, results in the stimulation of postsynaptic receptors on AMCs and the initiation of a signalling cascade that ultimately regulates the expression of specific markers that control O_2 and CO_2 sensitivity. In these studies, the use of dissociated cell cultures of primary neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs), an immortalized embryonic chromaffin-derived MAH cell line, a HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cell line, and *in vivo* models where adrenal gland tissues were sampled from rat pups exposed *in utero* to nicotine and morphine, aided in testing the main hypotheses.

The main body of this thesis is written in a "sandwich style" that consists of three papers, two of which are published, and one is in preparation for submission. A short preface at the beginning of each chapter will outline author contributions.

In Chapter 2, I examined the molecular mechanisms involved in the nicotine-induced suppression of hypoxic chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs and the role of HIF-2 α . In this study, control (wild type) MAH cells, HIF-2 α -deficient (>90% knock-down) MAH cells, as well as adrenal tissues isolated from *in utero* nicotine-exposed rat pups were used to understand the role of HIF-2 α in the nicotine-induced upregulation of K_{ATP} channel expression. Western blot and quantitative RT-PCR (QPCR) analyses were conducted to investigate the effects of HIF-2 α deficiency on K_{ATP} channel expression. Furthermore, chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays were performed to test the binding of HIF-2 α to the promoter region of the gene encoding the K_{ATP} channel subunit (Kir6.2). Finally, *in utero* nicotine-exposed adrenal tissues were used to confirm the predictions made *in vitro* using the immortalized MAH cell line.

Chapter 3 is a collaborative study that examines the role of chronic stimulation of opioid receptors in mediating the suppression of the direct hypoxic and hypercapnic sensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs. In these studies, primary neonatal rat AMCs were exposed to chronic opioids for 1 week in culture. Initial electrophysiological experiments monitoring hypoxia- and hypercapnia-induced inhibition of outward K^+ current and membrane depolarization were

conducted by Dr. J. Buttigieg. Electrophysiological experiments involving the use of glibenclamide to test the functional up-regulation of the KATP channel expression following chronic opioids were conducted in collaboration with Dr. M. Zhang. I performed western blot analyses using primary neonatal AMCs to examine the effects of chronic opioids on the expression of a number of markers involved in hypoxia and hypercapnia chemosensitivity (i.e. K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2, and carbonic anhydrase enzymes). Finally, I performed fluorescence immunocytochemistry to visualize the expression of μ - and δ -opioid receptors in neonatal rat AMCs.

In Chapter 4, I examined the molecular mechanisms involved in the effects of chronic opioids on the expression of K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2, and carbonic anhydrase II enzyme in MAH cells. Techniques used in this chapter include western blot, quantitative RT-PCR analysis, and ChIP analysis using wild type and HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cells. In addition, western blot analysis was applied to adrenal tissues isolated from pups exposed to chronic morphine *in utero*.

Finally, Chapter 5 contains a general discussion, in addition to a model that integrates all the findings of this thesis.

CHAPTER 2: CHRONIC NICOTINE INDUCES HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR-2α IN PERINATAL RAT ADRENAL CHROMAFFIN CELLS: ROLE IN TRANSCRIPTIONAL UPREGULATION OF K_{ATP} CHANNEL SUBUNIT Kir6.2

This study has previously been published and reprinted with permission: **Shaima Salman,** Stephen T. Brown and Colin A. Nurse (2012). *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **302**: C1531–1538.

I performed all the experiments, analysis and preparation of the manuscript. Stephen Brown generated and kindly provided the HIF- 2α -deficient cell line and was involved in data interpretation. Alison Holloway generously provided assistance with animal experiments.
ABSTRACT

Fetal exposure to nicotine causes impaired adrenal catecholamine secretion and increased neonatal mortality during acute hypoxic challenges. Both effects are attributable to upregulation of K_{ATP} channels and can be rescued by pre-treatment with the blocker, glibenclamide. Though use of *in vitro* models of primary and immortalized, fetal-derived rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (i.e. MAH cells) demonstrated the requirements for α 7 nAChR stimulation and the transcription factor, HIF-2 α , the latter's role was unclear. Using western blots, we show that chronic nicotine causes a progressive, time-dependent induction of HIF-2 α in MAH cells that parallels the upregulation of K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2. Moreover, a common HIF target, VEGF mRNA, was also upregulated after chronic nicotine. All the above effects were prevented during coincubation with α -bungarotoxin (100 nM), a specific α 7 nAChR blocker, and were absent in HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cells. ChIP assays demonstrated binding of HIF-2 α to a putative HRE in Kir6.2 gene promoter. Specificity of this signalling pathway was validated in adrenal glands from pups born to dams exposed to nicotine throughout gestation. Whereas medullary tissue showed upregulation of both HIF-2 α and Kir6.2, cortical tissue which normally expresses KATP channels but lacks a7 nAChR, showed no changes in either HIF-2α or Kir6.2. This study has uncovered a signalling pathway whereby a non-hypoxic stimulus (nicotine) promotes HIF- 2α -mediated transcriptional upregulation of a novel target, Kir6.2 subunit. The data suggest that the HIF pathway may be involved in K_{ATP} channel- mediated neuroprotection during brain ischemia, and in the effects of chronic nicotine on ubiquitous brain α 7 nAChR.

INTRODUCTION

The proper transition of the neonate to extrauterine life depends critically on catecholamine (CAT) secretion from adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMC), triggered by asphyxial stressors associated with birth, e.g. hypoxia (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985; Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986). We recently demonstrated that this direct response to hypoxia is blunted in AMCs derived from the offspring of rat dams exposed to nicotine throughout gestation, providing a potential link between cigarette smoke and impaired arousal as occurs in Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). The underlying mechanisms were attributable to the upregulation and subsequent opening of KATP channels (Kir6.2) during acute hypoxia, thereby favoring membrane hyperpolarization and reduced excitability (Buttigieg et al., 2009). Indeed, in the latter study pre-treatment with the K_{ATP} channel blocker glibenclamide reversed the increased neonatal mortality seen in nicotineexposed pups subjected to acute hypoxic challenges. Complementary studies using isolated neonatal rat AMCs or a fetal-derived immortalized chromaffin cell line (MAH cells), combined with in vitro exposures to 50 µM nicotine lasting 1 week, demonstrated that the nicotine-induced KATP channel upregulation required activation of α-bungarotoxin-sensitive α7 nicotinic ACh receptors (nAChR) (Buttigieg et al., 2009). Moreover, there was an obligatory requirement for the transcription factor, hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)- 2α , because the above effects of nicotine were absent in MAH cells deficient in HIF-2α (Buttigieg et al., 2009). In these studies, however, the mechanisms underlying the role of HIF-2 α were unclear, as there were no obvious changes in HIF-2 α levels in MAH cells after 24hr exposure to nicotine, in contrast to its robust induction after exposure to hypoxia (2% O₂) for a similar period (Brown & Nurse, 2008; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Understanding these mechanisms is of broad interest given the importance of KATP channel function in neuroprotection and neurovascular remodelling following oxygen/glucose deprivation during brain ischemia and stroke (Ballanyi, 2004; Sun & Hu, 2010), and in the physiology of pancreatic beta cells which becomes dysregulated after fetal nicotine exposure (Bruin et al., 2008).

In the present study, we re-visited the role of HIF-2 α in K_{ATP} channel regulation after noting a potential hypoxia response element (HRE) or HIF binding site in the promoter region of Kir6.2 gene that encodes one of two dissimilar subunits of the K_{ATP} channel. Each of four channel pore-forming Kir6.2 subunits combines with a regulatory subunit consisting of the sulphonylurea receptor (SUR) to form a functional tetrameric complex (Nichols, 2006). We hypothesized that nicotine exposure may cause a time-dependent induction of HIF-2a, which in turn could lead to transcriptional upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit and consequently, increased functional KATP channel expression. Indeed, we found that both HIF-2a and Kir6.2 protein displayed a timedependent, parallel, and progressive upregulation in wild type and scrambled control MAH cells exposed to chronic nicotine over 1 week. Notably, this upregulation of HIF-2 α and Kir6.2 was absent in a stable HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cell line (>90% knockdown) generated using interference RNAi techniques (Brown et al., 2009), and chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays demonstrated binding of HIF- 2α to the promoter region of the Kir6.2 gene. To validate the specificity of the signalling pathway we used an *in vivo* model of the rat adrenal gland subjected to chronic nicotine exposure during fetal development. In this model, we took advantage of the fact that the adrenal cortex expresses ATP-dependent K⁺ channels (Xu & Enveart, 2001) but, in contrast to the medulla, lacks expression of α -bungarotoxin-sensitive α 7 nicotinic AChR (Criado *et al.*, 1997; Mousavi et al., 2001). Interestingly, this in vivo model supported the main conclusions of the present study.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell culture: The *v-myc* immortalized adrenal chromaffin (MAH) cells were incubated in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air: 5% CO₂ at 37°C and grown in L-15/CO₂ medium containing 0.6 % glucose, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, 10% fetal bovine serum and 5 μ M dexamethasone as previously described (Fearon *et al.*, 2002). Cells were plated on poly–D–lysine– and laminin–coated 35 mm culture dishes, fed every 1–2 days, and routinely passaged every 3-4 days. HIF-2a knockdown (and scrambled control) MAH cells were generated using short hairpin RNAi (shRNA) interference techniques and propagated as a stable cell line as previously described (Brown & Nurse, 2008).

Preparation of adrenal tissues from nicotine- vs saline-treated pups: Experiments were approved by the the Animal Research and Ethics Board at McMaster University, and performed in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council for Animal Care. The procedures for nicotine vs saline injections into pregnant Wistar rats were identical to those described in detail in our previous studies (Buttigieg et al. 2008). Experimental animals were kept at constant temperature (22°C) and lighting (12 h light/dark) with free access to water and food. Female Wistar rats were randomly treated with saline (vehicle) or nicotine bitartrate (1 mg/kg body weight/d) subcutaneously (s.c.) once a day for two weeks before mating and then throughout the gestation period as previously described (Holloway *et al.*, 2005; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). Upon delivery, pups were removed and both adrenal glands from each animal were isolated and kept in sterile medium. In the same medium, most of the outer cortex was trimmed and isolated from the central medullary tissue. The enriched cortical and medullary fractions were kept separate for molecular analysis.

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay: ChIP assay was performed using a standard protocol (Millipore) as previously reported (Brown *et al.*, 2009). MAH cells were plated on 100 mm dishes and treated with nicotine base (50 μ M) for 7 days at a confluency of 75%. This dose of nicotine was previously shown to be subsaturating for nicotinic receptors on primary rat chromaffin cells (EC₅₀~25 μ M) (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008);

this dose also produced a similar upregulation of K_{ATP} channel expression in MAH cells following *in vitro* exposure and in primary neonatal chromaffin cells following both *in vitro* and *in utero* exposure to nicotine (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Histones were cross-linked to DNA using 1% formaldehyde for 10 min at 37°C. Immunoprecipitation was performed using antibodies against HIF-2 α or control IgG. PCR analysis was utilized to detect HIF-2 α binding using primers specific for putative HIF responsive element (HRE) on Kir6.2 promoter sequence (forward: 5` CTG GAA GGA AGC CAG TCT TG 3`; and reverse: 5` CCT TCT TGT CCC CCT TTC TC 3`), and negative primers downstream from the promoter region (forward: 5` GCA TAA ATG TTT CCC ACT CC 3`; and reverse: 5` TAA CTG AAG AAG GGC AGG AA 3`). Primers were designed using Gene Fisher (Giegerich *et al.*, 1996). Thermal cycling conditions included Platinum *Taq* DNA polymerase activation at 95°C for 2 min, 35 cycles of denaturing at 95°C for 30 s, and annealing and extension at 60°C for 30 s.

Western Immunoblot analysis: Nuclear and cytoplasmic extracts obtained from adrenal tissues and MAH cells were loaded and resolved on SDS-PAGE gel and transferred to PVDC membranes as previously described (Brown & Nurse, 2008). Membranes were incubated with either primary Kir6.2 rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:1000 dilution; Alomone Labs Ltd.), HIF-2 α rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:1000 dilution; Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO, USA), SUR1 rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:5000 dilution; Millipore, Canada), TATA-binding protein rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:2000 dilution; Santa Cruz, CA, USA), or primary β -actin rabbit monoclonal antibody (1:10,000 dilution) at 4°C overnight.

Quantitative Real Time-PCR (Q RT-PCR): Quantitative RT-PCR analysis was performed using the Stratagene (Mx3000p) detection system using ABsolute QPCR SYBR Green Mix. Kir6.2 primers (forward: 5' ACA AGA ACA TCC GAG AGC A 3' and reverse: 5' CTG CAC GAT CAG AAT AAG GA 3') and VEGF primers (forward: 5' AATGATGAAGCCCTGGAGTG 3' and reverse: 5' AATGCTTTCTCCGCTCTGAA 3' (Huang *et al.*, 2010), were designed using Gene Fisher (Giegerich *et al.*, 2010), were designed using Gene Fisher (Giegerich *et al.*, 2010).

1996) and specificity was confirmed using BLAST. Thermal cycling conditions included Platinum *Taq* DNA polymerase activation at 95°C for 2 min, 40 cycles of denaturing at 95°C for 3 s, annealing and extension at 60°C for 30 s, followed by routine melting curve analysis. Samples with no template were used as a negative control. Data were compared using the arithmetric equation $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001) and mRNA levels were normalized to Lamin A/C expression (primers: forward: 5'-GCAGTACAAGAAGGAGCTA and reverse: 5' CAGCAATTCCTGGTACTCA 3') as an endogenous reference (Brown *et al.*, 2009), and expressed as transcript fold change relative to mRNA from untreated control MAH cells.

Drugs: All drugs were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and applied fresh to the medium every 2 days.

Statistical analysis: Data from experiments were expressed as means \pm SEM and statistical analyses were carried out using one-way ANOVA with Dunnett post-hoc multiple comparison. Differences were considered significant if P < 0.05.

RESULTS

Effects of chronic nicotine on Kir6.2 subunit expression in control and HIF-2a- deficient MAH cells

Consistent with previous reports from this laboratory (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009), exposure of control, wild type (w.t.) MAH cells to chronic nicotine (50 μ M) for 7 days caused a significant upregulation of K_{ATP} channel Kir6.2 subunit at the protein level (Fig. 1A). Moreover, this effect was abolished during continuous coincubation with α -bungarotoxin (α Btx; 100 nM), but not hexamethonium (Hex; 100 μ M) (Fig. 1A), confirming the involvement of homomeric α 7 (but not α 3-containing) neuronal nAChR (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). It is known that multiple α and β subunits of neuronal nAChR including α 3, α 5, α 7, β 2, β 4 are expressed in neonatal rat chromaffin cells (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009; Souvannakitti *et al.*, 2010) and MAH cells (our unpublished microarray and PCR data). Importantly, this nicotine-induced upregulation of Kir6.2 was dependent on HIF- 2α function because it was absent in HIF- 2α -deficient (shHIF2 α ; >90% knockdown) MAH cells regardless of incubation conditions (Fig. 1B).

Our microarray data on MAH cells also revealed a significant up-regulation in Kir6.2 transcript after exposure to chronic hypoxia (2% O₂; 24 hr), a condition known to cause robust induction of HIF-2 α in these cells (Brown and Nurse 2008). This raised the question whether or not chronic nicotine exposure caused induction of HIF-2 α in MAH cells as a necessary and sufficient condition for the upregulation of Kir6.2. Because short-term (24 hr) exposures of MAH cells to chronic nicotine failed to cause any significant HIF-2 α accumulation in our previous study (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009), we next investigated whether longer-term exposures were required.

Time-dependent effects of chronic nicotine on HIF-2 α accumulation and expression pattern of Kir6.2 and SUR1 subunits of the K_{ATP} channel in MAH cells: Role of α 7 nAChR

To determine whether or not HIF-2 α accumulation in nicotine-treated MAH cells is a time-dependent phenomenon, western blot analysis was used to probe for HIF-2 α at 24 hr, 3 days and 7 days of treatment. As illustrated in Fig. 2A (lower panel), there was a progressive increase in HIF-2 α accumulation that was significant at 3 and 7 days (but *not* at 24 hrs) of exposure, with HIF-2 α levels being significantly greater at 7 days compared to 3 days (Fig. 2A; histogram).

We next reasoned that if HIF-2 α induction was indeed causally related to the nicotine-induced upregulation of Kir6.2, then the kinetics of Kir6.2 expression should follow *pari passu* that of HIF-2 α accumulation. This was indeed the case as illustrated in Fig. 2B (upper panel) where Kir6.2 protein levels also increased progressively with exposure time and, similar to HIF-2 α accumulation, was also significant at 3 and 7 days (but *not* at 24 hrs) (Fig. 2B; D). Interestingly, the stimulatory effect of chronic nicotine was specific for the Kir6.2 subunit of the K_{ATP} channel because expression of the regulatory SUR1 subunit remained constant (Fig. 2C; D).

We also confirmed that, as for Kir6.2 upregulation, the nicotine-induced HIF-2 α accumulation at 7 days exposure was dependent on homomeric α 7 nAChR because it was prevented during co-incubation with the α 7 nAChR blocker, α -bungarotoxin (100 nM), but not hexamethonium (100 μ M) (Fig. 3A). Moreover, as illustrated in Fig. 3B, HIF-2 α accumulation was markedly suppressed in nicotine-treated HIF-2 α -deficient (shHIF2 α) MAH cells as expected, though it was robust in nicotine-treated scrambled control (ScCont) cells (Fig. 3B). Similarly, exposure to shorter durations of chronic hypoxia (2% O₂; 24hr) caused a robust induction of HIF-2 α in control (wtMAH, Fig. 3A; ScCont MAH), but not in HIF-2 α -deficient (shHIF2 α MAH), MAH cells (Fig. 3B).

Chronic nicotine upregulates both Kir6.2 and VEGF mRNA in MAH cells

The observed HIF-2 α -dependent upregulation of Kir6.2 protein in MAH cell after chronic exposure to nicotine raised the possibility that this could occur at the transcriptional level. To test this possibility we probed for Kir6.2 mRNA expression after a 7-day exposure of MAH cells to chronic nicotine. As illustrated in Fig. 4A, chronic nicotine caused ~3 fold increase in Kir6.2 mRNA expression (relative to lamin) as assessed by quantitative real-time PCR analysis. Moreover, this increased expression was prevented during co-incubation with the α 7 nAChR blocker, α -bungarotoxin (100 nM), but not hexamethonium (100 μ M) (Fig. 4A). These data are consistent with the idea that the effects of chronic nicotine are mediated via HIF-2 α -dependent transcriptional upregulation Kir6.2 mRNA, leading to increased expression of K_{ATP} channels at the protein level.

The posit that chronic nicotine exposure causes HIF-2 α induction in MAH cells implies that the transcripts for other well-characterized HIF targets may also be concomitantly upregulated. Our microarray analysis on nicotine-treated MAH cells indicated upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a well known HIF-induced gene. To confirm these data and assess whether the nicotine-induced HIF-2 α accumulation was associated with an increase in VEGF mRNA, we used quantitative real-time PCR analysis following a 7-day exposure of MAH cells to chronic nicotine. Indeed, chronic nicotine and as expected chronic hypoxia (2% O₂, 24 hr) caused a significant increase in VEGF mRNA in control MAH cells; this effect was absent in HIF-2 α deficient (shHIF2 α) MAH cells (Fig. 4B). Moreover, co-incubation of nicotine with α -bungarotoxin (α Btx; 100 nM), but not with hexamethonium (100 μ M), prevented the increase in VEGF mRNA expression (Fig. 4B), confirming that the effect was mediated via α 7 nAChR. Taken together, these results demonstrate that chronic nicotinic activation of α 7 nAChR in MAH cells leads to the accumulation of HIF-2 α which in turn mediates upregulation of Kir6.2 mRNA and other common HIF targets such as VEGF mRNA.

ChIP assay reveals binding of HIF-2a to the promoter region of the Kir6.2 gene

Given that the nicotine-induced upregulation of Kir6.2 mRNA in MAH cells was HIF-2a dependent (Fig. 4A), it was of interest to determine whether or not Kir6.2 gene expression is directly regulated by HIF-2 α . We therefore analyzed the promoter region of the Kir6.2 gene and found a potential hypoxia response element (HRE) or HIF-binding site (Fig. 5A). This site contains the HIF core sequence 5'- GCGTG-3' spanning nucleotides -1087 to -1083 and the HIF ancillary site 5'-CACAG-3' spanning nucleotides -1065 to -1061. The region containing both elements is considered the HRE and seems to be conserved in both the rat and mouse sequence (Wenger et al., 2005) (Fig. 5A, upper). It is similar in structure to the HRE element found in the promoter of adenosine A2a receptor (A2aR) gene that was recently shown to be regulated by HIF-2 α in MAH cells (Brown et al., 2011). In order to determine whether or not HIF-2a binds to this region of the Kir6.2 promoter, we performed a chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay. Indeed, the ChIP assay on chromatin isolated from nicotine-treated wild type (wt MAH) and scrambled control (ScCont MAH) cells revealed a prominent band of 288bp that was conspicuously absent in HIF-2α -deficient (shHIF2α MAH) cells (Fig. 5B). In control experiments, no bands were detectable in control IgG immunoprecipitates nor in samples that included a pair of primers (negative primer) designed to amplify potential immunocomplexes, should they form downstream of the promoter region. These negative primers failed to amplify DNA suggesting that there was specific binding of HIF-2 α to an upstream site in the promoter region. These findings strongly suggest that HIF-2 α binds to the distal promoter region that contains a putative HRE and show that HIF-2 α binding to Kir6.2 can be stimulated by a non-hypoxic stimulus, i.e. nicotine.

Effects on chronic nicotine in utero on expression of Kir6.2 and HIF-2a in adrenal medulla vs cortex

It was of interest to determine whether or not the model proposed above for the chronic effects of nicotine on the MAH cell line could be validated *in vivo*. To address this, we used an *in vivo* model where maternal administration of nicotine was previously shown to cause impaired O_2 sensing in chromaffin cells of the

affected offspring, attributable to upregulation of K_{ATP} channels (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Previous studies have demonstrated that K_{ATP} channels are expressed in both the adrenal cortex and medulla (Xu & Enyeart, 2001; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009), whereas α -bungarotoxin-sensitive α 7 nicotinic AChRs are expressed only in the medulla (Criado *et al.*, 1997; Mousavi *et al.*, 2001). This presented a unique opportunity to test the specificity of the proposed pathway by comparing expression patterns in the adrenal cortex versus medulla of nicotine-exposed pups. As illustrated in Fig. 6, medullary tissue from nicotine -treated pups showed the expected upregulation of both HIF-2 α and Kir6.2 protein relative to saline-treated controls. By contrast, there was no difference in Kir6.2 expression (nor HIF-2 α) in the adrenal cortex between nicotine- and salinetreated pups. These data confirm that a signalling pathway involving stimulation of α 7 nicotinic AChRs is required for the nicotine-induced upregulation of Kir6.2, via HIF-2 α .

DISCUSSION

The novel findings of this study are that chronic nicotine exposure leads to a slow, progressive accumulation of HIF-2 α in perinatal chromaffin cells via the selective activation of α 7 nAChR, and subsequent transcriptional upregulation of ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel subunit, Kir6.2. Though these studies were greatly aided by use a control and HIF-2 α -deficient immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cell lines, importantly, the main conclusion of the study was validated in an *in vivo* model. In particular, western blot analyses of adrenal gland tissues taken from newborn pups exposed to chronic nicotine *in utero* revealed that upregulation of HIF-2 α and Kir6.2 expression also occurred, however it was confined to the medullary, but *not* cortical, region. Thus, even though K_{ATP} channels are normally expressed in both the adrenal medulla and cortex (Xu & Enyeart, 2001; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009), our failure to observe its upregulation in the cortex is easily explained by the restricted expression of a7 nAChRs to the medulla (Criado *et al.*, 1997; Mousavi *et al.*, 2001). In addition to providing an additional control using an *in vivo* model, these data further emphasize the specificity of the signalling pathway leading to K_{ATP} channel upregulation after chronic nicotine.

Our previous studies demonstrated that chronic nicotine *in utero* and *in vitro* blunts the acute hypoxic sensitivity of neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells via upregulation of K_{ATP} channels, and involved CaMkinase and PKC signalling pathways (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, we demonstrated that *in vivo* administration of the K_{ATP} channel blocker glibenclamide was able to reverse the increased neonatal mortality seen in nicotine-exposed pups subjected to acute hypoxic challenges (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). The present study helps to provide a mechanistic understanding at the molecular, cellular, and whole animal level of the adverse effects of nicotine exposure in mediating the loss of hypoxia tolerance in the neonate (Slotkin *et al.*, 1995). Thus, the ability of the K_{ATP} channel blocker glibenclamide to reverse the increased neonatal mortality seen in nicotine-exposed pups subjected to acute hypoxic challenges is explained by the slow accumulation of HIF-2*a* induced by nicotine acting via *a*7 nAChR, leading to the transcriptional and functional

upregulation of K_{ATP} channels. This in turn causes membrane hyperpolarization and decreased catecholamine secretion during hypoxic challenges.

HIF stabilization and accumulation appears to be a multistep pathway that involves a number of posttranslational modifications. Because α 7 nAChRs are highly Ca²⁺-permeable, it is likely that extracellular Ca²⁺ entry through these receptor channels initiates the signalling cascade, leading to activation of PKC and CaM kinase and ultimately HIF-2 α stabilization (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Whether or not the pathway is similar to the one proposed for the role of Ca²⁺, PKC and CaM kinase in promoting increased synthesis, stabilization, and transcriptional activity of HIF-1a in PC 12 cells (see Fig. 12; (Yuan et al., 2008)), remains to be determined. In this regard, there is precedence for the idea that nicotine exposure can also lead to HIF-1 α accumulation, as reported in a previous study on human small cell lung cancers (Zhang et al., 2007). In the latter study, the action of nicotine was also mediated via a7 nAChR and resulted in increased VEGF expression, as observed in the present study. Other proposed signalling pathways such as the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway, involved in HIF-1 α stabilization (Mottet *et al.*, 2003), may potentially play a role in HIF-2 α stabilization in MAH cells, however, this possibility remains to be tested. While the status of HIF-1 α protein in our study on HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cells remains uncertain, our microarray data suggests that HIF-1a mRNA is relatively unchanged in these mutant cells (our unpublished data). In general, HIF-2α appears to be important in cells of the sympathoadrenal lineage and is the predominant and best-studied HIF in MAH cells as it is stabilized during exposure to either chronic hypoxia, prolyl hydroxylase inhibitors, or iron chelators (Brown & Nurse, 2008; Brown et al., 2009). Irrespective of any potential role of HIF-1 α in the present study, our demonstration that HIF-2 α binds directly to the promoter region of the Kir6.2 gene in MAH cells strongly suggests that HIF-2 α is the key regulator of K_{ATP} channel expression and therefore the mediator of the nicotine-induced loss of hypoxia tolerance in neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells (Slotkin et al., 1995; Buttigieg et al., 2009). It is noteworthy that there does appear to be a

role for HIF-1 α in MAH cells exposed to chronic intermittent hypoxia, where several potential HIF-1 targets appear to be regulated (Brown *et al.*, 2010).

CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE

The demonstration that K_{ATP} channel expression is under transcriptional control by HIF-2 α is of general interest given the importance of these channels in neuroprotection during brain ischemia (Jiang & Haddad, 1997; Ballanyi, 2004), stroke prevention (Sun & Hu, 2010), and as protectants against metabolic stress (Minami et al., 2004). For example, during oxygen/ glucose deprivation central neurons respond to the fall in ATP by opening K_{ATP} channels as a protective mechanism that results in the suppression of membrane excitability and consequently, a reduction in energy demand (Jiang & Haddad, 1997; Ballanyi, 2004). Such low O₂ ischemic conditions are likely to induce the 'master regulator' HIF transcription factor(s) (Semenza, 2004, 2009), and potentially upregulate KATP channel expression (as demonstrated herein) as part of a global positive feedback mechanism to further enhance neuroprotection. KATP channels also play a central role in diabetes and particularly, in the hyperglycemic response of pancreatic beta cells which also express nicotinic receptors, including a7 nAChR (Yoshikawa et al., 2005). Indeed, maternal nicotine use during pregnancy has been reported to result in mitochondrial dysfunction in pancreatic beta cells attributable to oxidative stress (Bruin et al., 2008), raising the possibility that the HIF pathway was activated under these conditions (Yuan et al., 2008). Finally, the widespread distribution α 7 nAChR in brain adds fuel to the idea that chronic nicotine exposure, e.g. from cigarette smoke, may cause HIF stabilization in several regions of central nervous system. Such stabilization could lead to adaptive responses (e.g. neuroprotection) (Bencherif, 2009) on the one hand, or maladaptive responses (e.g. disease conditions) on the other, depending on cell type and the particular pattern of HIF expression (Semenza, 2009).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MOP 12037) and Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada. The authors thank Dr. Josef Buttigieg for helpful discussions, Dr. Alison Holloway for assistance with the nicotine injections, and Cathy Vollmer for technical assistance.

Table 1: List of primers used for Q RT-PCR and ChIP analyses

TABLE 1

Gene	Forward Primer (5' to 3')	Reverse Primer (5' to 3')	Accession Numbr
<u>Q RT-PCR</u> Kir6.2 VEGF Lamin	ACA AGA ACA TCC GAG AGC A AATGATGAAGCCCTGGAGTG GCAGTACAAGAAGGAGCTA	CTG CAC GAT CAG AAT AAG GA AATGCTTTCTCCGCTCTGAA CAGCAATTCCTGGTACTCA	NM_031358 NM_001110333 NM_001002016
<u>ChIP</u> Kir6.2 (experimental) Kir6.2 (negative)	CTG GAA GGA AGC CAG TCT TG GCA TAA ATG TTT CCC ACT CC	CCT TCT TGT CCC CCT TTC TC TAA CTG AAG AAG GGC AGG AA	NM_031358 NM_031358

Figure 1. Effects of chronic nicotine and nicotinic antagonists on Kir6.2 protein expression in MAH cells. A) Western blot analysis of Kir6.2 expression (top) in wild-type MAH cells (wtMAH) exposed to either nicotine (Nic; 50 μ M), nicotine plus α -bungarotoxin (α Btx; 100 nM), or nicotine plus hexamethonium (Hex; 100 μ M), for 7 days; densitometric analysis (bottom) of relative Kir6.2 protein expression relative to β -actin (n =3). B) Comparable western blot analysis of Kir6.2 expression showing lack of nicotine-induced Kir6.2 upregulation in HIF-2 α -deficient (shHIF2 α) MAH cells. Results were normalized to β -actin and represented as mean \pm SEM relative to control (Anova; *, P < 0.05). Values are represented as mean \pm SEM of three independent experiments.

FIGURE 1



Figure 2. Time course of the effects of chronic nicotine on Kir6.2, SUR1, and HIF-2 α expression in MAH cells. Time-dependent HIF-2 α (A), Kir6.2 (B), and SUR1 (C) protein expression in MAH cells exposed to nicotine (Nic; 50 μ M) for 24 hr, 3 days, and 7 days in culture. Densitometric quantitation (bottom) of expression data normalized to loading control. i.e. β -actin (for cytoplasmic extracts in the case of Kir6.2 and SUR 1) and TATA-Binding Protein (TBP) (for nuclear extracts in the case of HIF-2 α). Values are represented as mean ±SEM of three independent experiments.

FIGURE 2



Figure 3. HIF-2*a* accumulation in MAH cells exposed to nicotine, nicotine plus nicotinic blockers, or hypoxia. A) Western blot analysis of HIF-2*a* accumulation (top) in wtMAH cells exposed to either nicotine (Nic; 50 μ M), nicotine plus α -bungarotoxin (α Btx; 100 nM), nicotine plus hexamethonium (Hex; 100 μ M) for 7 days, or to chronic hypoxia (Hox; 2% O₂, 24 hrs). B) Western blot analysis of HIF-2*a* accumulation in HIF-2*a*-deficient (shHIF2*a*) and scrambled control (ScCont) MAH cells exposed to 50 μ M nicotine for 7 days. Densitometric analysis of relative HIF-2*a* accumulation is shown in the lower histograms (n= 3 independent experiments). Results were normalized to TATA-Binding Protein (TBP) and represented as mean ± SEM relative to control (Anova; *, P < 0.05).



FIGURE 3

59

Figure 4. Effects of chronic nicotine \pm nicotinic blockers on Kir6.2 and VEGF mRNA expression in MAH cells. A) Quantitative RT-PCR analysis of Kir6.2 mRNA levels in wild-type MAH cells (wtMAH) exposed to either nicotine (Nic; 50 µM), nicotine plus α -bungarotoxin (α Btx; 100 nM), or nicotine plus hexamethonium (Hex; 100 µM), for 7 days in culture. Collected data were normalized to Lamin A/C and calibrated to control (untreated MAH cells) and plotted as relative fold change of mean \pm SEM (n = 3; Anova; *, P < 0.05). B) Similar analysis for VEGF mRNA expression in control and HIF-2 α -deficient (shHIF2 α) MAH cells exposed to either nicotine, nicotine plus α -bungarotoxin (α Btx; 100 nM), nicotine plus hexamethonium (Hex; 100 µM) for 7 days, or chronic hypoxia (Hox; 2% O₂, 24 hrs). Histogram summarizes quantitative RT-PCR data for VEGF mRNA expression normalized to Lamin A/C and represented as relative to control. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM (* P <0.05) for three independent experiments; note VEGF mRNA was not upregulated in HIF-2 α -deficient cells.

FIGURE 4



Α

Figure 5. Hypoxia Response Element in Kir6.2 gene and chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay. A) Putative HRE within promoter region of Kir6.2 gene. B) Lysates from untreated control (Untr) and nicotine (Nic) -treated wild type (wt), shHIF2 α , and ScCont MAH cells were subjected to ChIP assay using a HIF-2 α polyclonal antibody. PCR analysis was performed using a primer pair designed to span the putative HRE (experimental primer) or downstream exon (negative primer). Controls include a ChIP performed using non-specific IgG monoclonal antibody (IgG) and a starting material control (Input). The gel shown is representative of three independent experiments.

FIGURE 5



Figure 6. Effects of *in utero* chronic nicotine exposure on the K_{ATP} channel subunit (Kir6.2) and HIF-2a expression in neonatal adrenal gland tissues. Western blot analyses of K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2, expression (*A*) and HIF-2a expression (*B*) in adrenal medulla (AM) and adrenal cortex (AC) of saline- and nicotine-exposed pups. Note increased expression of Kir6.2 subunit in AM but not AC of nicotine exposed pups. Densitometric quantitation (*bottom*) of relative expression data normalized to loading control, i.e., β -actin (in the case of Kir6.2) or TBP (in the case of HIF-2a) and plotted as means \pm SE compared with control [AM (saline)] of 3 independent experiments (ANOVA; **P* 0.05).

FIGURE 6



CHAPTER 3: CHRONIC EXPOSURE OF NEONATAL RAT ADRENOMEDULLARY CHROMAFFIN CELLS TO OPIOIDS *IN VITRO* BLUNTS BOTH HYPOXIA AND HYPERCAPNIA CHEMOSENSITIVITY

This study has previously been published and reprinted with permission: **Shaima Salman***, Josef Buttigieg*, Min Zhang, and Colin A. Nurse (2013). *J Physiol* **591.2**: 515–529.

I performed the molecular and immunocytochemical experiments and assisted with some of the electrophysiology data acquisition and analysis. Josef Buttigieg performed the initial electrophysiology experiments. Min Zhang was involved in data acquisition for some of the electrophysiology experiments. *Both authors contributed equally to this study.

Abstract

At birth, rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) respond directly to asphyxial stressors such as hypoxia and hypercapnia by triggering catecholamine secretion, which is critical for proper transition to extrauterine life. These non-neurogenic responses are suppressed postnatally in parallel with the development of splanchnic innervation, and reappear following denervation of the adult adrenal gland. To test whether neural factors released from the splanchnic nerve may regulate AMC chemosensitivity, we previously showed that nicotinic agonists in utero and in vitro suppressed hypoxia, but not hypercapnia, sensitivity. Here, we considered the potential role of opiate peptides which are also released from the splanchnic nerve and act via postsynaptic μ -, δ-, κ- opioid receptors. Treatment of neonatal rat AMC cultures for ~ 1week with μ- and/or δ-(but not κ) opioid agonists (2 μ M) led to a marked suppression of both hypoxia and hypercapnia sensitivity, as measured by K⁺ current inhibition and membrane depolarization; co-incubation with naloxone prevented the effects of combined opioids. The suppression of hypoxia sensitivity was attributable to upregulation of KATP current density and the KATP channel subunit Kir6.2, and was reversed by the KATP channel blocker, glibenclamide. By contrast, suppression of hypercapnia sensitivity was associated with down-regulation of two key mediators of CO₂ sensing, i.e. carbonic anhydrase (CA) I and II. Collectively, these studies point to a novel role for opioid receptor signalling in the developmental regulation of chromaffin cell chemosensitivity, and suggest that prenatal exposure to opioid drugs could lead to impaired arousal responses in the neonate.

Introduction

Catecholamine (CAT) secretion from adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) is a crucial physiological response during the transition of the fetus to extrauterine life. Early in development of several mammalian species, and prior to innervation of the adrenal medulla by the splanchnic nerve, neonatal AMCs release CAT in response to asphyxial stressors including hypoxia (low PO₂) and hypercapnia (high PCO₂) experienced during the birthing process (Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986; Thompson et al., 1997; Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005; Nurse et al., 2009; Livermore et al., 2011). CAT secretion from AMCs is required for the regulation of cardiac conduction and in the preparation of the lungs for air breathing (Lagercrantz & Bistoletti, 1977; Jones, 1980; Seidler & Slotkin, 1985; Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986), In general, these non-neurogenic responses to asphyxial stimuli are suppressed postnatally along a time course that parallels the development of splanchnic innervation (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985, 1986; Cheung, 1990; Thompson et al., 1997; Garcia-Fernandez et al., 2007; Nurse et al., 2009), Hence, juvenile AMCs show markedly reduced sensitivity to asphyxial stimuli (Slotkin & Seidler, 1988; Thompson et al., 1997; Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005; Rico, 2005; Garcia-Fernandez et al., 2007), and, moreover, adrenal denervation in the adult results in the restoration of direct hypoxia chemosensitivity (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009).

Taken together, the above data are consistent with the hypothesis that factors released from splanchnic nerve terminals following innervation may contribute to the suppression of asphyxial sensitivity in developing AMCs, via their action at postsynaptic receptors. In one recent test of this hypothesis, we focused on the well-known preganglionic cholinergic innervation of adrenal chromaffin cells. Indeed, we found that chronic exposure to nicotinic ACh receptor agonists (i.e. nicotine) *in utero* and *in vitro* resulted in a selective blunting of hypoxia sensitivity in neonatal

AMCs (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2007; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). However, the sensitivity to isohydric hypercapnia (10% CO₂; pH =7.4) remained intact in these preparations (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2007), suggesting that other neural factors released from the splanchnic nerve may also be involved. In addition to ACh, splanchnic nerve terminals release a number of neurotransmitters or neuromodulators including opiate peptides, pituitary adenylate cyclase activating peptide (PACAP), and histamine that act on postsynaptic receptors expressed on AMCs (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1985; Holgert *et al.*, 1998; Kuri *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, any one or more of these agents could also be involved, and particularly in the developmental regulation of hypercapnia sensitivity in AMC.

In the present study, we examined the potential role of opioid receptor signalling in the developmental regulation of chemosensitivity in AMC, which are known to express μ -, δ -, κ - opioid receptors (Kimura *et al.*, 1988; Wittert *et al.*, 1996; Keating *et al.*, 2004). To facilitate these studies we used an *in vitro* model of dissociated neonatal rat AMC exposed for ~1 week to selective opioid agonists, either singly or in combination, and in the presence or absence of the general opioid receptor blocker, naloxone. To characterize AMC sensitivity to hypoxia and isohydric hypercapnia, we used perforated-patch whole -cell recording to monitor whole-cell K⁺ currents and membrane potential (Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2007; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly, we found that exposure to μ - and δ - opioid agonists led to a suppression of both hypercapnia and hypoxia sensitivity in AMC, and these effects were prevented during co-incubation of naloxone. To probe at potential underlying molecular mechanisms, we further investigated components in the signal transduction pathway previously known to regulate hypoxia and hypercapnia sensitivity in these cells, i.e. the expression of ATP-sensitive K⁺

channels (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008), and carbonic anhydrase (CA) isoforms I and II (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005), respectively.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Approval: All procedures for animal handling and tissue dissections were carried out according to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) and institutional guidelines. The authors have read, and the experiments comply with, the policies and regulations of *The Journal of Physiology* given by (Drummond, 2009).

Cell culture: Soon after birth, neonatal rat pups [postnatal day 0 P0] (Wistar, Charles River, Quebec, Canada), were first rendered unconscious by a blow to the back of the head and then killed immediately by decapitation. Adrenal glands were excised bilaterally and most of the surrounding cortex was trimmed away and discarded. Cultures of primary adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) were prepared using a combination of enzymatic and mechanical dissociation of the medullary-rich tissue as previously described (Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). Dissociated cells were plated on 35 mm culture dishes coated with Matrigel (Collaborative Research, Bedford. MA, USA) and grown in DMEM-F12 medium (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and various additives as described previously (Thompson *et al.*, 1997). Cultures were incubated in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air and 5% CO₂ at 37°C for ~1 week in the presence or absence of μ -, δ -, and/or κ - opioid agonists (2 μ M; see below); the general opioid receptor blocker naloxone (2 μ M) was present in some experiments. The medium was changed every 2 days and fresh drugs were added at that time in the case of opioid-treated cultures.

Electrophysiology: The nystatin perforated-patch clamp technique was used for electrophysiological studies on whole-cell currents and membrane potentials in isolated AMCs as previously described (Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Thompson, 2002; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2007; Thompson *et al.*, 2007; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). The pipette solution consisted of (mM): K

71

gluconate,115; KCl, 25; NaCl, 5; CaCl₂, 1; Hepes, 10 at pH 7.2, and nystatin (300-450 µg ml⁻¹). Experiments were carried out at 37°C in HCO₃⁻-buffered extracellular solution containing (mM): NaCl, 115; KCl, 5; CaCl₂, 2; MgCl₂, 2; glucose, 10; and NaHCO₃, 24, bubbled with 5% CO₂ at pH 7.4. Hypoxic solutions (PO₂ \sim 15 mmHg) were generated by bubbling N₂ gas; in the case of hypercapnic solutions (10% CO₂) the bicarbonate concentration was increased to 48 mM (equimolar substitution with NaCl) so as to maintain the pH at 7.4. Tetrodotoxin (TTX; 0.5μ M) was present in some experiments. The extracellular solution was applied to the cells by gravity flow or via a rapid perfusion system (Thompson et al., 1997; Zhang & Nurse, 2004). In some experiments, cells were held at a holding potential of -60 mV and currents recorded during voltage steps to +70 mV; in other experiments the voltage was ramped from -120 to +80 mVover a period of 500 msec at a frequency of 0.1 Hz, followed by voltage steps to +30 and + 60 mV from a holding potential of -60 mV. Membrane potentials were monitored in current clamp mode (I=0). Results are presented as mean ± SEM. Current density (pA/pF), obtained by dividing the whole-cell current (pA) by cell capacitance (pF), and membrane potentials (mV) were compared using paired or independent (Mann-Whitney) Student's t tests with significance set at P < 0.05. (Microcal Origin version 7.5).

Western Immunoblot analysis: Cells were homogenized and lysed in Buffer A solution containing: 10 mM HEPES pH 7.6, 10 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA pH 8, 0.1 mM EGTA pH8, 1 mM DTT and protein inhibitors (Complete Mini, Roche, Laval, QC, Canada), 1 mM PMSF, 5 mg/mL Aprotinin, 5 mg/mL Leupeptin). Protein samples were boiled at 95-100°C for 5 minutes. 10µg of protein samples, measured using the Bradford assay (1:5 dilution reagent and 1 mg/mL BSA), were loaded and resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE gel and transferred onto PVDF membranes. Membranes were then washed and incubated with either primary rabbit polyclonal
antibody against Kir6.2 (1:1000 dilution; Alomone Labs Ltd.), rabbit polyclonal anti-human carbonic anhydrase I antibody (1:1000 dilution; abcam), sheep polyclonal anti- human carbonic anhydrase II antibody (1:1000 dilution; AbD Serotec), or primary rabbit monoclonal [β-actin antibody (1:10,000 dilution; Millipore) (loading control) at 4°C overnight. Membranes were then washed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and incubated in a goat anti–rabbit horseradish peroxidase (HRP)–linked secondary antibody (1:10,000 dilution; Jackson Labs, Bar Harbor, ME, USA) for 1 hr at room temperature. Immunoreactions were visualized using ECL and exposed to XAR-film.

Immunofluorescence: Cultures of neonatal rat AMCs were grown on glass cover slips attached to the underside of central wells of modified Nunc 35 mm dishes (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). Medium was aspirated and cells were gently rinsed with pre-warmed PBS at pH 7.2, and quickly fixed in 2 ml of ice cold 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 1 hr at 4°C. Cells were then washed 3 times with PBS for 3 min and incubated with 100 μ l of primary antibodies (rabbit polyclonal anti- μ -opioid receptor; rabbit polyclonal anti- δ -opioid receptor; Alomone labs, Jerusalem) diluted in 1% BSA/PBS overnight. Samples were washed the next day with PBS 3 times (10 min each) and incubated with FITC-conjugated secondary antibody (1:50; Jackson ImmunoResearch) for 1 hr at room temperature in the dark. Cells were then washed three times with PBS (10 min each) and covered with Vectashield to avoid photobleaching. Pre-adsorption controls were performed by incubating primary antibody overnight at 4°C in the presence of 3x excess antigen (1 μ g of antibody incubated with 3 μ g of antigen). Cells were visualized and imaged using a Zeiss inverted microscope (IM 35).

Drugs: All drugs including TTX, were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Fresh opioid drugs were applied in medium every 2 days at a concentration of 2 μ M. The following opioid drugs were

73

used for chronic treatments: μ -opioid agonist DALDA ([D-Arg², Ly⁴]-dermorphin-(1-4)-amide); δ -opioid agonist DPDPE ([D-Pen², 5, P-Cl-Phe⁴]-enkephalin); κ -opioid agonist U-62066 ((±)-(5 α ,7 α ,8 β)-3,4-Dichloro-N-methyl-N-[7-(1-pyrrolidinyl)-1-oxaspiro[4.5]dec-8-yl]

benzeneacetamidemesylate salt). Naloxone hydrochloride dehydrate (2 μ M) was used as a general opioid antagonist.

Statistical analysis: Data are expressed as means \pm SEM and statistical analyses were carried out using non-parametric test (Mann-Whitney U) and ANOVA as appropriate. Differences were considered significant if P < 0.05.

RESULTS

For studies on opioid-treated cells, we incubated AMC cultures with the selective μ -, δ -, κ opioid receptor agonists, i.e. DALDA, DPDPE, and U-62066 respectively, separately or together
at a concentration of 2 μ M for ~1 week. This concentration is similar to that used in previous
studies (Keating *et al.*, 2004) and is likely to be in the physiological range as the opiate
concentration near single chromaffin cells has been estimated to be in the micromolar range
(Castanas *et al.*, 1985a, 1985b). Also, a concentration of 2 μ M is more than 100 times greater
that the binding affinity for these agonists at their respective receptors (Cheng *et al.*, 1992;
Schlosser *et al.*, 1995; Keating *et al.*, 2004). Under phase contrast microscopy, the appearance of
neonatal rat AMC cultures grown for ~1 week in the presence of opioid receptor agonists, was
indistinguishable from that of control sister cultures (not shown). Similarly, in
electrophysiological studies the mean resting potential of control untreated cells was (-60.7 ± 1.2
mV; n = 12), a value not significantly different from that of opioid-treated cells (-64.4 ± 3.5 mV;
n = 10; *p*< 0.05), after 1 week in culture.

Electrophysiological studies on of the effects of chronic opioid exposure on hypoxic sensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs

In late-fetal and neonatal rat AMCs, hypoxia inhibits a variety of O₂-sensitive K⁺ channels (SK, BK, and Kv channels), leading to or facilitating membrane depolarization, voltage-gated Ca²⁺ entry and catecholamine (CAT) release (Mochizuki-Oda *et al.*, 1997; Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Bournaud *et al.*, 2007; Garcia-Fernandez *et al.*, 2007; Nurse *et al.*, 2009). In the first experimental series we used perforated-patch, whole-cell recording to investigate the effects of μ -, δ -, κ - opioid agonists (DALDA, DPDPE, and U-62066; 2 μ M),

present individually or in combination, on hypoxic sensitivity of AMC cultured for 7 days. In control cultures, approximately 81% (n = 9/11) of AMCs showed the expected reversible inhibition of outward K⁺ current at positive potentials under voltage clamp (Fig. 1A; upper traces and I-V plot), and membrane depolarization under current clamp (Fig. 1A; lower trace), during acute hypoxia (PO₂ \sim 15 mmHg); the mean depolarization during hypoxia was 4.5 \pm 0.80 mV (n = 10). In contrast, AMCs from sister cultures chronically exposed for 7 days to combined μ -, δ -, and κ -opioid agonists (2 μ M) showed a marked suppression of hypoxic sensitivity, reflected by the relative lack of effect of hypoxia on outward K⁺ current during depolarizing voltage steps (Fig. 1B; upper traces, and I-V plot). In these experiments only $\sim 18\%$ (n =2/11) opioid-treated cells tested appeared to show a detectable hypoxia-evoked inhibition of K^+ current at positive potentials. Also, as exemplified in Fig. 1B (lower trace), in current clamp studies hypoxia had no detectable effect on membrane potential of opioid-treated cells (n = 12). The blunting effects of combined agonist exposure were mediated via the opioid receptor signalling pathway because they could be prevented by co-incubation with the general opioid receptor antagonist, naloxone (2 µM), over the entire treatment period (Fig. 1C); naloxone had no significant effect on whole cell currents or membrane potential when present alone (n = 12).

We next investigated whether the blunting of hypoxic sensitivity in opioid-treated AMCs was linked to specific subtypes of opioid receptors. Following chronic exposure to either μ -(DALDA; 2 μ M) or δ - (DPDPE; 2 μ M) opioid agonist alone, hypoxic sensitivity in neonatal AMCs was almost completely abolished as indicated by the relative lack of effect of acute hypoxia on whole-cell K⁺ currents and membrane potential (Fig. 1D,E). These blunting effects, however, were not observed when neonatal AMCs were chronically exposed to the κ -opioid agonist (U-62066; 2 μ M) alone (Fig.1F). These findings suggest that chronic exposure to μ -

and/or δ -, but not κ -, opioid receptor agonists renders neonatal AMCs relatively insensitive to acute hypoxia.

Role of ATP-sensitive K^+ (K_{ATP}) channels in mediating the blunting effects of chronic opioids on hypoxic sensitivity in neonatal AMCs

The blunting effect of chronic opioids on hypoxic sensitivity could occur at the level of the O₂ sensor or at downstream steps in the signal transduction pathway. We previously showed that hypoxic sensitivity in neonatal AMCs is also blunted following exposure to chronic nicotine, and this was attributable to up-regulation of K_{ATP} channel expression (Buttigieg et al., 2007; Buttigieg et al., 2008). These KATP channels open during hypoxia favoring membrane hyperpolarization which counteracts the depolarizing effects of hypoxia on membrane potential, arising from inhibition of other K⁺ (e.g. SK, BK, and K_V) channels (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008; Nurse et al., 2009). To test whether or not increased KATP channel activity plays a similar role in opioid-treated cells, we added the KATP channel blocker, glibenclamide (Glib; 50 µM) to the recording solution. Consistent with our previous studies (Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Buttigieg et al., 2008), the hypoxic suppression of outward K⁺ current in control (untreated) neonatal AMCs after 7 days *in vitro* was augmented in the presence of glibenclamide as exemplified in Fig. 2A (upper traces). Current density versus voltage plot for a group of 6 cells showing the enhancing effects of glibenclamide on the hypoxic inhibition of outward K⁺ current at positive potentials is shown in Fig. 2A (lower). Interestingly, in the case of opioid-treated cells cultured for 7 days, addition of glibenclamide to the recording solution resulted in the unmasking of hypoxic sensitivity in cells that initially failed to show hypoxic inhibition of outward K⁺ current (e.g. Fig. 2B, upper traces). Pooled data from a group of 7 opioid-treated cells, exposed sequentially to

hypoxia, glibenclamide, hypoxia plus glibenclamide, and wash are shown in the lower I-V plot (Fig. 2B; lower); note the significant enhancing effect of glibenclamide on the hypoxic inhibition of outward current at more positive potentials. These data are consistent with the hypothesis that the O₂-sensor itself is functionally intact in opioid-treated AMCs and that the blunting effect of chronic opioids on hypoxia sensitivity is attributable to increased K_{ATP} channel activity.

To address whether the increased KATP channel activity after chronic opioids is effective in blunting the hypoxia-induced receptor potential in neonatal AMCs, we tested the effects of glibenclamide under current clamp conditions. As exemplified in Figs. 2C1 and C2 respectively, control (untreated) cells that initially responded to hypoxia with bursts of action potentials appeared to show increased hypoxia-induced spike activity superimposed on a more depolarized membrane potential after glibenclamide (cf. Figs. 2Ca, Cb; n = 10) (see also, (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). On the other hand, many opioid-treated cells that initially failed to show hypoxia-induced membrane depolarization responded with positive shifts in membrane potential when glibenclamide was present in the bathing solution. Among these opioid-treated cells we identified several categories: (i) cells which showed no obvious response to hypoxia initially but responded to hypoxia plus glibenclamide with a burst of action potentials (Fig. 2Da,Db; n = 5); (ii) cells which showed no obvious response to hypoxia initially but responded to hypoxia plus glibenclamide with a subthreshold membrane depolarization (Fig. 2Ea,Eb; mean depolarization = 5.8 ± 1.06 mV, n= 7); and (iii) cells which even showed a slight hyperpolarization to hypoxia initially but responded to hypoxia plus glibenclamide with a positive shift in membrane potential (Fig. 2Fa,Fb; n = 3). These categories likely reflect cell groups with different expression levels of KATP channels relative to the other O₂-sensitive K⁺ channels that are inhibited by hypoxia.

Chronic opioids upregulate expression of Kir6.2 subunit of the KATP channel

One possible explanation for the enhancement of hypoxic inhibition of K⁺ current and the decreased hypoxia-sensitivity in opioid-treated AMCs exposed to glibenclamide (see Fig. 2) is an increased expression of functional K_{ATP} channels. To obtain a quantitative estimate of the increased contribution of KATP channel currents in control vs opioid-treated cells we calculated the glibenclamide-sensitive difference current density under hypoxia, using data similar to those in Figs. 2A,B. The resulting estimate of IKATP current density (pA/pF) was plotted against voltage (mV) over the voltage range -120 to +80 mV as shown in Fig. 3A (n =10). As expected, the IK_{ATP} currents reversed near the K^+ equilibrium potential (~ -84 mV) and was significantly larger in opioid-treated cells; this was especially noticeable at positive membrane potentials as the driving force on K^+ increased. For a voltage step to +30 mV (from a holding potential of -60 mV) the glibenclamide-sensitive difference current density increased from 11.5 ± 1.85 (n =11) pA/pF in control to 21.6 \pm 3.03 pA/pF in opioid-treated cells (n = 15; p<0.05; Fig. 3B). To address whether this increase was attributable to increased expression of KATP channels at the protein level, we used western blot analysis on extracts from 7 day-old control and opioid-treated AMC cultures. As indicated in Fig. 3C, the expression level of the channel pore-forming subunit Kir6.2 (relative to β -actin) increased ~7 fold following opioid exposure. These data suggest that chronic opioids cause an increased expression of KATP channel proteins in neonatal AMCs during 1 week of exposure.

Chronic opioid exposure blunts CO₂ chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs

Sensitivity of neonatal rat AMCs to hypercapnia (10% CO₂) also decreases postnatally in parallel with splanchnic innervation, and is mediated by inhibition of outward K^+ current, membrane

depolarization, voltage-gated Ca2+ entry and catecholamine secretion (Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005; Buttigieg et al., 2007; Buttigieg et al., 2008) To address whether or not hypercapnic sensitivity is also regulated by chronic opioid exposure we monitored membrane currents and membrane potential in AMCs exposed high CO_2 (10% CO_2) under isohydric conditions (pH = 7.4). In control conditions, isohydric hypercapnia caused inhibition of outward K^+ current under voltage clamp (Fig. 4A; upper trace), and induced a depolarizing receptor potential under current clamp (Fig. 4A; lower trace) in several neonatal AMCs cultured for 7 days. For this experimental series, pooled data from a group of cells (n =11) examined under voltage clamp are summarized in the I-V plot in Fig. 4A, where isohydric hypercapnia caused a significant suppression of outward K⁺ current at positive potentials. By contrast, exposure to combined μ -, δ -, κ - opioid agonists (DALDA, DPDPE, and U-62066; 2 µM) for 7 days resulted in a marked reduction or blunting of CO₂ sensitivity as illustrated in the exemplar traces in Fig. 4B (upper and lower trace), and in the I- V plot of Fig. 4B (middle). Moreover, continuous co-incubation of these combined agonists with the general opioid receptor blocker, naloxone (2 µM), resulted in the retention of CO₂ sensitivity (Fig. 4C). As was the case for opioid-mediated blunting of hypoxic sensitivity, the blunting of CO₂ sensitivity involved mainly μ - and δ - opioid receptors. For example, as illustrated in Fig. 4 D-F, incubation for 7 days with either the μ - or δ - opioid receptor agonist alone resulted in a marked suppression of CO₂ sensitivity (Figs. 4D,E), whereas incubation with the κ - opioid agonist alone was ineffective (Fig. 4F).

Whereas inhibition of outward K^+ current is thought to contribute to CO_2 sensitivity of neonatal AMC via prolongation of the action potential duration, the origin of the receptor potential or initial depolarization at rest is attributable to activation of a cation conductance (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). To examine whether this component of the CO₂ sensing pathway was also impaired in opioid-treated cells we first monitored the receptor potential in control versus opioid-treated cells exposed briefly to isohydric hypercapnia (10% CO₂ ; pH =7.4). As exemplified in Figs. 4A,B (lower traces) and Fig. (5Ba,Bb), whereas hypercapnia readily induced a subthreshold membrane depolarization (mean = 5.5 ± 0.25 mV; n = 4) or action potential firing (n = 12) in the majority (~80%) of control cells, opioid-treated cells were largely (Fig. 4B, lower trace; Fig. 5Ca), though not exclusively (Fig. 5Cb), unresponsive (>80% non-responsive cells). Quantification of the relative proportions of responsive versus non-responsive cells in the two conditions is summarized in Fig. 5D for this experimental series. The blunting effect of opioids on hypercapnia sensitivity was prevented during continuous co-incubation with 2 µM naloxone (Fig. 4C; lower trace; n= 12) and, as in the case of hypoxia (see above), involved mainly µ- and δ - (but not κ -) opioid receptors (Figs. 4D-F).

We also compared changes in holding current in control versus opioid-treated cells during a switch from normocapnic (5% CO₂) to hypercapnic (10% CO₂) solutions at constant pH. As indicated in Fig. 5Aa, and consistent with a previous report (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005), under voltage clamp there was a significant inward shift in the holding current (at -60 mV) when control AMCs were exposed to hypercapnia, and the effect was readily reversible. By contrast, under similar conditions hypercapnia failed to induce a significant shift in the holding current in opioid-treated cells, consistent with the current clamp data showing suppression or loss of hypercapnia-induced membrane depolarization at the resting potential (Fig. 4B,E, lower traces; Fig. 5Ca).

Chronic opioid exposure reduces expression of carbonic anhydrase isoforms I and II in neonatal AMCs

Tests for the presence of 7 different carbonic anhydrase (CA) isoforms using RT-PCR and *in situ* hybridization revealed that only CAI and CAII mRNA were expressed in the neonatal rat adrenal gland and, interestingly, expression of both isoforms was virtually absent (>1000 fold lower) in the adult gland (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, in electrophysiological studies the hypercapnic response of neonatal AMC was markedly inhibited by the CA inhibitor, methazolamide, leading these authors to conclude that the CO₂ sensitivity of these cells was at least partially dependent on high expression levels of the CO₂-hydrating enzymes CAI and CAII (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). These considerations led us to examine whether or not the opioid-induced suppression of CO₂ sensitivity in cultured neonatal AMCs was associated with reduced expression of CAI and CAII at the protein level. Indeed, using western blot analysis with β -actin as a control, we found that expression of both CAI and CAII proteins were significantly reduced in opioid-treated neonatal AMCs compared to control cells after 7 days *in vitro*. Exemplar gels of CAI and CAII expression patterns for control versus opioid-treated cells and summary data from triplicate experiments are illustrated in Figs. 6A,B.

Immunocytochemical detection of μ - and δ -opioid receptors on cultured neonatal rat chromaffin cells

Based on gene expression studies using RT-PCR analysis, the three major opioid receptors, μ , δ and κ , have been identified in *adult* rat adrenal gland (Wittert *et al.*, 1996). To corroborate the above electrophysiological findings demonstrating key roles for μ - and δ -opioid receptor signalling in regulation of O₂ and CO₂ sensing in *neonatal* AMC we used fluorescence immunocytochemistry. As shown in Fig. 7, both μ - (MOR) and δ - (DOR) opioid receptor immunostaining was localized selectively to chromaffin cell clusters in dissociated neonatal

AMC cultures. These data suggest that the blunting effects of chronic opioid exposure on chemosensing were mediated via direct interactions with μ - or δ - opioid receptors on neonatal AMC.

DISCUSSION

In this study we demonstrate for the first time that chronic exposure of neonatal rat AMCs to µand/or δ -opioid receptor agonists for ~1 week *in vitro* leads to a naloxone-sensitive suppression of direct hypoxic and hypercapnic chemosensitivity. These results are of interest because they suggest a general mechanism that could account for the developmental loss or suppression of direct O₂ and CO₂ sensitivity in AMC that normally occurs during preganglionic splanchnic innervation (Slotkin & Seidler, 1988; Thompson et al., 1997; Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005). In particular, because the amount of opiate peptides (i.e. enkephalin) increases in the developing rat preganglionic splanchnic nerve in parallel with the suppression of direct hypoxic chemosensitivity (Holgert et al., 1998; Nurse et al., 2009), the possibility is raised that activation of postsynaptic receptors on AMC by released opiate peptides is involved. Indeed, the involvement of opiate peptides in suppressing the non-neurogenic response of adrenal medulla to hypoxia has been previously considered, however, these experiments involved acute exposures to opioid agonists. For example, Keating et al. (2004) reported that hypoxia-induced catecholamine secretion from ovine AMC was inhibited in the presence of μ - and κ - opioid agonists and this was attributable to opioid-mediated enhancement of a K⁺ conductance (SK) and/or inhibition of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels. By contrast, similar studies in the rat failed to show any effect of opioid agonists on hypoxia-induced catecholamine secretion from neonatal AMC (Rico, 2005). While the difference between these two studies may be species related, it should be noted that in the present study opioid agonist exposure lasted for ~1 week *in vitro* and, importantly, opioid agonists were *not* present in the bathing solution when chemosensitivity was tested. Chronic exposure of neonatal AMC to opioids is more likely to mimic the developmental effects of splanchnic innervation given that the latter matures gradually over the first 1-2

postnatal weeks in the rat (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985). Moreover, our finding that both hypoxic and hypercapnic sensitivity are suppressed in neonatal AMC after chronic opioid exposure *in vitro* closely mimics the *in vivo* developmental pattern seen in these cells, when examined acutely before and after splanchnic innervation (Slotkin & Seidler, 1988; Thompson *et al.*, 1997; Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). It is noteworthy that the splanchnic nerve also supplies an important nicotinic cholinergic innervation to the adrenal gland; however, in our previous studies chronic exposure of neonatal AMC to nicotine *in utero* and *in vitro* led to a selective blunting of hypoxic, but *not* hypercapnic, sensitivity (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2007; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). It therefore appears that the opioid receptor signalling pathway contributes to the developmental regulation of both hypoxic and hypercapnic sensitivity in AMC, whereas the nicotinic receptor pathway contributes only to the regulation of hypoxic sensitivity.

Mechanisms underlying opioid-mediated suppression of hypoxic chemosensitivity

Hypoxic sensitivity of neonatal AMC involves regulation of various subtypes of K⁺ channels, leading to membrane depolarization, voltage-gated Ca²⁺ entry, and catecholamine secretion (reviewed in Nurse et al. 2009). Both small (SK) and large (BK) conductance K⁺, as well as voltage dependent K⁺ (Kv), channels are inhibited by hypoxia leading to or facilitating membrane depolarization. This depolarizing action, however, is blunted by the simultaneous activation of ATP-sensitive K⁺ (K_{ATP}) channels, which favors membrane hyperpolarization during hypoxia (Thompson & Nurse, 1998; Bournaud *et al.*, 2007). After chronic exposure to μ and/or δ - (but not κ -) opioid agonists, at concentrations (2 μ M) greatly exceeding their Kd values but comparable to estimated opiate extracellular concentrations near AMC *in vivo* (Castanas *et al.*, 1985a, 1985b; Keating *et al.*, 2004), the normal hypoxia-induced inhibition of outward K⁺

currents at positive potentials was markedly reduced or eliminated. Moreover, the hypoxiainduced membrane depolarization or receptor potential, due mainly to inhibition of SK channels at the resting potential (Lee et al., 2000; Keating et al., 2005; Bournaud et al., 2007), was also significantly suppressed. Dramatically, however, hypoxia-sensitivity as determined by both assays could be restored in these opioid-treated cells if the KATP channel blocker glibenclamide was present in the recording extracellular solution. In fact, some opioid-treated cells that were initially silent when exposed to acute hypoxia generated a burst of action potentials when the same stimulus was applied to the same cell in the presence of glibenclamide. These data suggest that upregulation of KATP channel function, which would favor membrane hyperpolarization during acute hypoxia, is a major contributor to the blunting of hypoxic sensitivity in these cells. Supportive evidence for this mechanism was obtained from electrophysiological estimates of KATP current density, determined from the glibenclamide-sensitive difference current during hypoxia, and by western blot analysis of the expression of the KATP channel subunit, Kir6.2, in control versus opioid-treated cells. Taken together, these data are reminiscent of a similar role played by KATP channel upregulation in the blunting of hypoxia sensitivity in perinatal AMC following exposure to chronic nicotine in utero and in vitro (Buttigieg et al., 2008; Salman et al., 2012). However, further experiments are required to elucidate the intracellular signalling pathway that leads to KATP channel upregulation during opioid exposure. It should also be noted that we cannot presently exclude the possibility that other potential targets in the O₂ chemotransduction pathway may also be modified by chronic opioid exposure. These include subtle changes in expression levels of the other O₂-sensitive K⁺ channels (i.e. SK, BK and Kv), or of T-type Ca²⁺ channels which have been reported to play a key role in the hypoxic sensitivity of neonatal AMC (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009).

Mechanisms underlying opioid-mediated suppression of CO₂ chemosensitivity

An especially novel aspect of our study was the demonstration that chronic opioids also blunted the sensitivity of neonatal AMC to high CO₂ (hypercapnia), thereby mimicking the developmental loss or reduction in hypercapnic sensitivity following splanchnic innervation (Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005). To our knowledge, this evidence is the first to suggest how innervation of AMC could lead to loss of CO₂ sensitivity. A previous study highlighted several aspects associated with hypercapnic sensitivity in neonatal rat AMC (Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005). These include: (i) high CO_2 -mediated activation of a resting cationic conductance leading to membrane depolarization or the receptor potential; (ii) high CO₂ -mediated inhibition of voltage-dependent K⁺ channels, leading to prolongation of action potential duration and increased catecholamine secretion; and (iii) blockade of high CO2 -mediated responses by the membrane-permeable carbonic anhydrase (CA) inhibitor, methazolamide (Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005). In the present study, chronic exposure to μ - and/or δ - opioid agonists markedly reduced or abolished not only the high CO₂-mediated receptor potential, but also inhibition of voltagedependent outward K⁺ current. Moreover, because CAI and CAII are the main CA isoforms expressed in neonatal rat AMC, and both isoforms are downregulated during splanchnic innervation (Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005), we compared their expression patterns in control versus opioid-treated AMC using western blot analysis. Indeed, we found that both CAI and CAII proteins were significantly downregulated in neonatal AMC exposed to chronic opioids in vitro. The intracellular signalling cascade leading to reduced CAI and CAII expression in opioidtreated cells remains to be elucidated. Nevertheless, these data suggest a molecular mechanism

by which opioid innervation can lead to suppression of CO₂ sensitivity in AMC during postnatal development.

CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE

Our main finding that chronic opioid exposure can impair the ability of neonatal AMC to sense asphyxial stimuli such as hypoxia and hypercapnia has important clinical implications. The deleterious consequence is that the catecholamine surge that normally occurs in response to asphyxial stressors at birth would become seriously impaired, thereby compromising the proper transition of the neonate to extra-uterine life (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985; Slotkin & Seidler, 1988). This catecholamine release is critical for maintenance of cardiac conduction and for transformation of the lung into an air-breathing epithelium (Slotkin & Seidler, 1988). Though the use of opioid medication is widespread for pain management, opioid drugs (e.g. heroin) are major contributors to drug abuse and fatalities. In the adult, these fatalities often result from the adverse side effects of opioids, particularly the marked respiratory depression that becomes exacerbated during sleep (Walker & Farney, 2009). To date, brain sites involved in respiratory control (e.g. the preBötzinger complex) have received the most attention for the targets of opioid-mediated respiratory depression in the adult (Morin-Surun et al., 1992; Montandon et al., 2011). In the neonate, however, hypoxic activation of catecholaminergic pathways, especially via the adrenal medulla, stimulates breathing and arousal responses that are critical for survival (Sawnani et al., 2004; Cohen et al., 2005). Thus, blunted adrenal catecholaminergic responses during perinatal asphyxia contributes to the failure of arousal and elevated perinatal mortality as occurs during Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS) (Sawnani et al., 2004; Cohen et al., 2005; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008). In this regard, opioid intake by mothers during pregnancy has been linked

to an increased incidence of infant mortality due mainly to SIDS (Burns *et al.*, 2010). It is possible that the mechanisms underlying opioid-mediated suppression of O₂ and CO₂ sensing in neonatal chromaffin cells, as uncovered in the present study, are broadly applicable to other chemosensitive sites involved in respiratory control. If so, they could help clarify the relationship between opiate abuse during pregnancy and abnormal arousal responses associated with perinatal disorders that result in infant morbidity, e.g. SIDS.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by a Discovery grant from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) and an operating grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MOP-119501) to C.A.N. We thank Cathy Vollmer for expert technical assistance.

Figure 1: Effects of chronic exposure of neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) to opioid agonists for ~1 week *in vitro* on hypoxia sensitivity. A. In control (untreated) AMCs cultured for ~1 week, hypoxia (PO₂ ~ 15mmHg) typically causes inhibition of outward K⁺ current (top trace) and membrane depolarization (bottom trace); current density (pA/pF) versus voltage (I-V) plot (middle) shows significant inhibition of outward current (p < 0.05) at potentials positive to +10 mV. These responses are markedly reduced or abolished in neonatal AMCs chronically exposed for ~1 week to either a combination of μ -, δ -, and κ -opioid agonists (2 μ M) (B), or to either μ - or δ -opioid agonists (2 μ M) alone (D and E respectively). These blunting effects of chronic opioids on the hypoxia-induced responses are prevented during continuous co-incubation with the general opioid receptor antagonist, naloxone (2 μ M; Fig. 1C). Also, chronic exposure to the κ -opioid agonist (2 μ M) alone was ineffective (F). Data are presented as mean ± SEM (*n* = 11). TTX was present in the extracellular solution. C = control; Hox = hypoxia; W = wash.

FIGURE 1



Figure 2: Effects of glibenclamide on outward K⁺ current and membrane potential during hypoxia in control vs opioid-treated neonatal AMCs. In control (untreated) AMCs, glibenclamide (50 µM) enhances the hypoxia-induced inhibition of outward K⁺ current as shown in upper sample traces (steps to + 30 mV) and lower current density vs voltage (I-V) plot (Aa); significant difference (P < 0.05) between current density in hypoxia (Hox) and hypoxia plus glibenclamide (Hox + Glib) at potentials \geq +30 mV. By contrast, opioid-treated cells failed to respond to hypoxia alone, however, when combined with glibenclamide, there was a pronounced inhibition of outward current at positive potentials (> +20 mV), as shown in upper traces and lower I-V plot (Ab). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. (P<0.05). Under current clamp, the hypoxiainduced membrane depolarization and increased excitability (Ba) was potentiated when glibenclamide was applied to the same control cell (Bb) (n = 11). By contrast, membrane depolarization was absent or weak when hypoxia was applied to opioid-treated cells (Ca, Da), and even a weak hyperpolarization occurred in a few cases (Ea). However, when these same cells were exposed to hypoxia in the presence of glibenclamide, there was a marked positive or depolarizing shift in membrane potential as shown in Cb, Db and Eb respectively; note the cell Ca that was initially quiescent during hypoxia actually fired action potentials when hypoxia was combined with glibenclamide (Cb). The 'n' values for each type of response is shown on right. C = control; Hox = hypoxia; W = wash; Glib = glibenclamide.

FIGURE 2



Figure 3: Upregulation of functional K_{ATP} channels and Kir6.2 subunit in opioid-treated neonatal rat AMCs. The glibenclamide-sensitive difference current density (IK_{ATP} (pA/pF)) in untreated versus opioid-treated AMCs is plotted against voltage in the I-V plot (A), and during steps to +30 mV (B). Note the significant increase in K_{ATP} current density in opioid-treated relative to control untreated AMCs (P < 0.05 in B). (C) Western blot analysis of K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2, in untreated AMCs and in AMCs cultured with combined μ-, δ-, and κ-opioid agonists (2μM) for 7 days. Note increased expression of Kir6.2 during chronic opioid exposure; β-actin was used as an internal control. Values are represented as mean ±SEM of three independent experiments (*P < 0.05).

FIGURE 3



В

Α

С

Figure 4: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on CO₂ sensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs. In control neonatal AMCs cultured for ~1 week, isohydric hypercapnia (10% CO₂; pH 7.4) typically causes inhibition of outward K⁺ current (top trace) and membrane depolarization (bottom trace); current density (pA/pF) versus voltage (I-V) plot (middle) shows significant inhibition of outward current (p < 0.05) at positive potentials (A). These responses are markedly reduced or abolished in neonatal AMCs chronically exposed for ~1 week to either a combination of μ-, δ-, and κ-opioid agonists (2 μM) (B), or to either μ- or δ-opioid agonists (2 μM) alone (D and E respectively). These blunting effects of chronic opioids on the CO₂-induced responses are prevented during continuous co-incubation with the general opioid receptor antagonist, naloxone (2 μM) (C). Also, chronic exposure to the κ -opioid agonist (2 μM) alone was ineffective (F). Data are presented as mean ± SEM (*n* = 11). TTX was present in the extracellular solution. C = control; W = wash.

FIGURE 4



Figure 5: Comparative estimates of the blunting effects of chronic opioids on CO_2 -mediated responses in neonatal AMCs. Comparison of the CO₂-induced changes in holding current at -60 mV in control (*Aa*) versus opioid-treated (*Ab*) cells; note the significant (*p< 0.05) inward shift in holding current normally seen in control cells during high CO₂ is abolished in opioid-treated cells. The variability in CO₂-induced changes in membrane potential is shown for control cells (*Ba,Bb*) versus opioid-treated cells (*Ca,Cb*); data of response frequency for each condition is summarized in *D*. Note that CO₂-induced action potential firing or spikes (*Ba*) or subthreshold depolarizations (*Bb*) occur frequently in untreated (control) cells (*D*), but is rare in opioid-treated cells (*Cb,D*). Also, the majority of opioid-treated cells fail to show either CO₂-induced membrane depolarization or spikes, i.e. are non-responsive (*Ca,D*), in contrast to untreated cells (*D*).



108

Figure 6: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on carbonic anhydrase enzyme expression in neonatal rat AMCs. (A) Western blot analysis showing expression of carbonic anhydrase (CA) isoforms CAI and CAII in 7 day-old cultures of control untreated AMCs versus AMCs treated with combined μ -, δ - and κ -opioid agonists (2 μ M); β -actin was used as an internal control. Note the downregulation in CAI and CAII expression in neonatal AMCs following chronic opioid exposure. Values are represented as mean ±SEM of three independent experiments (*P < 0.05).

FIGURE 6



Figure 7: Immunofluorescence staining of neonatal rat AMC cultures for μ - and δ -opioid receptor expression. Corresponding phase and fluorescence (FITC) images of cultures showing positive immunostaining of AMCs for μ -opioid receptor (MOR) (A and B respectively), and for δ -opioid receptor (DOR) (C and D respectively). Pre-absorption controls with excess antigen (see Methods) confirming staining specificity for each antibody are shown in E-H. The data are representative of three independent experiments for each antibody staining.

FIGURE 7



Pre-adsorption control



CHAPTER 4: REGULATION OF K_{ATP} CHANNEL SUBUNIT Kir6.2 AND CARBONIC ANHYDRASE I & II IN PERINATAL RAT ADRENAL CHROMAFFIN CELLS EXPOSED TO CHRONIC OPIOIDS: ROLE OF PKA AND HYPOXIA INDUCIBLE FACTOR (HIF)-2α

Authors: Shaima Salman, Alison Holloway, and Colin A. Nurse

I performed all the experiments, analysis and preparation of the manuscript for potential submission. Alison Holloway provided assistance with animal experiments, data collection and analysis.

ABSTRACT

At birth, asphyxial stressors such as hypoxia and hypercapnia are important physiological stimuli for adrenal catecholamine release that is critical for the proper transition of neonate to extrauterine life. We recently showed that chronic opioids blunt chemosensitivity of neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) to hypoxia and hypercapnia. This blunting was attributable to increased KATP channel and decreased carbonic anhydrase (CA) I, II expression respectively, and involved μ - and δ -opioid receptor signalling pathways. To address underlying molecular mechanisms, we first exposed an O_2 - and CO_2 -sensitive, immortalized rat chromaffin cell line (MAH cells) to combined μ - (DALDA) and δ - (DPDPE) opioid agonists (2 μ M) for ~7 days. Western blot and QPCR analysis revealed that chronic opioids increased KATP channel subunit, Kir6.2, and decreased CAII expression; both effects were blocked by naloxone and were absent in hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-2a-deficient MAH cells. Chronic opioids also stimulated HIF-2 α accumulation along a time-course similar to Kir6.2. Chromatin immunoprecipitation assays on opioid-treated cells revealed the binding of HIF-2 α to a hypoxia response element in the promoter region of the Kir6.2 gene. The opioid-induced regulation of Kir6.2 and CAII were dependent on PKA, but not PKC or CaM kinase, activity. Interestingly, a similar pattern of HIF-2a, Kir6.2, and CAII regulation (including the downregulation of CAI) was replicated in chromaffin tissue obtained from rat pups, born to dams exposed to morphine throughout gestation. Collectively, these data reveal novel mechanisms by which chronic opioids blunt asphyxial chemosensitivity in AMCs, thereby contributing to abnormal arousal responses in the offspring of opiate-addicted mothers.

INTRODUCTION

Catecholamine (CAT) secretion from adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) in response to asphyxial stressors at birth is a crucial physiological response during the transition of the fetus to extra-uterine life (Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986; Slotkin & Seidler, 1988). In particular, CAT secretion in the neonate aids in metabolic regulation, cardiac conduction, and in the transformation of the lungs into an air-breathing epithelium (Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986). This 'non-neurogenic' response is triggered by the direct action of stressors such as low O_2 (hypoxia) and high CO₂/H⁺ (acid hypercapnia) on AMCs, leading to membrane depolarization, voltagegated Ca²⁺ entry, and CAT secretion (Mochizuki-Oda et al., 1997; Thompson et al., 1997; Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005; Nurse et al., 2009). These direct chemosensing mechanisms are suppressed postnatally, in parallel with the development of splanchnic innervation (after the first postnatal week in the rat), and return following denervation of adult AMCs (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985, 1986; Thompson et al., 1997; Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005; Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009; Nurse et al., 2009). Thus, it is plausible that neurochemicals released from the splanchnic nerve during innervation activate signalling cascades that lead to the suppression of hypoxia and hypercapnia chemosensitivity. In recent tests of this hypothesis, we considered the potential involvement of nicotinic cholinergic and opioid receptor signalling pathways, given that ACh and opiate peptides are among the presynaptic neurochemicals released from the splanchnic nerve (Kobayashi et al., 1985; Holgert et al., 1995; Holgert et al., 1998). Interestingly, we found that whereas exposure of neonatal rat AMCs to chronic nicotine suppressed only hypoxia chemosensitivity (Buttigieg et al., 2008a), exposure to μ- and/or δ-opioid agonists led to the suppression of both hypoxia and hypercapnia sensitivity (Salman et al., 2013). In both instances, the suppression of hypoxia sensitivity was attributable to the increased expression of functional

ATP-sensitive K⁺ (K_{ATP}) channels, which induce membrane hyperpolarization and decreased excitability during hypoxia (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009; Salman *et al.*, 2013). On the other hand, the suppression of hypercapnia sensitivity in opioid-treated AMCs was associated with decreased expression of the CO₂ hydrating enzymes, carbonic anhydrase (CA) I & II (Salman *et al.*, 2013).

In the present study, we were interested in the intracellular signalling mechanisms leading to the blunting of O_2 and CO_2 chemosensitivity in opioid-treated chromaffin cells, and therefore focussed on factors regulating KATP channel and CA expression. As a first step, we considered the potential role of the transcription factor, hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)- 2α , because: (i) HIF- 2α stabilization in nicotine-treated AMCs mediated the transcriptional upregulation of K_{ATP} channel subunit Kir6.2 (Salman et al., 2012) (Chapter 2); and (ii) the HIF pathway has previously been implicated in the signalling cascade activated in neuroblastoma cells during chronic opioid exposure (Daijo et al., 2011). To facilitate these studies we used a fetal-derived, immortalized rat chromaffin cell line, i.e. MAH cells, which are sensitive to both hypoxia and hypercapnia (Fearon et al., 2002; Buttigieg et al., 2008b), and express Kir6.2 and CAII mRNA and protein (Piskuric et al., 2008; Buttigieg et al., 2009; Salman et al., 2012). Moreover, the availability of a stable HIF-2a-deficient (>90% knockdown) MAH cell line (shMAH) allowed us to investigate the role of HIF-2 α in the opioid signalling cascade. Because protein kinases (e.g. PKC and CaM kinase) were implicated in the upregulation of Kir6.2 in nicotine-treated chromaffin cells (Buttigieg et al., 2009), we also investigated their potential involvement in opioid receptor signalling in MAH cells using pharmacological inhibitors. Finally, to validate the predictions of this *in vitro* model, we used a physiologically-relevant *in vivo* model where pregnant dams received daily injections of morphine just prior to and throughout gestation. The expression patterns of HIF-2 α , Kir6.2, and CAI &II were then compared in chromaffin tissues from the adrenal glands of neonates born to morphine- vs. saline- exposed dams.
MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell culture: the *v-myc* immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cells, HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cells (shHIF-2 α) and scrambled control (ScCont) MAH cells (Brown *et al.*, 2009)were grown in L-15/CO₂ medium containing 0.6 % glucose, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, 10% fetal bovine serum and 5 μ M dexamethasone, as previously described (Fearon *et al.*, 2002). A stable HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cell line (shMAH), generated using interference RNAi techniques (Brown *et al.*, 2009), was used in some experiments and grown under similar conditions. All cultures were incubated in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air, 5% CO₂ at 37°C for varying periods up to ~7 days *in vitro*. Cells were fed every 1–2 days and routinely passaged every 3-4 days when cell density reached sub-confluency. When passaging cells, medium was removed and cells were detached using 0.25% trypsin–EDTA. Suspended cells were pelleted by centrifugation and the pellet was re-suspended in pre-warmed medium. Cells were then plated on 35 mm culture dishes coated with poly-D-lysine and laminin.

Adrenal Gland Tissues: Adrenal tissues were obtained from neonatal rat pups following maternal exposures to morphine or saline (control) solutions. Saline (vehicle) or morphine sulphate (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO) dissolved in saline was administered to adult female rats (Wistar, Charles River, Quebec, Canada) 1 week before pregnancy, during pregnancy, and up to 4 days postpartum as described below:

Day 1-3 pre-pregnancy: 5 mg/kg/day sc, once daily;

Day 4-7 pre-pregnancy: 10 mg/kg/day, sc, once daily;

Gestational day 1-postpartum day 4: 10 mg/kg/day, sc, once daily.

All procedures for animal handling and tissue dissections were carried out according to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) and institutional guidelines. To

118

minimize side effects, the dose administered was near that required to produce analgesia in rats (i.e. 2-5mg/kg sc every 2-4 hr). Female rats were weighed twice daily, and monitored for the first 15 min after injection and then again at 60 min post-injection. For each female, litter size, litter weight, sex of littermates, birth weight, and the number of stillbirths were recorded. Live birth index ([# of live offspring/# of offspring delivered]* 100) and sex ratio (# of male offspring/# of female offspring), were calculated (Table 1). The 10th percentile value for birth weight of the control group was obtained (Mean - 2*SD). Rat pups with birth weights less than the 10th percentile were labelled small for gestational age (SGA). Following delivery, the pups were isolated and weighed before tissue collection. Soon after birth, neonatal rat pups [postnatal day 0 P0], were first rendered unconscious by a blow to the back of the head and then killed immediately by decapitation. Adrenal glands were excised bilaterally and most of the surrounding *a*drenal *cortex* (AC) was trimmed and isolated from the central *a*drenal *m*edulla (AM) for separate molecular analysis of the two tissues (Salman *et al.*, 2012).

Immunofluorescence: MAH cells were grown on modified Nunc 35mm dishes with central wells to which glass coverslips were attached as previously described (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008a). Immunofluorescence staining was performed as outlined in our previous study (Salman *et al.*, 2013). Briefly, medium was removed and cells were washed with pre-warmed PBS, pH 7.2, and fixed with ice cold 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 1 hr at 4°C. Cells were then washed with PBS and incubated with 100 µl of primary antibodies (rabbit polyclonal anti-µ-opioid receptor; rabbit polyclonal anti-δ-opioid receptor; Alomone) diluted in 1% BSA/PBS overnight. For pre-adsorption controls, primary antibodies were incubated in the presence of 3x excess antigen overnight at 4°C. Following incubation with primary antibodies, samples were washed the next day with PBS and incubated with FITC-conjugated secondary antibody (1:50; Jackson

119

ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc., West Grove, PA, USA) in the dark for 1 h at RT. Samples were then washed with PBS and covered with Vectashield to prevent photobleaching.

Fluorescence visualization and images were obtained using a Zeiss inverted microscope (IM 35). Quantitative Real-Time PCR (OPCR): QPCR analysis was performed using the Stratagene (Mx3000p) detection system and ABsolute QPCR SYBR Green Mix. Primers were designed using Gene Fisher and specificity was confirmed using BLAST. Thermal cycling conditions included, Platinum Taq DNA polymerase activation at 95°C for 2 min, 40 cycles of denaturing at 95°C for 3 s, and annealing and extension at 60°C for 30 s, followed by routine melting curve analysis. Samples with no template were used as a negative control. Data were compared quantitatively using the arithmetric equation $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001); mRNA levels were normalized to Lamin A/C expression and expressed as transcript fold change relative to mRNA from untreated control MAH cells. Each experiment was repeated 3-4 times. Primers used were as follows: Kir6.2 subunit, forward: 5' ACA AGA ACA TCC GAG AGC A 3', reverse: 5' CTG CAC GAT CAG AAT AAG GA 3' (Accession No. NM 008428); CAII (Carbonic anhydrase II), forward: 5' CCG ACA GTC CCC TGT GGA 3', reverse: 5' GCG GAG TGG TCA GAG AGC CA 3' (Accession No. NM_010602); VEGF, forward: 5' AATGATGAAGCCCTGGAGTG 3', reverse: 5' AATGCTTTCTCCGCTCTGAA 3' (Huang et forward: 5' GCAGTACAAGAAGGAGCTA 3', reverse: 5' al., 2010); Lamin, CAGCAATTCCTGGTACTCA 3' (Accession No. NM 008084).

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay: ChIP assay was performed using a standard protocol provided by ChIP assay kit (Millipore) as previously described (Brown *et al.*, 2009; Salman *et al.*, 2012). Briefly, MAH cells were plated on 100-mm dishes (Corning Incorporated) at a confluency of ~ 0.75×10^6 cells/dish and treated with opioid agonists for 7 days in culture.

Following chronic treatments, the cultures were treated with 1% formaldehyde for 10 min at 37°C in order to cross-link histones to DNA. Medium was removed and cells were washed with ice-cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) containing protease inhibitors, scraped and pelleted at 2000 rpm for 4 min at 4°C. The pellet was then resuspended in 200µl SDS lysis buffer. Cross-linked DNA was sheared, and pelleted at 13,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. The lysate supernatant was diluted 10x using the ChIP dilution buffer and a small portion (1%) was kept for DNA quantification and used as an input control. For immunoprecipitation, lysates were precleared by the addition of Protein A Agarose/Salmon Sperm DNA (50% slurry) and maintained under constant agitation for 30 min at 4°C. Samples were incubated with rabbit polyclonal antibody against HIF-2a (Novus Biologicals) overnight at 4°C with constant rotation. For negative controls, the antibody was omitted from the samples. Following immunoprecipitation, Agarose beads were pelleted, washed, and the DNA was eluted and reversed cross-linked by adding 5 M NaCl and heating at 65°C for 4 hr. DNA was recovered by phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation. PCR analysis was utilized to detect HIF-2 α binding using primers specific for a putative hypoxia responsive element (HRE) present in KCNJ11 (Kir6.2 subunit) sequence (forward: 5' CGG ACT CTC AGA GCA GTG TA 3'; and reverse 5' GCA GAC TCT GAC AGT GCC TTT 3).

Western Immunoblot Analysis: MAH cell cultures and adrenal gland tissues were lysed so as to obtain cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions as previously described (Brown & Nurse, 2008). Briefly, MAH cells were lysed in buffer A (10 mM HEPES pH 7.6, 10 mM KCl, 0.1 mM EDTA pH 8, 0.1 mM EGTA pH 8, 1 mM DTT, and protease inhibitors (Complete Mini; Roche, Laval, Quebec, Canada)) then incubated on ice for 15 min with intermittent vortexing. A final concentration of 0.6% NP40 was added and samples were vortexed for 1 min then centrifuged at

13,000 rpm for 30s. The supernatant (cytoplasmic-extract) was collected and the pellet was resuspended in buffer C (20 mM HEPES pH 7.6, 0.4 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA pH 8, 1 mM EGTA pH 8, 1 mM DTT, 5% glycerol, and protease inhibitors) and frozen at -80°C over night. Lysate was then thawed and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 5 min and the resulting supernatant (nuclearextract) was collected to determine total protein concentration using Bradford assay (1:5 dilution reagent and 1 mg/mL BSA). 5µg of cytoplasmic-extracts and 2.5µg of nuclear-extracts were loaded and resolved on a 10% and a 4-15% gradient SDS-PAGE gel respectively and transferred onto PVDC membranes. Membranes were then washed and incubated with either primary rabbit polyclonal antibody against Kir6.2 (1:1000 dilution; Alomone Labs Ltd. Jerusalem, Israel), rabbit polyclonal anti-human carbonic anhydrase I antibody (1:1000 dilution; Abcam Inc., Cambridge, MA, USA), sheep polyclonal anti-human carbonic anhydrase II antibody (1:1000 dilution; AbD Serotec, Kidlington, UK), HIF-1 α or HIF-2 α rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:1,000 dilution; Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO), primary rabbit monoclonal β -actin antibody as loading control for cytoplasmic extracts (1:10,000 dilution; Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA), or primary rabbit polyclonal TATA-binding protein (TBP) antibody as a loading control for nuclear extracts (1:25,000 dilution; Santa Cruz, CA) at 4°C overnight. Membranes were then washed in PBS, and incubated in goat anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-linked secondary antibody (1:10,000 dilution; Jackson Labs, Bar Harbor, ME, USA) for 1 hr at room temperature. Immunoreaction products were visualized using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) and images were obtained after exposure to XAR-film.

Luciferin-Luciferase Chemiluminescence detection of ATP release from MAH cells: ATP release from MAH cells was measured using a Labsystem Luminoskantm luminometer as previously described (Buttigieg & Nurse, 2004). Briefly, cell medium was removed and replaced

with 900 μ l of extracellular solution containing in mM: NaCl, 135; KCl, 5; CaCl₂, 2; MgCl₂, 2; glucose, 10; and Hepes, 10, at pH 7.4. For hypoxic stimulation, an equal volume of the same solution was bubbled with N₂ gas (PO₂ ~15–20mmHg). A 200 μ l luciferin–luciferase solution, prepared from the ATP determination kit (Molecular probes # A22066), was added and the culture dish was placed in the luminometer. Chemiluminescence readings were expressed as relative light units (RLU) at intervals of 4s for a period of 3 min. Data were analyzed using Labsystems Ascent Software.

Drugs: All drugs were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). In cell culture studies, fresh drugs were added to the growth medium every 2 days. For chronic opioid treatments, a combination of the μ-opioid agonist DALDA ([D-Arg², Lys⁴]-Dermorphin (1-4) amide) and the δ-opioid agonist DPDPE ([D-Pen², 5, P-Cl-Phe⁴]-enkephalin) was used at a concentration of 2 µM each. In some experiments, naloxone hydrochloride dehydrate (2 µM) was used as a general opioid antagonist and added at the same time as the agonists. Protein kinase inhibitors used in this study include: 2 µM of H-89 (PKA inhibitor), 2 µM of GF109203X (PKC inhibitor), and 3 µM of KN-62 (CaMK inhibitor).

Statistical Analysis: Molecular data were normalized to loading control and results were expressed as mean \pm SEM, and statistical analyses were made using ANOVA and non-parametric Mann-Whitney *U*-test using GraphPad Prism, version 4.0. For pregnancy outcomes, statistical analyses were performed using student t test (using the SigmaStat, v.2.03; SPSS, Chicago, Ill package) by comparing the morphine injected group to the control group. Fisher's exact test ($\alpha = 0.05$) was used when categorical variables were compared. Littermates were used as an experimental unit and values were presented as mean \pm SEM. * indicates *p* < 0.05. *Diagrams:* Diagrams were made using BioDraw Ultra 12.0.

123

RESULTS

In the *in vitro* experiments reported below, all opioid exposures were performed on immortalized chromaffin (MAH) cell cultures that were incubated with combined μ - and δ - opioid agonists, i.e. DALDA and DPDPE, respectively, at a concentration of 2 μ M each. The duration of the exposure period varied from 24 hr to 7 days as indicated in the text. Similar to primary neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) (Salman *et al.*, 2013), MAH cells express both μ - and δ - opioid receptors as exemplified in the immunocytochemical experiments shown in Fig. 1 (n =3). In addition, microarray data from our laboratory suggest that MAH cells express μ - and δ -opioid, but not κ -opioid, receptors (data not shown). Thus, MAH cells represent a simple surrogate model to study signalling pathways activated by μ - and δ -opioid receptors in chromaffin cells.

Effects of chronic opioid exposure on KATP channel expression in MAH cells

In our recent study, chronic exposure of primary neonatal rat AMCs to combined μ - (DALDA) and δ - (DPDPE) opioid agonists (2 μ M) for ~7 days *in vitro* caused an increased expression of the K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2, as determined by western blot analysis (Salman *et al.*, 2013). Using both quantitative real-time PCR (QPCR) and western blotting, we first investigated whether upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit also occurs in MAH cells exposed for ~7days to medium containing combined opioids. As illustrated in Fig. 2A, the transcript level of Kir6.2 subunit was significantly increased (>2 fold) in opioid-treated MAH cells compared to untreated controls. Moreover, this enhanced Kir6.2 expression was mediated via opioid receptor signalling pathways because it was prevented in MAH cells exposed to combined opioids plus the general opioid receptor blocker, naloxone (2 μ M; Fig. 2A). Western blot analysis also confirmed the upregulation of Kir6.2 expression at the protein level in opioid-treated MAH cells, and its

prevention during co-incubation with naloxone (Fig. 2B). These data are consistent with those we previously reported for primary neonatal AMCs (Salman *et al.*, 2013), and suggest that the MAH cell line is a suitable model for probing opioid-mediated signalling pathways in rat chromaffin cells.

HIF-2 α stabilization is required for opioid-induced upregulation of K_{ATP} channel subunit (Kir6.2) expression in MAH cells

We previously demonstrated that exposure of both perinatal rat AMCs and immortalized MAH cells to chronic nicotine causes stabilization of the transcription factor, HIF-2 α , which in turn led to the transcriptional upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit and K_{ATP} channel expression (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009; Salman *et al.*, 2012). In other cell types, e.g. neuroblastoma cells, stimulation of μ - and δ - opioid receptors can lead to HIF activation under non-hypoxic conditions (Daijo *et al.*, 2011). It was therefore of interest to investigate whether or not the opioid-induced upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit expression in MAH cells was HIF-2 α -dependent. To test this, we used western blots to compare Kir6.2 expression in a HIF-2 α -deficient (>90% knockdown) MAH cell line (shHIF-2 α MAH; (Brown *et al.*, 2009)) following exposure to chronic opioids. As shown in Figs. 3A,B, the opioid-induced upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit relative to β -actin was present in non-transfected control (w.t. MAH) and transfected scrambled control (ScCont MAH) cells, but was absent in HIF-2 α -deficient (shHIF-2 α MAH) cells. These results demonstrate that HIF-2 α is required for the opioid-mediated upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit in MAH cells.

We next investigated whether chronic opioid exposure could stabilize HIF-2 α in nuclear extracts of w.t. MAH cells. As illustrated in Fig. 4A, there was a robust accumulation of HIF-2 α

in MAH cells exposed to chronic opioids for \sim 7 days *in vitro*, and this effect was abolished during co-incubation with the opioid receptor blocker, naloxone (2 μ M).

Time-dependent effects of chronic opioids on HIF-2a accumulation and Kir6.2 subunit expression in MAH cells

In a previous study, we found that chronic nicotine exposure caused a parallel, progressive, and time-dependent accumulation of HIF-2 α and Kir6.2 subunit expression in MAH cells (Salman *et al.*, 2012). To test whether a similar pattern occurs during opioid exposure, we monitored HIF-2 α and Kir6.2 subunit expression in opioid-treated MAH cells at 0 hr, 24hr, 3 days and 7 days in nuclear and cytoplasmic extracts, respectively. As illustrated in Figs. 4B, C, western blot analysis revealed a slow progressive increase in HIF-2 α accumulation that occurred in parallel with the increase in Kir6.2 subunit over the 7 day treatment period. Both increases were significant at exposure periods of 3 and 7 days, but not at 24 hr (Fig. 4C); by contrast, exposure of MAH cells to chronic hypoxia (2% O₂) normally results in a robust HIF-2 α accumulation at 24 hr (data not shown) (Brown & Nurse, 2008; Salman *et al.*, 2012). This expression pattern of HIF-2 α and Kir6.2 subunit is reminiscent of that seen in MAH cells during exposure to chronic nicotine over a similar time period (Salman *et al.*, 2012).

HIF-2a binds to the promoter region of Kir6.2 gene in opioid-treated cells

The promoter region of the Kir6.2 gene contains a putative hypoxia response element (HRE), where the HIF core site (GCGTG) spans nucleotides -1087 to -1083 and the HIF ancillary site (CACAG) spans nucleotides -1065 to -1061 (Fig. 3B; upper). Using a chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay, we previously demonstrated that HIF-2 α bound to the

promoter region of Kir6.2 gene, following its stabilization in MAH cells exposed to chronic nicotine (Salman *et al.*, 2012). To test whether opioid receptor signalling promotes binding of HIF-2 α to the promoter region of Kir6.2 gene, we performed ChIP assays on control and HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cells exposed to chronic opioids for ~7 days. Indeed, we found that under these conditions HIF-2 α bound to the Kir6.2 promoter region in w.t. and scrambled control (ScCont) MAH cells, but not in HIF-2 α -deficient (shHIF-2 α) MAH cells, as illustrated in Fig. 3B (lower). These data complement those demonstrating that HIF-2 α deficiency prevents upregulation of Kir6.2 in opioid-treated MAH cells (Fig. 3A), and imply that the mechanism of HIF-2 α action most likely involves increased expression of Kir6.2 at the transcriptional level.

To confirm transcriptional activity of HIF-2 α in opioid-treated MAH cells, we measured mRNA expression levels of a common HIF-2 α target gene, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), using quantitative real-time PCR (QPCR) analysis. These experiments demonstrated that VEGF mRNA was significantly increased in opioid-treated MAH cells (Fig. 3C).

Chronic opioid exposure downregulates the expression of carbonic anhydrase II in MAH cells: Role of HIF-2a

Sensitivity of neonatal rat AMCs to high CO₂ (hypercapnia) is dependent on the activity of the CO₂ hydrating enzymes, carbonic anhydrase (CA) I and II (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). We previously showed that exposure of primary neonatal rat AMC to chronic opioids blunts hypercapnia sensitivity, in association with the downregulation of CAI and CAII (Salman *et al.*, 2013). Though MAH cells express only CAII, they show CO₂ sensitivity similar to primary neonatal AMC (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008b). This suggests MAH cells may serve as a suitable model for investigating opioid-mediated blunting of CO₂ sensing in chromaffin cells. Indeed, exposure

of MAH cells to chronic opioids for ~7 days resulted in a significant reduction in CAII transcript as determined by QPCR; further, this reduction was prevented during continuous co-incubation with the opioid receptor blocker, naloxone (2 μ M; Fig. 5A). Western blot analysis revealed that chronic opioids also caused a naloxone-sensitive downregulation of CAII at the protein level, as illustrated in Fig. 5B.

Because chronic opioids stabilize HIF-2 α in MAH cells (Fig. 4), we wondered whether or not the opioid-mediated downregulation of CAII expression was HIF-2 α -dependent. To test this, we used western blot analysis to compare CAII expression in HIF-2 α -deficient (shHIF-2 α) MAH cells following exposure to chronic opioids for ~7days. As shown in Fig. 6A, the opioidmediated downregulation of CAII relative to β -actin was present in non-transfected control (w.t. MAH) and transfected scrambled control (ScCont MAH) cells, but was absent in HIF-2 α deficient (shHIF-2 α MAH) cells. These results demonstrate that HIF-2 α is required for the opioid-mediated downregulation of CAII in MAH cells.

HIF-mediated repression of several genes such as α -fetoprotein and LIFR under hypoxia may occur via hypoxia response elements (HREs) present on the antisense strand (Narravula & Colgan, 2001; Mazure *et al.*, 2002; Jeong *et al.*, 2007). We therefore examined sites within the CAII proximal promoter, ~1.7 kb upstream from the transcription initiation site ATG, for potential HREs. Interestingly, this analysis revealed a putative HRE element on the antisense strand suggesting possible binding of HIF transcription factors (Fig. 6B). While this suggests a potential mechanism by which HIF-2 α stabilization may lead to the downregulation of CAII in MAH cells, further studies are required to validate this point.

Central role of protein kinase A (PKA) in mediating the downstream effects of opioid receptor signalling in MAH cells

Various protein kinases are known to be activated during opioid receptor signalling (Feng *et al.*, 2011). We therefore used pharmacological inhibitors to probe for the potential involvement of three common kinases, i.e. PKC, CaMK, and PKA, in mediating the opposing effects of chronic opioid exposure on Kir6.2 and CAII expression in MAH cells. As illustrated in Fig. 7A, western blot analysis revealed that inhibition of PKA by H-89 (2 μ M) prevented the opioid-induced upregulation of Kir6.2 evident in MAH cells following chronic opioid exposure. By contrast, inhibition of PKC and CaMK by GF109203X (2 μ M) and KN-62 (3 μ M) respectively, had no significant effect on the upregulation of Kir6.2 protein in comparable experiments (Fig. 7A). Likewise PKA, but not PKC or CaMK, inhibition prevented the opioid-induced downregulation of CAII evident in MAH cells following chronic opioid exposure (Fig. 7B). These data suggest a central role of PKA in the opioid receptor signalling pathway, leading to the regulation of key proteins involved in the blunting of O₂ and CO₂ chemosensitivity in chromaffin cells.

Given that both PKA activity (Figs. 7A,B) and HIF-2 α accumulation (Figs. 3,5,6), are necessary for the regulation of Kir6.2 and CAII in opioid-treated MAH cells, the question arises whether HIF-2 α accumulation is dependent on PKA activity. To address this, we investigated whether the opioid-induced HIF-2 α accumulation could occur in the presence of PKA inhibition. As illustrated in Fig. 7C, inhibition of PKA by H-89 had no significant effect on the opioidinduced HIF-2 α accumulation in MAH cells. Furthermore, inhibition of PKC by KN-62 and CaMK by GF109203X were similarly ineffective (Fig. 7C). Taken together, these data suggest that the regulation of Kir6.2 and CAII in opioid-treated MAH cells requires the independent actions of both PKA activity and HIF-2 α accumulation.

Chronic opioids blunt hypoxia sensing in MAH cells as monitored by ATP release

Catecholamines are co-stored with ATP in chromaffin granules and both agents are co-released during stimulus-evoked secretion (Castillo *et al.*, 1992). To test whether or not chronic opioids blunt hypoxia-evoked secretion in MAH cells, ATP release was monitored in control vs. opioid-treated cells using luciferase chemiluminescence (Buttigieg & Nurse, 2004). In this assay, ATP acts as a catalyst in the oxidation of luciferin by luciferase:

Lucifein + ATP \rightarrow luciferyl adenylate + PPi.

Luciferyl adenylate + $O_2 \rightarrow oxyluciferin + AMP + light.$

These experiments revealed that exposure of control (untreated) MAH cells to hypoxia (PO₂ ~15–20 mmHg) caused a significant increase in extracellular ATP levels (Fig. 8). By contrast, when the same stimulus was applied to opioid-treated MAH cells, extracellular ATP levels remained unchanged (Fig. 8). Further, this blunting effect of chronic opioids on hypoxia sensing was prevented during co-incubation with 2 μ M naloxone (Fig. 8). These data suggest that chronic opioids blunt hypoxia-evoked secretion in MAH cells via opioid-receptor signalling pathways. This effect is most likely due to the upregulation of K_{ATP} channels in MAH cells (thereby favoring membrane hyperpolarization during acute hypoxia), as recently demonstrated for opioid-treated neonatal AMC (Salman *et al.*, 2013).

Effects of chronic maternal morphine exposure on Kir6.2, CAI, CAII, and HIF-2a expression in the adrenal glands of affected neonates

To validate the main conclusions from our *in vitro* model in a physiologically-relevant *in vivo* system, we administered morphine (or saline) to pregnant Wistar rats and compared the

expression pattern of Kir6.2, CAI & II, and HIF-2 α in adrenal glands of the offspring. For these experiments, female rats (200-250 g) were randomly assigned to receive daily injections of morphine sulphate or saline (vehicle) for 1 week prior to pregnancy, during pregnancy, and up to 4 days postpartum (as outlined in Materials and Methods). Whole adrenal glands were dissected from the offspring soon after birth, and the outer cortical tissue was trimmed with a scalpel so as to obtain separate 'enriched' tissue fractions from the adrenal medulla (AM) and adrenal cortex (AC). As illustrated in Fig. 9A-C, western blot analysis revealed there was a significant increase in expression of Kir6.2 and HIF-2 α , and a decrease in expression of CAI and CAII, in the medullary-rich regions of glands taken from morphine-exposed pups relative to saline-exposed controls. Interestingly, this change in expression pattern for Kir6.2, HIF-2a, and CAII was similar to that seen in opioid-treated MAH cells in vitro. On the other hand, the changes in expression pattern seen in the medullary region were not replicated in cortical-rich regions of glands taken from morphine-exposed pups. Notably, CAI and CAII expression was robust in the medullary-rich regions of control (saline-exposed) glands, but was almost absent from corticalrich regions, suggesting minimal cross-contamination occurred during our attempts to separate cortical from medullary tissue. These data suggest that in this in vivo model, the morphineinduced changes in expression pattern were confined to the medullary chromaffin cells, which are the predominant cell type expressing opioid receptors in the adrenal gland (Salman *et al.*, 2013).

DISCUSSION

In a recent study we reported that chronic exposure of neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) to μ - and δ -opioid receptor agonists *in vitro* blunts hypoxia and hypercapnia chemosensitivity via upregulation of K_{ATP} channels and downregulation of carbonic anhydrase (CA) I and CAII, respectively (Salman et al., 2013). The goals of the present study were to obtain a more complete understanding of the underlying molecular mechanisms and signalling pathways involved. Using an immortalized, fetal-derived rat chromaffin (MAH) cell line as a model, we found that chronic opioid exposure led to increased expression of Kir6.2 subunit of the K_{ATP} channel, and decreased expression of CAII, the only one of the CA isoforms expressed in MAH cells. Both effects were mediated via PKA, and were dependent on the transcription factor, HIF-2 α , because they were abrogated in HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cells. Strong support for this schema was obtained from an *in vivo* model where adrenal tissue from pups born to morphine-exposed dams was probed for Kir6.2, CAI, CAII, and HIF-2a expression. Interestingly, compared to saline-treated controls, adrenal tissue from morphine-exposed pups showed increased expression of Kir6.2 and HIF-2a, and decreased expression of both CAI and CAII.

Role of HIF-2a in opioid-induced regulation of Kir6.2 and CAII expression

One key factor involved in gene regulation in MAH cells following exposure to chronic μ -and δ opioids was the transcription factor, HIF-2 α . Whereas the opioid-induced regulation of Kir6.2 and CAII was observed in wild type and transfected scrambled control MAH cells, it was absent in HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cells. Moreover, following opioid exposure there was a gradual increase in HIF-2 α accumulation in MAH cells that occurred along a time course similar to the increase in Kir6.2 expression. The importance of HIF-2 α in this signalling pathway was further demonstrated using a ChIP assay, which revealed the direct binding of HIF-2 α to the promoter region of the Kir6.2 gene in opioid-treated MAH cells. These data suggest a molecular explanation for the increased expression of Kir6.2 subunit and increased K_{ATP} current density previously reported in primary neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs) exposed to chronic opioids *in vitro* (Salman *et al.*, 2012). In the latter study, the increased expression of K_{ATP} channels accounted largely for the opioid-mediated blunting of hypoxia sensitivity, which could be restored by simply adding the K_{ATP} channel blocker, glibenclamide, to the extracellular solution. Thus, the ability of chronic opioid exposure to blunt hypoxia sensing in chromaffin cells appears to be dependent on the induction of HIF-2 α , leading to the transcriptional upregulation of Kir6.2 and increased expression of functional K_{ATP} channels. The opening of these K_{ATP} channels in response to a fall in ATP concentration during hypoxia favors membrane hyperpolarization, and therefore a decreased sensitivity to the hypoxic stimulus.

Evidence that a non-hypoxic stimulus such as opioid exposure could lead to HIF induction has been obtained in a previous study on human SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells (Daijo *et al.*, 2011). These authors reported that chronic exposure of SH-SY5Y cells to μ - and δ -opioid receptor agonists led to the induction of HIF-1 α protein and an increase in HIF-1 target gene expression. While these data demonstrated a link between HIF and the biological effects of chronic opioid exposure, there are notable differences when compared with the present study. In particular, HIF- 2α protein (and not HIF-1 α) was the major HIF involved in the regulation of Kir6.2 and CAII in MAH cells and, moreover, its induction was not apparent at 24 hr exposure. By contrast, in SH-SY5Y cells the induction of HIF-1 α protein was apparent as early as 8 hr and peaked at 24 hr exposure (Daijo *et al.*, 2011). Though the fate of HIF-1 α in MAH cells is unknown in the present study, it is noteworthy that in the adrenal tissue of morphine-exposed pups, we found that HIF- 2α was elevated (relative to saline-exposed controls) whereas HIF- 1α remained unchanged. Thus, it still remains plausible that at earlier time points after opioid exposure other target genes, specific to HIF-1, may be regulated in chromaffin cells, however, this idea remains to be tested. Alternatively, the opioid-induced regulation of HIFs may occur via the same opioid receptors but in a cell-type specific manner, depending on the intracellular signalling pathways. In this regard, chronic exposure of different cells to another non-hypoxic stimulus may lead to the differential regulation of HIF- 1α and HIF- 2α . For example, activation of nicotinic acetylcholine (ACh) receptor signalling pathways by exposure to chronic nicotine led to HIF- 1α accumulation in human small cell lung cancers (Zhang *et al.*, 2007). On the other hand, a similar exposure led to HIF- 2α accumulation in MAH cells (Salman *et al.*, 2012), though there was increased expression of the general HIF target gene, VEGF, in both studies.

A particularly novel aspect of the present study was the demonstration that the opioid-induced downregulation of CAII seen in control MAH cells was absent in HIF-2 α - deficient MAH cells. Functional CA activity is critical for the ability of neonatal AMCs to sense elevated CO₂ (hypercapnia), and CAII is one of only two carbonic anhydrases (CAs) expressed in these cells (Munoz-Cabello et al. 2005). To our knowledge this is the first demonstration that CAII expression can be regulated by HIF, and particularly by HIF-2 α . In this regard, HIF-1 α has been reported to act as a transcriptional repressor of a number of genes such as α -fetoprotein and LIFR under hypoxia, by direct binding to a reverse HRE (rHREs) located on the antisense strand (Narravula & Colgan, 2001; Mazure *et al.*, 2002; Jeong *et al.*, 2007). Interestingly, a search for a HRE in the promoter region of CAII gene revealed a putative rHRE (~1.7 kb upstream from the transcription initiation site) located on the antisense strand (Fig. 6B). This raises the attractive

possibility that the CAII gene may act as a novel transcriptional target of HIF-2 α , however, this requires further validation. It is also noteworthy that the tumor-associated CAs, i.e. CAIX and CAXII, represent a class of HIF-1 dependent genes that are strongly induced in tumor cell lines under hypoxia (Wykoff *et al.*, 2000); in that study a HRE was also identified on the antisense strand of CAIX. In addition, a recent study identified a large number of genes that were repressed by HIF-1 α in arterial endothelial cells under hypoxia though no specific pattern of HRE was identified (Manalo *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, further studies are required to clarify the mechanisms underlying the HIF-2 α dependent downregulation of the CAII gene as observed in the present study.

Role of protein kinase A in opioid-induced regulation of Kir6.2 subunit and CAII expression

Using inhibitors of three common protein kinases, we found that PKA (but not PKC or CaM kinase) activity was necessary for the opioid-induced regulation of Kir6.2 subunit and CAII expression in MAH cells. Because HIF-2 α induction was also necessary for this regulation, the question arose whether the requirement for PKA activation occurred upstream or downstream of HIF-2 α induction. Our results showed that PKA inhibition did not significantly affect HIF-2 α accumulation in opioid-treated MAH cells, suggesting that PKA activation was required downstream of (or in parallel with) HIF-2 α accumulation (Fig. 10). It remains to be determined whether PKA activation during opioid-induced signalling is involved in the transcriptional or posttranslational modification of Kir6.2 subunit and CAII expression. In a recent report, activation of μ -and δ -opioid receptors in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells led to HIF-1 α accumulation via the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling pathway (Daijo *et al.*, 2011). It is tempting to speculate that at least part of the opioid receptor signalling in MAH cells is mediated via

activation of this pathway, given the evidence that HIF-2 α expression may also be regulated via a distinct mTOR complex (mTORC2) and Akt isoform (Akt2), as shown in renal carcinoma cells (Toschi *et al.*, 2008). However, further experiments are required to test this idea.

Effects of chronic morphine in utero on expression of Kir6.2, CAII and HIF-2a in adrenal medulla vs cortex of affected neonates

It was of interest to test the predictions of the *in vitro* opioid-treated MAH cell model in a physiologically-relevant *in vivo* system. To this end, both medullary and cortical tissues from the adrenal glands of rat pups exposed to chronic morphine in utero were examined for the expression pattern of Kir6.2, CAI & II, and HIF-2 α . The rat adrenal gland expresses all three types of opioid receptors and these are restricted to the chromaffin cells of the medulla (Wittert et al., 1996; Salman et al., 2013). Interestingly, even though Kir6.2 is expressed in both adrenal cortex and medulla (Xu & Enyeart, 2001; Buttigieg et al., 2009), there was a selective upregulation of Kir6.2 protein in the medullary region of morphine-exposed pups compared to saline-exposed controls. This is the expected result if an intact opioid receptor signalling pathway is required for Kir6.2 upregulation, and argues against a non-specific action of morphine following injections in vivo. Moreover, even though the MAH cell model allowed us to test only for the regulation of CAII following opioid exposure, morphine-exposed pups showed downregulation of both CAI and CAII expression. Not surprisingly, this downregulation was again confined to the medullary tissue, the only region of the gland where the two carbonic anhydrases (CAs) are known to be expressed (Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005).

Similar to Kir6.2 subunit expression, we detected HIF-2 α protein in both medullary and cortical 'enriched' tissues of the adrenal gland. However, chronic morphine exposure led to a

selective accumulation of HIF-2 α in the medullary tissue only. This result, not only validated our in vitro MAH cell model, but once again emphasized the requirement for an intact opioid receptor signalling pathway for HIF-2 α induction, given that the cortical cells do not express μ and δ -opioid receptors (Salman *et al.*, 2013). Additionally, the effects of chronic morphine on HIF accumulation were found to be restricted to HIF-2 α , for though HIF-1 α was expressed in the medulla its levels were not significantly affected. Generally, the importance of HIF-2 α function is thought to be tissue specific, and HIF-2 α appears to play a major role in cells of the sympathoadrenal lineage (Bishop et al., 2008; Brown & Nurse, 2008; Brown et al., 2009). Although the two transcription factors are paralogs, they seem to play distinct target-specific roles even when expressed in the same tissue. In fact, in studies using partially deficient HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α mice, a mutual antagonism between HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α was found to regulate intracellular redox status and hypoxia sensitivity of carotid body glomus cells and adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (Yuan et al., 2013). Using the MAH cell model, we demonstrated that chronic opioids led to HIF-2 α accumulation, and that HIF-2 α deficiency prevented the opioid-induced upregulation of Kir6.2 and downregulation of CAII (Fig. 10). These observations suggest that the increased HIF-2 α accumulation seen in morphine-exposed neonatal medullary tissue likely led to the transcriptional upregulation of Kir6.2 and downregulation of CAII (and probably CAI as well) in that tissue.

CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE

While our studies contributed to a general understanding of the role of opioid receptor signalling in the developmental regulation of hypoxia and hypercapnia sensitivity in chromaffin cells, they also have clinical significance. Prenatal exposure of pregnant mothers to opiates (e.g. heroin and related illicit drugs) has been linked to higher rates of stillbirths and sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) that are often characterized by impaired arousal during asphyxial challenges (Kato et al., 2003; Burns et al., 2010). Indeed, in the present study we noted that chronic morphine exposure in utero was associated with decreased litter size, and an increase in the percentage of dams delivering stillborns (Table 1), as reported in previous studies (Zagon & McLaughlin, 1977). In addition, infants born small for gestational age (SGA) have been proposed to have higher risk of becoming victims to SIDS (Getahun et al., 2004). In this regard, morphine exposure *in utero* also resulted in a significantly higher proportion of offspring that were growth restricted (See proportion of SGA pups in Table 1). A recent study reports that use of opiates by pregnant mothers has climbed and that the number of neonates born addicted to painkiller medication (e.g. opioid pain relievers) has tripled in the past decades due to the rise in use and abuse of prescription pain medications (Patrick et al., 2012). Because adrenal catecholamine release in response to perinatal asphyxia is important for proper arousal, the adverse effects of chronic opioid exposure on the chemosensing properties of chromaffin cells may well contribute to the increased susceptibility of drug-exposed neonates to SIDS. If so, further studies on these chromaffin cells should aid in the development of therapeutic strategies that could benefit the offspring of women who use opiates during pregnancy, whether for pain management or in cases of drug abuse.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We wish to thank Stephen Brown for creating the HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cell line, Alison Holloway for providing assistance with animal experiments, data collection and analysis, and Cathy Vollmer for expert technical assistance in isolating the adrenal gland tissues. This work was supported by grants from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) of Canada, and the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR).

Table 1: Effects of chronic morphine exposure on pregnancy outcomes

TABLE 1

Pregnancy outcomes	Saline (N=10)	Morphine (N=17)	p-value
Litter size (N)	13.0 ± 0.7	8.5 ± 0.9	0.004*
Litter weight (g)	79.4 ± 5.0	48.5 ± 4.9	<0.001*
Birth weight (g)	6.3 ± 0.1	6.0 ± 0.1	0.123
Proportion of SGA pups (%)	13.1	39.2	<0.0001*
Live birth index (%)	100	84.6 ± 6.0	0.025*
Proportion of dams delivering stillborns (%)	0	53	0.0088*
Sex ratio (M/F)	1.1 ± 0.1	2.1 ± 0.4	0.114

Abbreviations: SGA, Small for Gestational Age; F, female; M, male. * indicates p < 0.05.

Figure 1: Immunofluorescence staining of μ - and δ -opioid receptors in MAH cells.

MAH cell cultures were immunostained with antibodies against μ - and δ -opioid receptors, visualized with FITC-conjugated secondary antibodies. Corresponding phase contrast (upper left) and fluorescence (upper right) images of MAH cells, immunostained for μ -opioid (A,B) and δ -opioid (C,D) receptors. In control experiments for μ -opioid (lower; E,F) and δ -opioid (lower, G,H) receptor, the primary antibody was pre-incubated with excess antigen before application to the cells, followed by FITC-conjugated secondary antibody.

FIGURE 1



MAH Cells

μ-Opioid Receptor

 δ -Opioid Receptor

Pre-adsorption Control



μ-Opioid Receptor

 $\delta\text{-Opioid}\ \text{Receptor}$

Figure 2: Quantitative RT-PCR (QPCR) and western blot analyses of K_{ATP} channel subunit Kir6.2 expression in MAH cells. (A) QPCR analysis of Kir6.2 mRNA in control MAH cells, in MAH cells cultured with combined μ- and δ- opioid agonists (2 μM) ± naloxone (2μM), and in MAH cells cultured with naloxone, for 7 days. Note significant upregulation of Kir6.2 transcript in opioid-treated cells (*P < 0.05; n=4 for each group); one-way ANOVA was used for multiple comparisons within groups. (B) Western blot analysis showing increased expression of Kir6.2 protein in opioid-treated MAH cells, and its prevention in presence naloxone; β-actin was used as an internal control.

FIGURE 2



В

Α



Figure 3: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on Kir6.2 subunit expression in HIF-2a-deficient MAH cells. Western blot analyses of Kir6.2 subunit expression in w.t., HIF-2a-deficient (shHIF- 2α) and scrambled control (ScCont) MAH cells cultured with combined opioid agonists (2μ M) for 7 days (A; left) (n=3; Anova; *P < 0.05). Note absence of Kir6.2 subunit upregulation in HIF-2 α deficient (shHIF-2α) MAH cells. Densitometric analysis of changes in Kir6.2 subunit expression normalized β-actin (A; right). (B) Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay demonstrating binding of HIF-2a to the promoter region of Kir6.2 gene in opioid-treated MAH cells. Note hypoxia response element (HRE) within the promoter region of rat and mouse Kir6.2 gene (upper); the HIF core site (GCGTG) spans nucleotides -1087 to -1083 and HIF ancillary site (CACAG) spans nucleotides -1065 to -1061. Lysates from untreated control (Untr) and opioid-treated wild type (w.t.), shHIF2 α , and ScCont MAH cells were subjected to ChIP assay using a HIF-2 α polyclonal antibody (lower). PCR analysis was performed using a primer pair designed to span the putative HRE upstream of the promoter region. Technical controls include a ChIP performed using non-specific IgG monoclonal antibody (IgG) and a starting material control (Input). (C) VEGF mRNA expression as determined by Q-PCR analysis in control (untreated) and opioid-treated MAH cells (n=3). Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 3; Mann-Whitney U-test; *P < 0.05).

FIGURE 3



147

Opioids

0-

T Untreated

Figure 4: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on Kir6.2 and HIF-2α expression in MAH cells.

(A) Western blot analysis of HIF-2 α accumulation in MAH cells cultured with combined μ - and δ - opioid agonists (2 μ M) \pm naloxone (2 μ M), or with naloxone only (2 μ M), for 7 days. (B) Timedependent HIF-2 α and Kir6.2 protein expression in MAH cells exposed to combined opioids (2 μ M) for 24 hr, 3 days, and 7 days in culture. β -actin was used as loading control for cytoplasmic extracts in the case of Kir6.2, and TATA-Binding Protein (TBP) for nuclear extracts in the case of HIF-2 α . Results show progressive increase in Kir6.2 expression that parallels HIF-2 α accumulation following chronic opioids; for both Kir6.2 and HIF-2 α the increase is significant at 3 and 7 days (B,C). (C) Densitometric analysis demonstrating the fold induction in Kir6.2 subunit expression and HIF-2 α accumulation normalized to loading control. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 3; Anova; **P* < 0.05).

FIGURE 4



1

0

0

30245

2ª hrs

1 days

Figure 5: Effects of chronic opioid exposure on carbonic anhydrase II (CAII) expression in MAH cells. (A) mRNA expression analysis of CAII in control MAH cells, in MAH cells cultured with combined μ - and δ - opioid agonists (2 μ M) \pm naloxone (2 μ M), and in MAH cells cultured with naloxone (2 μ M) only, for 7 days. **P* < 0.05, n=3 for each group. One-way ANOVA was used for multiple comparisons within groups. (B) Western blot analysis showing expression of CAII protein in MAH cells grown under similar conditions. β -actin was used as an internal control. Note naloxone-sensitive increase in CAII expression in MAH cells following chronic opioids in A and B.

FIGURE 5

Α



В

Figure 6: Effects of HIF-2 α -deficiency on expression of carbonic anhydrase II (CAII) expression in MAH cells. (A, upper) Western blots of CAII protein expression in control MAH cells, HIF-2 α -deficient (shHIF2 α) MAH cells, and scrambled control (ScCont) MAH cells, cultured with or without combined opioid agonists (2 μ M) for 7 days. Lower histogram (A) shows densitometric analysis of CAII protein expression normalized to β -actin under the various conditions indicated. Note the opioid-mediated downregulation of CAII is absent in HIF-2 α - deficient MAH cells. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 3; Anova; **P* < 0.05). (B) Putative hypoxia response element (HRE) within the promoter region of CAII gene. The HIF core site (ACGTG) spans nucleotides -1774 to -1769 and HIF ancillary site (CACGT) spans nucleotides - 1793 to -1788. Note the putative HRE is located on the antisense strand.

FIGURE 6


Figure 7: Effects of protein kinase inhibitors on expression of Kir6.2, CAII and HIF-2 α in MAH cells following chronic opioid exposure. (A) Western blot analysis showing the effects of protein kinase inhibition on Kir6.2 expression in opioid-treated MAH cells. Inhibitors of protein kinase A (H-89) (2 μ M), but not inhibitors of protein kinase C (GF109203X) (2 μ M) or CaM kinase (KN-62) (3 μ M), prevented the upregulation of Kir6.2 in opioid-treated cells. Densitometric analysis of Kir6.2 subunit expression normalized to β -actin is shown in histogram (right). A similar protocol was used to study the effects of protein kinase inhibitors on CAII expression relative to β -actin (B), and HIF-2 α accumulation relative to TBP (C), in opioid-treated MAH cells. Note the PKA inhibitor (H-89) prevented the opioid-induced downregulation of CAII expression, but not HIF-2 α accumulation, in MAH cells. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM (n = 3; Anova; **P* < 0.05).



FIGURE 7

155

Figure 8: Effects of chronic opioids on hypoxia-evoked ATP release from MAH cells. Bioluminescence recordings expressed as relative light units (RLU) were normalized to control (Normoxia). Chemostimulation with hypoxia (PO₂ ~15–20 mmHg) caused a significant (Anova; *P < 0.01) increase in extracellular ATP levels in control MAH cells (left), and the effect was reversible after a return to a normoxic solution (recovery). Following exposure of MAH cells to chronic opioids for ~1 week *in vitro*, the effect of hypoxia on ATP release was blunted; co-incubation of opioids with naloxone prevented this blunting effect. Inset (right) shows a plot of normalized RLU values (±SEM) versus ATP concentration.

FIGURE 8



Figure 9: Effects of maternal morphine injections on the expression of K_{ATP} channel subunit (Kir6.2), carbonic anhydrase (CAI & II) enzymes and hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) in adrenal gland tissues of affected neonates. Western blot analyses of K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2 (A), CAI & II (B), and HIF-1 α & HIF-2 α (C) expression in adrenal medulla (AM) and adrenal cortex (AC) of saline- and morphine-exposed rat pups. Note the increased Kir6.2 subunit and reduced CAI and CAII expression (relative to β -actin) in AM, but not AC, of morphine-exposed pups. Also, note the selective increase in HIF-2 α , but not HIF-1 α , accumulation (relative to TBP) in AM of morphine-exposed pups as shown in C. Data are expressed as means ± SEM (n = 3; Anova; **P* < 0.05).



Figure 10: Proposed signalling pathway for chronic opioid-induced regulation of hypoxia and hypercapnia sensitivity in neonatal chromaffin cells. In neonatal (untreated) chromaffin cells, hypoxia causes inhibition of Ca²⁺-dependent (SK, BK) K⁺ and Kv currents, and simultaneous activation K_{ATP} current, resulting in membrane depolarization, voltage-gated Ca²⁺ entry and CAT release. The depolarization in response to hypercapnia is dependent on carbonic anhydrase (CA) I and/or II activity. Opioid-treated cells on the other hand are no longer sensitive to hypoxia or hypercapnia due to the opioid-induced upregulation of K_{ATP} channels and downregulation of CA I & II, respectively. The regulation of K_{ATP} and (at least) CAII expression is dependent on PKA activation and HIF-2α accumulation.



CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION

This thesis addressed the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the ontogeny of low O_2 (hypoxia) and high CO_2 (hypercapnia) chemosensitivity of rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs), and particularly the role of nicotinic and opioid receptor signalling. These asphyxial stressors are experienced by the newborn during the stages of labor and birth, and occur as a result of uterine contractions (Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986). Sensitivity of AMCs to these stressors is important for the neonate as it triggers catecholamine (CAT) secretion, which is a critical event for a number of physiological adaptations that ensure proper transition to extrauterine life. These adaptations include maintenance of cardiac contraction and preparation of lungs for air breathing. In addition, soon after birth, the neonate experiences apneic episodes (resulting from intermittent cessation of breathing) during which CAT release from AMCs in response to asphyxial stressors is essential for maintaining homeostasis (Lagercrantz & Bistoletti, 1977; Seidler & Slotkin, 1985; Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986; Slotkin & Seidler, 1988; Stokowski, 2005; Hillman et al., 2012). However, these 'direct' responses to asphyxial stimuli in AMCs are lost postnatally following the development of splanchnic innervation of the adrenal medulla. Thus, in juvenile and adult animals, CAT secretion from the adrenal gland during stress is 'neurogenic' and is mediated principally via cholinergic transmission at nicotinic synapses between splanchnic nerve terminals and AMCs (Lagercrantz & Bistoletti, 1977; Lagercrantz & Slotkin, 1986; Seidler & Slotkin, 1986; Slotkin & Seidler, 1988; Munoz-Cabello et al., 2005; Rico et al., 2005). Denervation of the adrenal gland results in a gradual return of the 'direct' hypoxic chemosensitivity (Slotkin & Seidler, 1988; Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009), suggesting that the ontogeny of O₂ sensitivity in AMCs is under neural control. Moreover, responses of AMCs to additional stressors such as hypoglycemia also

appear to be suppressed postnatally following splanchnic innervation (Livermore *et al.*, 2011; Livermore *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, it was hypothesized that maturation of splanchnic innervation plays a role in the developmental regulation of chromaffin cell responses to stressors such as hypoxia, hypercapnia, and hypoglycemia. However, the underlying mechanisms were poorly understood when this thesis began.

This thesis has made novel contributions towards our understanding of the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the regulation of the direct O₂ and CO₂ chemosensitivity in developing AMCs. In addition to identifying key contributions from nicotinic ACh and opioid receptor signalling pathways, this thesis also uncovered novel roles of the transcription factor HIF-2 α , in the regulation of chemosensitivity. A combination of both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models were employed during my studies. For most of the cellular and functional studies, primary AMCs were isolated from neonatal rat pups and exposed to nicotinic ACh or opioid receptor agonists (± antagonists) in culture for ~7 days. For studies of the underlying molecular and intracellular signalling mechanisms, use of the immortalized fetal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin (MAH) cell line proved to be advantageous. This line shares similar chemosensitive properties to primary neonatal AMCs and, additionally, both HIF-2 α -deficient (>90% knockdown) and scrambled control MAH cell lines were readily available in our laboratory (Brown *et al.*, 2009).

The *in vivo* models used in this thesis involved isolation of neonatal adrenal glands from rat pups exposed to either chronic nicotine or morphine *in utero* (Fearon *et al.*, 2002; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008b). Chapter 2 examined the role of the transcription factor, HIF-2 α , in the nicotine-induced upregulation of K_{ATP} channel expression in chromaffin cells using both *in vivo* and *in vitro* models. Chapter 3 provided evidence for the contribution of chronic stimulation of postsynaptic μ - and δ opioid receptors to the suppression of the direct O₂ and CO₂chemosensitivity in primary neonatal chromaffin cells using an *in vitro* model. Chapter 4 identified molecular mechanisms involved in the chronic opioid-induced suppression of the hypoxic and hypercapnic sensitivity in chromaffin cells and the underlining role of HIF-2 α in the signalling pathway using both *in vivo* and *in vitro* models. Collectively, the findings in the three data chapters of this thesis showed: (i) a common HIF-2 α -dependent upregulation of K_{ATP} channel expression as the main contributor to the nicotineand opioid-induced blunting of hypoxic sensitivity; and (ii) a HIF-2 α -dependent downregulation of carbonic anhydrase (CA) I and II as the main contributor to the opioid-induced blunting of hypercapnic sensitivity.

Role of postsynaptic opioid receptor stimulation in regulating the direct O_2 and CO_2/H^+ chemosensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs

As noted earlier, chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs is lost postnatally following maturation of splanchnic innervation, and returns following denervation of adult AMCs. This led to the hypothesis that tonic release of neurochemicals from the splanchnic nerve, stimulated postsynaptic receptors on chromaffin cells, leading to the suppression of direct asphyxial chemosensitivity. In addition to the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh), splanchnic nerve terminals release a few other chemicals including pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide (PACAP) (Kuri *et al.*, 2009), histamine (Holgert *et al.*, 1998), vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) (Yoshikawa *et al.*, 1990) and opiate peptides (Kobayashi et al., 1985). Buttigieg et al., (2009) tested the effects of chronically stimulating the nicotinic ACh receptors (nAChRs) on the direct O₂ and CO₂/H⁺ chemosensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs; they found that chronic nicotine, *in vitro* and *in utero*, selectively blunted the direct O₂ chemosensitivity, but not the CO₂ chemosensitivity (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008a). This suggested that other factors may account for the postnatal loss of CO₂

chemosensitivity in the developing AMCs. Among these are opioid peptides that are present in splanchnic nerve terminals (Holgert *et al.*, 1998), and they are known to activate opioid receptors on AMCs (Bunn *et al.*, 1988; Kimura *et al.*, 1988; Wittert *et al.*, 1996; Keating *et al.*, 2004). This hypothesis was tested in Chapter 3 of this thesis, where it was shown that chronic treatment of neonatal rat AMCs with μ - and/or δ -opioid agonists (2 μ M) *in vitro* suppressed both hypoxia and hypercapnia chemosensitivity. In contrast, treatment with the κ -opioid agonist had no effect on hypoxia or hypercapnia sensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs. The blunting effects of chronic opioid exposure on hypoxia and hypercapnia chemosensitivity were prevented during co-incubation with the general opioid receptor antagonist, naloxone (2 μ M), demonstrating specificity of signalling pathway through opioid receptors.

The above data contrast with a previous study showing that *acute* exposure of neonatal rat adrenal medulla to opioid peptides did not prevent hypoxia-induced CAT secretion (Rico *et al.*, 2005). In the present study, however, chronic exposures (~1 week) to opioid agonists were used as this is more likely to mimic the time-dependent effects of splanchnic innervation that occurs gradually over the first 1-2 postnatal weeks (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985, 1986). In addition, opioid agonists were omitted from the bathing solution when the electrophysiological experiments in Chapter 3 were performed to test for chemosensitivity. Therefore, our chronic experiments are likely to be a more realistic model for mimicking the effects of splanchnic innervation. In summary, these experiments support the hypothesis and provide a general model to explain the developmental loss of direct O_2 and CO_2 chemosensitivity in AMCs following splanchnic innervation.

Fundamental mechanisms involved in nicotine- and opioid-induced suppression of the direct O₂ chemosensitivity in chromaffin cells

Responsiveness to hypoxia in chromaffin cells involves inhibition of O_2 -sensitive K⁺ channels (e.g. SK channels) which is the primary event initiating membrane depolarization. Membrane depolarization signals intracellular Ca²⁺ increase through voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels and CAT secretion. At the same time, mitochondrial inhibition results in a fall in intracellular ATP levels and activation of ATP-sensitive K⁺ (K_{ATP}) channels. Activation of these channels is thought to act as a 'brake' that modulates cell excitability and limits CAT secretion (Nurse et al., 2009). As mentioned earlier, both chronic nicotine and chronic opioids contribute to the blunting of hypoxic chemosensitivity in neonatal rat AMCs (Buttigieg et al., 2008a; Salman et al., 2013). This blunting effect can occur via a variety of molecular mechanisms including: modulation of the oxygen sensor, modulation in the expression of O₂-sensitive K⁺ (i.e. SK, BK, Kv and K_{ATP} channel) and/or voltage-gated Ca²⁺ (e.g. T-type) channels involved in regulating hypoxic sensitivity. During hypoxia, the depolarization induced by K⁺ channel (i.e. SK, BK and Kv) inhibition predominates over the hyperpolarization induced by K_{ATP} channel activation, leading to a net depolarization and CAT secretion. If this balance is disturbed (e.g. due to relative changes in channel expression), it would accordingly modulate the effects of hypoxia on CAT secretion. For example, if the effect of KATP channel-induced hyperpolarization predominates over the depolarization induced K⁺ channel inhibition, this would result in a net hyperpolarization that ultimately suppresses hypoxic sensitivity. This mechanism has been previously proposed to explain the chronic nicotine-induced blunting of hypoxia chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs (Buttigieg et al., 2009). Similarly, chronic opioid exposure causes an increase in the magnitude of the KATP current density, leading to a blunting of hypoxia sensitivity in neonatal AMCs (shown in Chapter 3). The fact that responses to

hypoxia were rescued in opioid-treated AMCs by blocking K_{ATP} channel activation with glibenclamide suggests that the 'defect' is predominantly downstream of the oxygen sensor, which appears to be functionally intact. These observations, however, do not rule out a potential contribution from the T-type Ca²⁺ channel, which has been reported to be critically involved in the hypoxia-induced CAT secretion from neonatal rat adrenal slices (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009).

The molecular studies in Chapter 3 demonstrated an increased expression of the K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2, in opioid-treated neonatal AMCs relative to untreated controls. These data supported the electrophysiological studies showing an increased K_{ATP} current density in these opioid-treated cells (Chapter 3; NOTE chapter 4 deals with MAH cell exposures).

The *in vitro* studies in Chapters 2 and 3 demonstrated that the upregulation of the K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2, is a common molecular mechanism for blunting hypoxia sensitivity in chromaffin cells exposed chronically to either nicotine or opioids. The validity of this conclusion was further confirmed with the use of *in vivo* models where adrenomedullary tissue or primary neonatal AMCs were obtained from rat pups chronically exposed throughout gestation to either nicotine or morphine *in utero*. Interestingly, western blot analysis showed an increased K_{ATP} channel subunit (Kir.6.2) expression in medullary (but not cortical) tissues excised from adrenal glands of both nicotine- and opioid-exposed pups, when compared to saline-treated controls (Chapters 2 and 4). Moreover, it was previously demonstrated that pre-treatment of nicotine-treated pups with the K_{ATP} channel blocker, glibenclamide, reduced their mortality rate following exposure to a hypoxic challenge (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). These observations are significant since they highlight the important role of K_{ATP} channel regulation in the nicotine- and opioid-induced blunting of hypoxic chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs.

Signalling mechanisms leading to K_{ATP} channel upregulation in nicotine- and opioid-treated AMCs: Role of the transcription factor HIF-2 α and protein kinase activation

Simulation of either nAChRs (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009) or opioid receptors (Chapter 3) activates signalling cascades that ultimately lead to upregulation of K_{ATP} channel expression in neonatal rat AMCs. In Chapter 4, the underlying molecular mechanisms involved in these signalling cascades were explored using an immortalized, fetal-derived rat chromaffin (MAH) cell line as a model. One important key regulator in both nicotine and opioid signalling pathways was the transcription factor, hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-2 α . HIFs are a family of transcription factor complexes consisting of an α subunit (e.g. HIF-1 α or HIF-2 α) and a β subunit (HIF-1 β) that are involved in regulating oxygen homeostasis (Semenza, 2009). Historically, they have been known to be induced by hypoxic stimuli, however, it has recently been appreciated that they can also be induced by 'non-hypoxic' stimuli such as vasoactive hormones (Richard *et al.*, 2000), thermal and mechanical stress (Kim *et al.*, 2002), and inflammation (Taylor, 2008).

The involvement of HIF-2 α in the signalling cascade leading to K_{ATP} channel upregulation during nicotine exposure was first demonstrated using a HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cell line (shMAH) (Brown *et al.*, 2009; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). In these studies, though chronic nicotine was found to be effective in blunting hypoxia sensitivity in wild type and scrambled control MAH cells, it was ineffective in HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cells (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Molecular studies in Chapter 2 revealed that chronic nicotine induced a gradual, progressive increase in HIF-2 α accumulation that occurred in parallel with the increase in K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2, in MAH cells. These effects of nicotine were sensitive to the α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7 nAChR) blocker, α -bungarotoxin, suggesting the involvement of α 7 nAChRs in the signalling pathway. Moreover,

the effect was specific to the Kir6.2 subunit of the K_{ATP} channel, as the SUR1 subunit expression was unaffected. Further investigation using a ChIP assay revealed the direct binding of HIF-2 α to a hypoxia response element (HRE) located in the promoter region of the gene encoding the K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2 (Figure 1).

Interestingly, the use of inhibitors of general kinases revealed the requirement of PKC and CaMK activation for nicotine-induced upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit (Buttigieg et al., 2009). Collectively, these data suggested the nicotine-induced signalling cascade involved a7 nAChR, kinase activation (PKC and CaMK), and HIF-2α-dependent transcriptional upregulation of the K_{ATP} channel subunit, Kir6.2 (Chapter 2; (Salman et al., 2012). The relationship between α7 nAChR, HIF-2 α , and protein kinase activation in this pathway is currently unknown. However, we speculate that changes in intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis via a7 nAChR are involved. In PC 12 cells, intermittent hypoxia is known to activate Ca²⁺-dependent protease pathways that lead to HIF-2α degradation (Prabhakar et al., 2009). The status of α7 nAChRs during the chronic experiments described in Chapter 2 is uncertain, however, desensitization of nAChRs is generally a common feature of chronic nicotine exposure (Albuquerque et al., 2009). It is possible that chronic nicotine induced a loss of α 7 nAChR function, leading to the progressive increase in HIF-2 α accumulation in chromaffin cells, as suggested for HIF-1a in a previous study on nicotine-treated SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells (Ridley et al., 2002). However, it remains to be tested whether PKC and CaMK involvement occurs upstream or downstream of HIF-2a accumulation in this signalling pathway.

Similar to chronic nicotine, exposure of perinatal AMCs to chronic μ -and δ -opioid led to a slow progressive accumulation of HIF-2 α that paralleled the increase in Kir6.2 expression. Moreover, ChIP analysis in Chapter 4 demonstrated the direct binding of HIF-2 α to the HRE located in promoter region of Kir6.2 gene in opioid-treated MAH cells. This study suggested that HIF-2 α dependent upregulation of K_{ATP} channel expression could explain the blunting effects of chronic opioids on hypoxia chemosensitivity in primary rat neonatal AMCs, as described in Chapter 3 (see Figure 1). The idea that chronic opioid exposure could induce HIF accumulation was previously proposed in human SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells (Daijo *et al.*, 2011). In that study, exposure to μ -and δ -opioid agonists led to an increase in HIF-1 α accumulation that was apparent after 8 hours. In the present study however, exposure to μ -and δ -opioid agonists triggered accumulation of a different HIF isoform, i.e. HIF-2 α , and the effect was significant only after 3 days of exposure (Chapter 4). Although the fate of HIF-1 α in opioid-treated MAH cells is unknown, it is noteworthy that HIF-2 α , but not HIF-1 α , was upregulated in adrenomedullary tissue of morphine-exposed rat pups (see later). Therefore, it is possible that the effects of opioids are cell-type specific, depending on the particular factors and second messengers expressed in those cells.

Similarly, exposure to chronic nicotine (a non-hypoxic stimulus) led to HIF-2 α accumulation in chromaffin cells (Chapter 2), whereas the same stimulus led to HIF-1 α accumulation in human small cell lung cancers (Zhang *et al.*, 2007). It is noteworthy that the effects of HIF-2 α accumulation in the nicotine- and opioid-induced signalling pathways were not limited to the upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit only. Western blot analysis revealed that another common HIF target, i.e. vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), was also upregulated in both nicotine- and opioid-treated MAH cells (Chapters 2 and 4), further confirming the increase in transcriptional activity of HIF-2 α under these conditions.

The use of protein kinase inhibitors demonstrated that PKA activation (but not PKC or CaMK) was required for the opioid-induced Kir6.2 upregulation in MAH cells. These experiments identified another signalling component in this pathway. Further investigations showed that PKA

inhibition had no effect on HIF-2 α accumulation, suggesting that PKA activity in this signalling pathway is required downstream of (or in parallel to) HIF-2 α induction (Figure 1). A recent study showed that HIF-1 α is induced by μ - and δ -opioid receptor activation in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells via activation of PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling pathway (Daijo *et al.*, 2011). It is possible that opioids activate a similar signalling pathway (e.g. distinct mTOR complex (mTORC2) and Akt isoform (Akt2) specific for HIF-2 α (Toschi *et al.*, 2008)) leading to HIF-2 α accumulation in MAH cells. This possibility, however, remains to be tested.

Molecular mechanisms involved in opioid-induced suppression of the direct CO₂ chemosensitivity in chromaffin cells

As discussed earlier, chronic opioid exposure blunts both hypoxia and hypercapnia sensitivity in perinatal AMCs, thereby mimicking the effects of innervation. Hypercapnia sensitivity is mediated by activation of a resting cationic conductance that triggers membrane depolarization, as well as the inhibition of voltage-gated K⁺ channels that contributes to prolongation of the action potential and increased CAT secretion (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). These responses are prevented in the presence of the carbonic anhydrase (CA) inhibitor, methazolamide (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005). Neonatal rat AMCs express only two of the seven carbonic anhydrase (CA) isoforms, i.e. CA I and II (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2008a). Chronic exposure of primary neonatal rat AMCs to μ -and δ -opioids blunted the hypercapnia-induced receptor potential and inhibition of outward K⁺ current (Chapter 3). Consistent with the postnatal downregulation of CAI and II expression in the rat adrenal medulla following splanchnic innervation (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005), molecular analyses in Chapter 3 showed a marked downregulation in CAI and II expression in opioid-treated neonatal AMCs. Interestingly, medullary tissues from adrenal glands isolated from *in utero* morphine-exposed pups showed decreased expression of CAI and CAII relative to saline-treated controls (see below). It is noteworthy that the expression of both CAI and CAII was not affected in primary neonatal AMCs isolated from nicotine-exposed pups (Buttigieg et al., 2008a). This is consistent with the idea that, in contrast to opioid innervation, nicotinic cholinergic innervation is not involved in the regulation of CO₂ sensitivity in postnatal rat AMCs.

Molecular mechanisms leading to carbonic anhydrase (CA) II downregulation in opioidtreated chromaffin cells: Role of transcription factor HIF-2a and protein kinase activation An interesting and novel finding in this thesis was the requirement of HIF-2 α for the opioidinduced downregulation of CAII as demonstrated by the use of HIF-2 α -deficient MAH cells. HIF has recently been recognized to function as both a transcriptional activator and repressor (Manalo *et al.*, 2005). Some genes such as α -fetoprotein and LIFR are known to be repressed by the direct binding HIF-1α to a reverse HRE (rHREs) that is located on the antisense strand (Narravula & Colgan, 2001; Mazure et al., 2002; Jeong et al., 2007). Likewise, a search for (a) rHRE(s) in CAII promoter region identified a putative rHRE (~ 1.7 kb upstream from the translation initiation site) on the antisense strand suggesting a mechanism by which HIF-2 α may downregulate CAII expression in opioid-treated MAH cells. However, this possibility needs to be validated in future experiments (e.g. ChIP analysis). Despite evidence suggesting HIF binding to a rHRE may serve as a repressive mechanism, a recent study identified a large number of genes that are repressed by HIF-1a in situations where no specific HRE pattern was identified (Manalo et al., 2005). Therefore, the presence of rHRE on the antisense strand may not necessarily be a requirement for HIF-repression mechanisms. On the other hand, tumor-associated CAs, i.e. CAIX and CAXII, are known to be induced by HIF-1 α during hypoxia, though a HRE has been identified on the antisense

strand of CAIX gene promoter (Wykoff *et al.*, 2000). In the case of opioid-treated MAH cells, it is also plausible that HIF-2 α may regulate another factor that ultimately leads to the repression of CAII expression. Therefore, while data in this thesis provide novel evidence for the HIF-2 α dependent downregulation of CAII in opioid-treated chromaffin cells, further experiments are required to understand the underlying mechanisms.

Additionally, and as previously discussed for the opioid-induced upregulation of Kir6.2, PKA activation was required for the opioid-induced downregulation of CAII in MAH cells (Chapter 4; see also Figure 1). Overall, these studies identified key elements in the μ - and δ - opioid receptor signalling pathway that are involved in the regulation of CAII expression in AMCs.

Effects of *in utero* exposure to chronic nicotine and morphine on the expression of Kir6.2, CAII and HIF-2α in the neonatal adrenal medulla vs cortex

In Chapters 2 and 4, I tested the predictions made *in vitro* (using primary cell cultures of neonatal AMCs or immortalized MAH cells) using an *in vivo* model that was more physiologically relevant. Adrenomedullary tissues isolated from rat pups exposed to either nicotine or morphine *in utero* showed an increase in Kir6.2 expression relative to (control) saline-treated pups. By contrast, cortical tissues, which also normally express Kir6.2 subunit (Xu & Enyeart, 2001; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009), showed no change in Kir6.2 expression after morphine exposure (Chapter 4). These data, however, match perfectly the known distribution of the respective nicotinic and opioid receptors in the adrenal gland. For example, α -bungarotoxin-sensitive- α 7 nAChRs (Criado *et al.*, 1997; Mousavi *et al.*, 2001), as well as μ - and δ -opioid receptors (Wittert *et al.*, 1996) are expressed on chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla, whereas the cortex lacks expression of these receptors. Thus, the restricted expression of these receptors can explain the selective nicotine- and opioid-

induced upregulation of Kir6.2 expression in the medulla (versus the cortex), and further points to specificity in the actions of nicotine and opioid agonists during these studies.

In addition, use of the *in vivo* model allowed the investigation of the effects of morphine exposure on the expression of the two CO₂ markers, CAI and CAII. Examination of adrenal gland tissues from morphine-exposed pups revealed the downregulation of both CAI and CAII protein, and this effect was also confined to the adrenal medullary tissue where the two isoforms have been shown to be expressed (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005).

Finally, HIF-2a accumulation in this in vivo model was also tested. Both in utero nicotine and morphine exposures led to an increase in HIF-2 α accumulation in the medullary region of the adrenal glands of affected pups. Interestingly, and similar to the Kir6.2 expression pattern, this effect was specific to the medulla only, even though HIF-2 α expression was found in both the medullary and cortical tissues. These results validated the predictions made in vitro using the MAH cell line and primary AMC cell cultures, and emphasized the requirement for a functional receptormediated signalling pathway, thereby ruling out non-specific actions of the drugs. Moreover, the effect of morphine was restricted to HIF-2 α accumulation only, as HIF-1 α expression was not significantly affected in morphine-exposed tissues. Unlike the ubiquitous expression of HIF-1 α , HIF-2 α expression is more tissue specific and in general, it has been implicated in the functions of cells derived from the sympathoadrenal lineage (Bishop et al., 2008; Brown & Nurse, 2008; Brown et al., 2009). This confirms that although the two transcription factors are paralogs, they may activate distinct signalling pathways that are cell type -specific even when both are expressed in the same cells/tissues. In this regard, a mutual antagonism has been recently reported between HIF- 1α and HIF- 2α that controls the cellular redox status and regulates O₂ sensitivity in the carotid body and adrenal medulla (Yuan et al., 2013). Collectively, it is possible that the morphineinduced increase in HIF-2 α accumulation seen in the *in vivo* studies leads to the upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit and the downregulation in CAI and CAIIs, as predicted by the *in vitro* MAH cell.

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS OF THIS THESIS

1. Maternal health and its implication in Sudden Infant Death Syndrome

Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS) is the third leading cause of postnatal death in North America, and is characterized by an unexplained sudden death of an infant with no previous medical history (Kung *et al.*, 2008). Research has shown that SIDS-affected infants display a failure in activating natural respiratory and arousal reflexes (Kato *et al.*, 2003), which can protect the infant from prolonged fatal apneic events (van der Hal *et al.*, 1985). Respiratory and arousal reflexes are mediated by input from chemoreceptors localized in the central nervous system and periphery (carotid body and adrenal gland in neonate) (Feldman *et al.*, 2003). The underlying causes for a blunted reflex activation in SIDS victims are largely unknown but have been significantly correlated to prenatal exposure to either nicotine or opiates, via maternal cigarette smoking or drug use respectively. Importantly, this thesis suggests potential mechanisms by which exposure to these drugs might lead to abnormal adrenal responses in the newborn, and consequently, impaired arousal reflexes during apneic episodes, and uncovered novel molecular and physiological effects of both nicotine and opiate exposure.

1.1.Prenatal Nicotine Exposure

Maternal cigarette smoking during pregnancy has been linked to poor pregnancy outcome and a higher rate of Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS) (Slotkin *et al.*, 1995; Sawnani *et al.*, 2004; Cohen *et al.*, 2005; Rogers, 2008; Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Nicotine is the most pharmacologically

active component of cigarette smoke (Dani & Harris, 2005) and is known to readily cross the fetal circulation (Law et al., 2003). Nicotine readily crosses the placenta and binds to nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) (Law et al., 2003), which are expressed in the adrenal gland, brain, and brainstem regions involved in cardiorespiratory and arousal control (Kinney et al., 1993; Mousavi et al., 2001; Falk et al., 2005). Many studies have reported abnormalities in arousal reflexes in nicotine-exposed infants (Chang et al., 2003; Richardson et al., 2009), as well as abnormalities in cholinergic and serotonergic transmission in these brain centres (Falk et al., 2005; Lavezzi et al., 2005). Central chemoreceptors in the retrotrapezoid nucleus (Guyenet et al., 2008) and preBötzinger complex (Montandon et al., 2011)) are primarily sensitive to changes in arterial PCO₂ and pH (Solomon *et al.*, 2000; Mulkey *et al.*, 2004). Together, these studies suggest that the brainstem is likely a key target of nicotine exposure in SIDS infants. However, nicotinic AChRs are also present in peripheral chemoreceptors which represent other potential targets of circulating nicotine. For instance, nicotinic nAChRs have been identified in peripheral carotid body chemoreceptors (Wyatt & Peers, 1993; Obeso et al., 1997), and it has been proposed that the inhibitory effect of nicotine-induced dopamine release from these receptors attenuates cardiorespiratory reflexes to hypoxia (Hafstrom et al., 2002; Hafstrom et al., 2005; Gauda et al., 2009). However, the carotid body chemoreceptors are relatively insensitive to hypoxia at birth (Donnelly, 2000). By contrast, this period coincides with the time when chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla investigated in this thesis are most sensitive to hypoxia (and hypercapnia), and therefore likely to play a more dominant role in arousal reflexes in the neonate. As discussed in the Introduction, catecholamine secretion from adrenal chromaffin cells in response to asphyxial stressors at birth is essential for the proper establishment of cardiovascular and respiratory adaptations to air-breathing life (Seidler & Slotkin, 1985; Slotkin & Seidler, 1988). Key findings

uncovered in this thesis and previous studies from our laboratory demonstrated impaired ability of neonatal chromaffin cells to sense hypoxic stimuli after chronic nicotine exposure (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Importantly, in the latter study there was increased mortality in nicotine-exposed (vs saline-exposed) pups when subjected to a 45 min bout of hypoxia; moreover, this loss of hypoxia tolerance could be prevented by pre-injecting nicotine-exposed pups with the K_{ATP} channel blocker, glibenclamide (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). This thesis uncovered the link between nicotine exposure and the K_{ATP} channel, by demonstrating the key role of α 7 nicotinic nAChRs and subsequent accumulation of HIF-2 α , leading to the transcriptional upregulation of Kir6.2 subunit of the K_{ATP} channel. Thus, the peripheral action of nicotine on adrenal chromaffin cells *in utero* may also contribute to abnormal arousal reflexes and the pathophysiology of SIDS.

1.2. Prenatal Opioid Exposure

Similar to nicotine, opiates readily cross into the fetal circulation (Farid *et al.*, 2008). The use of opiates during pregnancy whether for drug abuse (e.g. heroin) or replacement therapy (e.g. methadone and naltrexone) has been linked to a number of adverse fetal and neonatal effects (Kandall & Gaines, 1991; Burns *et al.*, 2010). Methadone, for example, is the most commonly used substance for replacement therapy to treat heroin addiction in USA, UK and Australia (Burns *et al.*, 2007). Similar to morphine, it binds selectively to the μ -opioid receptor to produce morphine-like euphoric effects (Volpe *et al.*, 2011). However, human and animal studies link the use of methadone during pregnancy to a number of negative pregnancy outcomes associated with increased neonatal and fetal mortality and the incidence of SIDS (Slotkin *et al.*, 1976; Kashiwagi *et al.*, 2005; Burns *et al.*, 2010), in addition to respiratory and heart rate depression (Wouldes *et al.*, 2004; Jansson *et al.*, 2005). These observations are reminiscent of our *in vivo* study showing

that chronic morphine exposure *in utero* was associated with decreased litter size and higher rate of dams delivering stillborns. The surviving offspring would likely have been more prone to neonatal mortality if exposed to asphyxial stressors, as demonstrated for their nicotine-exposed counterparts (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, the present thesis raises the possibility that peripheral action of opiates in the blunting of O₂- and CO₂- chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs may contribute to the higher incidence and the pathophysiology of SIDS in infants born to opioiddependent mothers.

Naltrexone has emerged recently as an alternative replacement therapy for heroin- addicted pregnant mothers by acting as a general, non-selective opioid antagonist (Hulse et al., 2001). Small blood concentrations of naltrexone have been shown to effectively block higher concentrations of opiates, thereby minimizing the effects on the fetus. Recent human studies suggest it may have positive therapeutic potential for heroin-addicted mothers as it lacks the detrimental effects on the neonate (Hulse et al., 2001; Hulse & O'Neil, 2002; Hulse & O'Neill, 2002). In conclusion, our studies showing the negative effects of opioid exposure in utero on the chemosensitivity of neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells offer an explanation for the harmful effects of opiate use during pregnancy. Moreover, they provide mechanistic insight into the signalling pathways by which opioid exposure might lead to perinatal morbidities and loss of hypoxia tolerance in the newborn. As was the case for nicotine exposures, the transcription factor HIF-2 α and the regulation of K_{ATP} channel play central roles in chromaffin cell responses to chronic opioids. It is therefore likely that the KATP channel blocker glibenclamide may have protective effects for SIDS victims born to opioid-addicted mothers, by rescuing chromaffin cell responses to hypoxia. However, the adverse effects of chronic opioids on CO₂ sensitivity of chromaffin cells are not alleviated by this

treatment, though drugs that specifically target HIF-2 α might have the rapeutic potential in this regard.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Findings in chapter 2 demonstrated that nicotine-induced Kir6.2 subunit upregulation was dependent on the accumulation of the transcription factor, HIF-2 α . A previous study from our laboratory (Buttigieg *et al.*, 2009) showed that the effects of nicotine on hypoxia chemosensitivity was prevented when inhibiting PKC and CaMK, indicating their involvement in the nicotine-induced signalling pathway. We speculate that changes in intracellular Ca²⁺ are involved in this signalling pathway resulting in K_{ATP} channel upregulation, however further studies are required to elucidate the link between α 7 nAChR and HIF-2 α accumulation. Also, additional studies are needed to clarify whether PKC and CaMK act upstream or downstream of HIF-2 α in this signalling pathway.

Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis investigated the role of opioid receptor stimulation in regulating the direct O_2 and CO_2/H^+ chemosensitivity in neonatal AMCs. Chapter 3 showed that exposure of neonatal AMCs to chronic opioids led to suppression of both O_2 and CO_2/H^+ chemosensitivity. However, splanchnic nerve terminals release a few other chemicals including pituitary adenylate cyclase activating polypeptide (PACAP) (Kuri *et al.*, 2009), vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) (Yoshikawa *et al.*, 1990) and histamine (Holgert *et al.*, 1998). The release of these chemicals may also contribute to regulation of asphyxial chemosensitivity in chromaffin cells. Future experiments are required to address whether or not these chemicals also contribute to the postnatal regulation of direct chemosensitivity in chromaffin cells.

The focus of Chapter 2 in this thesis was to investigate cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the opioid-induced blunting of O₂ and CO₂ chemosensitivity in chromaffin cells.

However, chromaffin cells are also known to be sensitive to other asphyxial stressors such as acidity (low pH) and hypoglycemia (low glucose) that are also suppressed postnatally following innervation (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005; Rico *et al.*, 2005; Livermore *et al.*, 2011; Livermore *et al.*, 2012). It is currently unknown whether chronic opioid or nicotine exposure can regulate sensitivity to low pH or hypoglycemia. Furthermore, a number of ion channels have been proposed to be involved in acid sensitivity and shown to be modulated by extracellular or intracellular pH. In carotid body glomus cells, these channels include Ca^{2+} -activated K⁺ channels (Peers & Green, 1991), background tandem-p-domain, acid-sensitive K⁺ (TASK) channels (Buckler *et al.*, 2000), and the acid-sensing ion channels (ASICs) (Tan *et al.*, 2007). The canonical transient receptor potential (TRPC) channel family has been implicated in hypoglycemia sensitivity in the carotid body (Garcia-Fernandez *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, expansion of these studies with experiments similar to those described in Chapter 3 and 4 can help answer such interesting questions, and would shed more light on the postnatal regulation of asphyxial sensitivity in the developing AMCs.

Furthermore, neonatal rat AMCs express low voltage T-type Ca²⁺ channels which have been proposed to play a role in regulating hypoxia sensitivity (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009). Their expression decreases postnatally following splanchnic maturation (Levitsky & Lopez-Barneo, 2009). It is possible that chronic exposure to opioids (or other neurochemicals released from splanchnic nerve terminals) activates a signalling pathway that regulates T-type Ca²⁺ channel expression. Additional studies should address whether opioid peptides or other neurochemicals play a role in regulating T-type Ca²⁺ channel expression in the developing rat AMCs.

Finally, a recent study demonstrated HIF-1 α induction in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells via μ and δ -opioid receptor activation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling pathway (Daijo *et al.*, 2011). Data in Chapter 4 revealed that inhibition of PKA, PKC and CaMK did not significantly affect HIF-2 α accumulation. Therefore, it would be of interest to test the potential involvement of PI3K signalling pathway in the effects of chronic opioids on HIF-2 α accumulation demonstrated in this thesis using specific inhibitors (e.g. LY294002). Furthermore, while data in Chapter 4 suggest the dependence of opioid-induced regulation of CAII on HIF-2 α accumulation, the exact mechanisms are unknown. It is possible that HIF-2 α associates directly with CAII to repress its expression. It is also possible that HIF-2 α regulates a cellular messenger that mediates the opioid-induced repression of CAII expression. Therefore, further promoter and expression analysis studies (e.g. ChIP assay) are required to reveal the link between HIF-2 α and CAII expression.

Figure 1. Schematic representation showing the effects of stimulating nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) and opioid receptors on specific targets in the chemotransduction cascade in rat neonatal adrenomedullary chromaffin cells (AMCs). Chronic stimulation of the nAChRs and opioid receptors leads to suppression of the hypoxic chemosensitivity via mechanisms of HIF-2 α -dependent K_{ATP} channel upregulation. Activation of K_{ATP} channels during hypoxia induces membrane hyperpolarization that predominates membrane depolarization induced by inhibition of O₂-sensitive K⁺ channels (i.e. SK, BK, and K_v). This effect blunts the hypoxic response and CAT secretion. Unlike nAChRs, opioid receptor stimulation further blunts the hypercapnic response in neonatal AMCs, which correlates with the downregulation of carbonic anhydrase I and II (CAI/II). The downregulation of CA enzyme expression reduces the rate of CO₂ hydration and the decrease in intracellular pH, which is proposed as a potential mechanism to induce K⁺ channel inhibition leading to voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ entry and CAT secretion (Munoz-Cabello *et al.*, 2005).

FIGURE 1



"Juvenile" State (Low O₂- high CO₂-insensitive)

REFERENCES

- Albuquerque EX, Pereira EF, Alkondon M & Rogers SW. (2009). Mammalian nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: from structure to function. *Physiol Rev* **89**, 73-120.
- Anderson DJ. (1993a). Cell fate determination in the peripheral nervous system: the sympathoadrenal progenitor. *J Neurobiol* **24**, 185-198.
- Anderson DJ. (1993b). Molecular control of cell fate in the neural crest: the sympathoadrenal lineage. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 16, 129-158.
- Appelhoff RJ, Tian YM, Raval RR, Turley H, Harris AL, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ & Gleadle JM. (2004). Differential function of the prolyl hydroxylases PHD1, PHD2, and PHD3 in the regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor. *J Biol Chem* **279**, 38458-38465.
- Ashcroft FM & Gribble FM. (2000). New windows on the mechanism of action of K(ATP) channel openers. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **21**, 439-445.
- Ashford ML, Bond CT, Blair TA & Adelman JP. (1994). Cloning and functional expression of a rat heart KATP channel. *Nature* **370**, 456-459.
- Baek JH, Liu YV, McDonald KR, Wesley JB, Hubbi ME, Byun H & Semenza GL. (2007). Spermidine/spermine-N1-acetyltransferase 2 is an essential component of the ubiquitin ligase complex that regulates hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. J Biol Chem 282, 23572-23580.
- Baek JH, Mahon PC, Oh J, Kelly B, Krishnamachary B, Pearson M, Chan DA, Giaccia AJ & Semenza GL. (2005). OS-9 interacts with hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha and prolyl hydroxylases to promote oxygen-dependent degradation of HIF-1alpha. *Mol Cell* 17, 503-512.
- Ballanyi K. (2004). Protective role of neuronal KATP channels in brain hypoxia. *J Exp Biol* **207**, 3201–3212.
- Bencherif M. (2009). Neuronal nicotinic receptors as novel targets for inflammation and neuroprotection: mechanistic considerations and clinical relevance. Acta Pharmacol Sin 30, 702-714.
- Betito K, Diorio J, Meaney MJ & Boksa P. (1992). Adrenal phenylethanolamine Nmethyltransferase induction in relation to glucocorticoid receptor dynamics: evidence that acute exposure to high cortisol levels is sufficient to induce the enzyme. *J Neurochem* **58**, 1853-1862.

- Birren SJ & Anderson DJ. (1990). A v-myc-immortalized sympathoadrenal progenitor cell line in which neuronal differentiation is initiated by FGF but not NGF. *Neuron* **4**, 189-201.
- Bishop T, Gallagher D, Pascual A, Lygate CA, de Bono JP, Nicholls LG, Ortega-Saenz P, Oster H, Wijeyekoon B, Sutherland AI, Grosfeld A, Aragones J, Schneider M, van Geyte K, Teixeira D, Diez-Juan A, Lopez-Barneo J, Channon KM, Maxwell PH, Pugh CW, Davies AM, Carmeliet P & Ratcliffe PJ. (2008). Abnormal sympathoadrenal development and systemic hypotension in PHD3-/- mice. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 3386-3400.
- Boron W. (2011). Medical Physiology. Philadephia, Saunders.
- Bournaud R, Hidalgo J, Yu H, Girard E & Shimahara T. (2007). Catecholamine secretion from rat foetal adrenal chromaffin cells and hypoxia sensitivity. *Pflugers Arch* **454**, 83-92.
- Brown ST, Buttigieg J & Nurse CA. (2010). Divergent roles of reactive oxygen species in the responses of perinatal adrenal chromaffin cells to hypoxic challenges. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* **174**, 252-258.
- Brown ST, Kelly KF, Daniel JM & Nurse CA. (2009). Hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-2 alpha is required for the development of the catecholaminergic phenotype of sympathoadrenal cells. *J Neurochem* **110**, 622-630.
- Brown ST & Nurse CA. (2008). Induction of HIF-2alpha is dependent on mitochondrial O2 consumption in an O2-sensitive adrenomedullary chromaffin cell line. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **294**, C1305-1312.
- Brown ST, Reyes EP & Nurse CA. (2011). Chronic hypoxia upregulates adenosine 2a receptor expression in chromaffin cells via hypoxia inducible factor-2alpha: role in modulating secretion. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **412**, 466-472.
- Bruin JE, Petre MA, Raha S, Morrison KM, Gerstein HC & Holloway AC. (2008). Fetal and neonatal nicotine exposure in Wistar rats causes progressive pancreatic mitochondrial damage and beta cell dysfunction. *PLoS One* **3**, e3371.
- Buckler KJ, Williams BA & Honore E. (2000). An oxygen-, acid- and anaestheticsensitive TASKlike background potassium channel in rat arterial chemoreceptor cells. *J Physiol* **525(pt 1)**, 135-142.
- Bunn SJ, Marley PD & Livett BG. (1988). The distribution of opioid binding subtypes in the bovine adrenal medulla. *Neuroscience* 27, 1081-1094.
- Burns L, Conroy E & Mattick R. (2010a). Infant mortality among women on a methadone program during pregnancy. *Drug Alcohol Rev* **29**, 551-556.

- Burns L, Conroy E & Mattick RP. (2010b). Infant mortality among women on a methadone program during pregnancy. *Drug Alcohol Rev* **29**, 551-556.
- Burns L, Mattick RP, Lim K & Wallace C. (2007). Methadone in pregnancy: treatment retention and neonatal outcomes. *Addiction* **102**, 264-270.
- Burri PH. (2006). Structural aspects of postnatal lung development alveolar formation and growth. *Biol Neonate* **89**, 313-322.
- Burt AR, Carr IC, Mullaney I, Anderson NG & Milligan G. (1996). Agonist activation of p42 and p44 mitogen-activated protein kinases following expression of the mouse delta opioid receptor in Rat-1 fibroblasts: effects of receptor expression levels and comparisons with G-protein activation. *Biochem J* **320** (**Pt 1**), 227-235.
- Buttigieg J, Brown S, Holloway AC & Nurse CA. (2009). Chronic nicotine blunts hypoxic sensitivity in perinatal rat adrenal chromaffin cells via upregulation of KATP channels: role of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor and hypoxia-inducible factor-2alpha. *J Neurosci* **29**, 7137-7147.
- Buttigieg J, Brown S, Zhang M, Lowe M, Holloway AC & Nurse CA. (2007). Chronic nicotine in utero selectively suppresses hypoxic sensitivity in neonatal rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *FASEB J* 22, 1317-1326.
- Buttigieg J, Brown S, Zhang M, Lowe M, Holloway AC & Nurse CA. (2008a). Chronic nicotine in utero selectively suppresses hypoxic sensitivity in neonatal rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *FASEB J* **22**, 1317-1326.
- Buttigieg J, Brown ST, Holloway AC & Nurse CA. (2008b). Chronic nicotine blunts hypoxic sensitivity in perinatal rat adrenal chromaffin cells via upregulation of KATP channels: Role of α7 nicotinic AChR and hypoxia inducible factor-2α. *The Journal of Neuroscience* **29**, 7137–7147.
- Buttigieg J, Brown ST, Lowe M, Zhang M & Nurse CA. (2008c). Functional mitochondria are required for O2 but not CO2 sensing in immortalized adrenomedullary chromaffin cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 294, C945-956.
- Buttigieg J & Nurse CA. (2004). Detection of hypoxia-evoked ATP release from chemoreceptor cells of the rat carotid body. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **322**, 82-87.
- Carter BD & Medzihradsky F. (1993). Go mediates the coupling of the mu opioid receptor to adenylyl cyclase in cloned neural cells and brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90**, 4062-4066.
- Castanas E, Bourhim N, Giraud P, Boudouresque F, Cantau P & Oliver C. (1985a). Interaction of opiates with opioid binding sites in the bovine adrenal medulla: I. Interaction with delta and mu sites. *J Neurochem* **45**, 677-687.

- Castanas E, Bourhim N, Giraud P, Boudouresque F, Cantau P & Oliver C. (1985b). Interaction of opiates with opioid binding sites in the bovine adrenal medulla: II. Interaction with kappa sites. *J Neurochem* **45**, 688-699.
- Castillo CJ, Moro MA, Del Valle M, Sillero A, Garcia AG & Sillero MA. (1992). Diadenosine tetraphosphate is co-released with ATP and catecholamines from bovine adrenal medulla. *J Neurochem* **59**, 723-732.
- Ceccatelli S, Dagerlind A, Schalling M, Wikstrom AC, Okret S, Gustafsson JA, Goldstein M & Hokfelt T. (1989). The glucocorticoid receptor in the adrenal gland is localized in the cytoplasm of adrenaline cells. *Acta Physiol Scand* **137**, 559-560.
- Chang AB, Wilson SJ, Masters IB, Yuill M, Williams J, Williams G & Hubbard M. (2003). Altered arousal response in infants exposed to cigarette smoke. *Arch Dis Child* **88**, 30-33.

Chang KJ, Wilson SP & Viveros H. (1982). Co-storage and co-secretion of opioid peptides and catecholamines. *Advances in Biosciences* **36**, 243-248.

- Cheng CY, Wu SC, Hsin LW & Tam SW. (1992). Selective reversible and irreversible ligands for the kappa opioid receptor. *J Med Chem* **35**, 2243-2247.
- Cheung CY. (1990). Fetal adrenal medulla catecholamine response to hypoxia-direct and neural components. *Am J Physiol* **258**, R1340-1346.
- Cohen G, Roux JC, Grailhe R, Malcolm G, Changeux JP & Lagercrantz H. (2005). Perinatal exposure to nicotine causes deficits associated with a loss of nicotinic receptor function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 3817-3821.
- Comline RS & Silver M. (1961). The release of adrenaline and noradrenaline from the adrenal glands of the foetal sheep. *J Physiol* **156**, 424-444.
- Conforti L, Bodi I, Nisbet JW & Millhorn DE. (2000). O2-sensitive K+ channels: role of the Kv1.2 -subunit in mediating the hypoxic response. *J Physiol* **524 Pt 3**, 783-793.
- Conforti L & Millhorn DE. (1997). Selective inhibition of a slow-inactivating voltage-dependent K+ channel in rat PC12 cells by hypoxia. *J Physiol* **502** (**Pt 2**), 293-305.
- Cooper MJ, Hutchins GM & Israel MA. (1990). Histogenesis of the human adrenal medulla. An evaluation of the ontogeny of chromaffin and nonchromaffin lineages. *Am J Pathol* **137**, 605-615.
- Coupland RE & Weakley BS. (1970). Electron microscopic observation on the adrenal medulla and extra-adrenal chromaffin tissue of the postnatal rabbit. *J Anat* **106**, 213-231.
- Craig TJ, Ashcroft FM & Proks P. (2008). How ATP inhibits the open K(ATP) channel. J Gen Physiol 132, 131-144.

- Criado M, Dominguez del Toro E, Carrasco-Serrano C, Smillie FI, Juiz JM, Viniegra S & Ballesta JJ. (1997). Differential expression of alpha-bungarotoxin-sensitive neuronal nicotinic receptors in adrenergic chromaffin cells: a role for transcription factor Egr-1. *J Neurosci* 17, 6554-6564.
- Dagerlind A, Pelto-Huikko M, Diez M & Hokfelt T. (1995). Adrenal medullary ganglion neurons project into the splanchnic nerve. *Neuroscience* **69**, 1019-1023.
- Daijo H, Kai S, Tanaka T, Wakamatsu T, Kishimoto S, Suzuki K, Harada H, Takabuchi S, Adachi T, Fukuda K & Hirota K. (2011). Fentanyl activates hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in neuronal SH-SY5Y cells and mice under non-hypoxic conditions in a mu-opioid receptor-dependent manner. *Eur J Pharmacol* 667, 144-152.
- Dani JA & Harris RA. (2005). Nicotine addiction and comorbidity with alcohol abuse and mental illness. *Nat Neurosci* **8**, 1465-1470.
- Di Angelantonio S, Matteoni C, Fabbretti E & Nistri A. (2003). Molecular biology and electrophysiology of neuronal nicotinic receptors of rat chromaffin cells. *Eur J Neurosci* 17, 2313-2322.
- Donnelly DF. (2000). Developmental aspects of oxygen sensing by the carotid body. J Appl Physiol 88, 2296-2301.
- Douglas WW. (1968). Stimulus-secretion coupling: the concept and clues from chromaffin and other cells. *Br J Pharmacol* **34**, 451-474.
- Doupe AJ, Landis SC & Patterson PH. (1985). Environmental influences in the development of neural crest derivatives: glucocorticoids, growth factors, and chromaffin cell plasticity. *J Neurosci* **5**, 2119-2142.
- Drummond GB. (2009). Reporting ethical matters in the Journal of Physiology: standards and advice. *J Physiol* **587**, 713-719.
- Falk L, Nordberg A, Seiger A, Kjaeldgaard A & Hellstrom-Lindahl E. (2005). Smoking during early pregnancy affects the expression pattern of both nicotinic and muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in human first trimester brainstem and cerebellum. *Neuroscience* 132, 389-397.
- Farid WO, Dunlop SA, Tait RJ & Hulse GK. (2008). The effects of maternally administered methadone, buprenorphine and naltrexone on offspring: review of human and animal data. *Curr Neuropharmacol* **6**, 125-150.
- Faridy EE & Thliveris JA. (1987). Rate of secretion of lung surfactant before and after birth. *Respir Physiol* **68**, 269-277.

- Fearon IM, Thompson RJ, Samjoo I, Vollmer C, Doering LC & Nurse CA. (2002). O2-sensitive K+ channels in immortalised rat chromaffin-cell-derived MAH cells. J Physiol 545, 807-818.
- Feldman JL, Mitchell GS & Nattie EE. (2003). Breathing: rhythmicity, plasticity, chemosensitivity. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 26, 239-266.
- Feng B, Li Z & Wang JB. (2011). Protein kinase C-mediated phosphorylation of the mu-opioid receptor and its effects on receptor signaling. *Mol Pharmacol* **79**, 768-775.
- Fernandez-Espejo E, Armengol JA, Flores JA, Galan-Rodriguez B & Ramiro S. (2005). Cells of the sympathoadrenal lineage: biological properties as donor tissue for cell-replacement therapies for Parkinson's disease. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* **49**, 343-354.
- Fitzgerald RS. (2000). Oxygen and carotid body chemotransduction: the cholinergic hypothesis a brief history and new evaluation. *Respir Physiol* **120**, 89-104.
- Forsythe JA, Jiang BH, Iyer NV, Agani F, Leung SW, Koos RD & Semenza GL. (1996). Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Mol Cell Biol* **16**, 4604-4613.
- Free RB, Bryant DL, McKay SB, Kaser DJ & McKay DB. (2002). [3H]Epibatidine binding to bovine adrenal medulla: evidence for alpha3beta4* nicotinic receptors. *Neurosci Lett* 318, 98-102.
- Fukuda K, Kato S, Mori K, Nishi M & Takeshima H. (1993). Primary structures and expression from cDNAs of rat opioid receptor delta- and mu-subtypes. *FEBS Lett* **327**, 311-314.
- Fukuda K, Kato S, Morikawa H, Shoda T & Mori K. (1996). Functional coupling of the delta-, mu-, and kappa-opioid receptors to mitogen-activated protein kinase and arachidonate release in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *J Neurochem* **67**, 1309-1316.
- Garcia-Fernandez M, Mejias R & Lopez-Barneo J. (2007a). Developmental changes of chromaffin cell secretory response to hypoxia studied in thin adrenal slices. *Pflugers Arch* **454**, 93-100.
- Garcia-Fernandez M, Ortega-Saenz P, Castellano A & Lopez-Barneo J. (2007b). Mechanisms of low-glucose sensitivity in carotid body glomus cells. *Diabetes* **56**, 2893-2900.
- Garcia-Guzman M, Sala F, Sala S, Campos-Caro A, Stuhmer W, Gutierrez LM & Criado M. (1995). alpha-Bungarotoxin-sensitive nicotinic receptors on bovine chromaffin cells: molecular cloning, functional expression and alternative splicing of the alpha 7 subunit. *Eur J Neurosci* **7**, 647-655.
- Gauda EB, Carroll JL & Donnelly DF. (2009). Developmental maturation of chemosensitivity to hypoxia of peripheral arterial chemoreceptors--invited article. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **648**, 243-255.
- Getahun D, Amre D, Rhoads GG & Demissie K. (2004). Maternal and obstetric risk factors for sudden infant death syndrome in the United States. *Obstet Gynecol* **103**, 646-652.
- Giegerich R, Meyer F & Schleiermacher C. (1996). GeneFisher--software support for the detection of postulated genes. *Proc Int Conf Intell Syst Mol Biol* **4**, 68-77.
- Giussani DA, Spencer JA, Moore PJ, Bennet L & Hanson MA. (1993). Afferent and efferent components of the cardiovascular reflex responses to acute hypoxia in term fetal sheep. *J Physiol* **461**, 431-449.
- Gonzalez C, Almaraz L, Obeso A & Rigual R. (1994). Carotid body chemoreceptors: from natural stimuli to sensory discharges. *Physiol Rev* 74, 829-898.
- Greene LA & Tischler AS. (1976). Establishment of a noradrenergic clonal line of rat adrenal pheochromocytoma cells which respond to nerve growth factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **73**, 2424-2428.
- Grotberg JB. (2001). Respiratory fluid mechanics and transport processes. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng* **3**, 421-457.
- Guyenet PG, Stornetta RL & Bayliss DA. (2008). Retrotrapezoid nucleus and central chemoreception. *J Physiol* **586**, 2043-2048.
- Hafstrom O, Milerad J, Sandberg KL & Sundell HW. (2005). Cardiorespiratory effects of nicotine exposure during development. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* **149**, 325-341.
- Hafstrom O, Milerad J & Sundell HW. (2002). Prenatal nicotine exposure blunts the cardiorespiratory response to hypoxia in lambs. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **166**, 1544-1549.
- Henry DJ, Grandy DK, Lester HA, Davidson N & Chavkin C. (1995). Kappa-opioid receptors couple to inwardly rectifying potassium channels when coexpressed by Xenopus oocytes. *Mol Pharmacol* **47**, 551-557.
- Hillman NH, Kallapur SG & Jobe AH. (2012). Physiology of transition from intrauterine to extrauterine life. *Clin Perinatol* **39**, 769-783.
- Hirota K & Semenza GL. (2005). Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 by prolyl and asparaginyl hydroxylases. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **338**, 610-616.

- Holgert H, Aman K, Cozzari C, Hartman BK, Brimijoin S, Emson P, Goldstein M & Hokfelt T. (1995). The cholinergic innervation of the adrenal gland and its relation to enkephalin and nitric oxide synthase. *Neuroreport* 6, 2576-2580.
- Holgert H, Dagerlind A & Hokfelt T. (1996). Phenotype of intraadrenal ganglion neurons during postnatal development in rat. *J Comp Neurol* **371**, 603-620.
- Holgert H, Dagerlind A & Hokfelt T. (1998). Immunohistochemical characterization of the peptidergic innervation of the rat adrenal gland. *Horm Metab Res* **30**, 315-322.
- Holloway AC, Lim GE, Petrik JJ, Foster WG, Morrison KM & Gerstein HC. (2005). Fetal and neonatal exposure to nicotine in Wistar rats results in increased beta cell apoptosis at birth and postnatal endocrine and metabolic changes associated with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* **48**, 2661-2666.
- Huang YF, Yang CH, Huang CC, Tai MH & Hsu KS. (2010). Pharmacological and genetic accumulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha enhances excitatory synaptic transmission in hippocampal neurons through the production of vascular endothelial growth factor. *J Neurosci* **30**, 6080-6093.
- Hulse G & O'Neil G. (2002). Using naltrexone implants in the management of the pregnant heroin user. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* **42**, 569-573.
- Hulse GK & O'Neill G. (2002). A possible role for implantable naltrexone in the management of the high-risk pregnant heroin user. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* **42**, 93-94.
- Hulse GK, O'Neill G, Pereira C & Brewer C. (2001). Obstetric and neonatal outcomes associated with maternal naltrexone exposure. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* **41**, 424-428.
- Ifune CK & Steinbach JH. (1992). Inward rectification of acetylcholine-elicited currents in rat phaeochromocytoma cells. *J Physiol* **457**, 143-165.
- Iturriaga R & Alcayaga J. (2004). Neurotransmission in the carotid body: transmitters and modulators between glomus cells and petrosal ganglion nerve terminals. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* **47**, 46-53.
- Jansson LM, Dipietro J & Elko A. (2005). Fetal response to maternal methadone administration. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **193**, 611-617.
- Jeong CH, Lee HJ, Cha JH, Kim JH, Kim KR, Yoon DK & Kim KW. (2007). Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha inhibits self-renewal of mouse embryonic stem cells in Vitro via negative regulation of the leukemia inhibitory factor-STAT3 pathway. *J Biol Chem* **282**, 13672-13679.
- Jiang BH, Rue E, Wang GL, Roe R & Semenza GL. (1996a). Dimerization, DNA binding, and transactivation properties of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem* **271**, 17771-17778.

- Jiang BH, Semenza GL, Bauer C & Marti HH. (1996b). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 levels vary exponentially over a physiologically relevant range of O2 tension. *Am J Physiol* **271**, C1172-1180.
- Jiang C & Haddad GG. (1997). Modulation of K+ channels by intracellular ATP in human neocortical neurons. *J Neurophysiol* **77**, 93-102.
- Johnson PS, Wang JB, Wang WF & Uhl GR. (1994). Expressed mu opiate receptor couples to adenylate cyclase and phosphatidyl inositol turnover. *Neuroreport* 5, 507-509.
- Johnson RP, O'Kelly IM & Fearon IM. (2004). System-specific O2 sensitivity of the tandem pore domain K+ channel TASK-1. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **286**, C391-397.
- Jones CT. (1980). *Circulating catecholamines in the fetus, their origin, actions and significance*. Parvez H & Parvez S.
- Kamura T, Sato S, Iwai K, Czyzyk-Krzeska M, Conaway RC & Conaway JW. (2000). Activation of HIF1alpha ubiquitination by a reconstituted von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) tumor suppressor complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**, 10430-10435.
- Kandall SR & Gaines J. (1991). Maternal substance use and subsequent sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) in offspring. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **13**, 235-240.
- Kashiwagi M, Arlettaz R, Lauper U, Zimmermann R & Hebisch G. (2005). Methadone maintenance program in a Swiss perinatal center: (I): Management and outcome of 89 pregnancies. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* **84**, 140-144.
- Kato I, Franco P, Groswasser J, Scaillet S, Kelmanson I, Togari H & Kahn A. (2003). Incomplete arousal processes in infants who were victims of sudden death. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **168**, 1298-1303.
- Keating DJ, Rychkov GY, Adams MB, Holgert H, McMillen IC & Roberts ML. (2004). Opioid receptor stimulation suppresses the adrenal medulla hypoxic response in sheep by actions on Ca(2+) and K(+) channels. *J Physiol* **555**, 489-502.
- Keating DJ, Rychkov GY, Giacomin P & Roberts ML. (2005). Oxygen-sensing pathway for SK channels in the ovine adrenal medulla. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **32**, 882-887.
- Keating DJ, Rychkov GY & Roberts ML. (2001). Oxygen sensitivity in the sheep adrenal medulla: role of SK channels. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **281**, C1434-1441.
- Kenneth NS & Rocha S. (2008). Regulation of gene expression by hypoxia. *Biochem J* **414**, 19-29.

- Kidokoro Y, Miyazaki S & Ozawa S. (1982). Acetylcholine-induced membrane depolarization and potential fluctuations in the rat adrenal chromaffin cell. *J Physiol* **324**, 203-220.
- Kim CH, Cho YS, Chun YS, Park JW & Kim MS. (2002). Early expression of myocardial HIFlalpha in response to mechanical stresses: regulation by stretch-activated channels and the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling pathway. *Circ Res* **90**, E25-33.
- Kimura T, Katoh M & Satoh S. (1988). Inhibition by opioid agonists and enhancement by antagonists of the release of catecholamines from the dog adrenal gland in response to splanchnic nerve stimulation: evidence for the functional role of opioid receptors. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **244**, 1098-1102.
- Kinney HC, O'Donnell TJ, Kriger P & White WF. (1993). Early developmental changes in [3H]nicotine binding in the human brainstem. *Neuroscience* **55**, 1127-1138.
- Kobayashi S, Miyabayashi T, Uchida T & Yanaihara N. (1985). Met-enkephalin-Arg6-Gly7-Leu8 in large-cored vesicles of splanchnic nerve terminals innervating guinea pig adrenal chromaffin cells. *Neurosci Lett* **53**, 247-252.
- Kölliker A. (1854). Manual of Human Histology. G Busk and T Huxley London.
- Kumar GK & Prabhakar NR. (2008). Post-translational modification of proteins during intermittent hypoxia. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* **164**, 272-276.
- Kumar P. (2007). Sensing hypoxia in the carotid body: from stimulus to response. *Essays Biochem* **43**, 43-60.
- Kung HC, Hoyert DL, Xu J & Murphy SL. (2008). Deaths: final data for 2005. *Natl Vital Stat Rep* **56**, 1-120.
- Kuri BA, Chan SA & Smith CB. (2009). PACAP regulates immediate catecholamine release from adrenal chromaffin cells in an activity-dependent manner through a protein kinase C-dependent pathway. *J Neurochem* **110**, 1214-1225.
- Lagercrantz H & Bistoletti P. (1977). Catecholamine release in the newborn infant at birth. *Pediatr Res* **11**, 889-893.
- Lagercrantz H & Slotkin TA. (1986a). The "stress" of being born. Sci Am 254, 100-107.

Lagercrantz H & Slotkin TA. (1986b). The "stress" of being born. Sci Am 254, 100-107.

Lahiri S, Iturriaga R, Mokashi A, Botre F, Chugh D & Osanai S. (1996). Adaptation to hypercapnia vs. intracellular pH in cat carotid body: responses in vitro. *J Appl Physiol* **80**, 1090-1099.

- Lando D, Peet DJ, Gorman JJ, Whelan DA, Whitelaw ML & Bruick RK. (2002). FIH-1 is an asparaginyl hydroxylase enzyme that regulates the transcriptional activity of hypoxiainducible factor. *Genes Dev* **16**, 1466-1471.
- Laugwitz KL, Offermanns S, Spicher K & Schultz G. (1993). mu and delta opioid receptors differentially couple to G protein subtypes in membranes of human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. *Neuron* **10**, 233-242.
- Lavezzi AM, Ottaviani G, Mingrone R & Matturri L. (2005). Analysis of the human locus coeruleus in perinatal and infant sudden unexplained deaths. Possible role of the cigarette smoking in the development of this nucleus. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* **154**, 71-80.
- Law KL, Stroud LR, LaGasse LL, Niaura R, Liu J & Lester BM. (2003). Smoking during pregnancy and newborn neurobehavior. *Pediatrics* **111**, 1318-1323.
- Law PY, Wong YH & Loh HH. (2000). Molecular mechanisms and regulation of opioid receptor signaling. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **40**, 389-430.
- Lee J, Lim W, Eun SY, Kim SJ & Kim J. (2000). Inhibition of apamin-sensitive K+ current by hypoxia in adult rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *Pflugers Arch* **439**, 700-704.
- Levitsky KL & Lopez-Barneo J. (2009). Developmental change of T-type Ca2+ channel expression and its role in rat chromaffin cell responsiveness to acute hypoxia. *J Physiol* **587**, 1917-1929.
- Livak KJ & Schmittgen TD. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* **25**, 402-408.
- Livermore S, Piskuric NA, Buttigieg J, Zhang M & Nurse CA. (2011). Low glucose sensitivity and polymodal chemosensing in neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **301**, C1104-1115.
- Livermore S, Piskuric NA, Salman S & Nurse CA. (2012). Developmental regulation of glucosensing in rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells: potential role of the K(ATP) channel. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **758**, 191-198.
- Lopez-Barneo J, Pardal R & Ortega-Saenz P. (2001). Cellular mechanism of oxygen sensing. *Annu Rev Physiol* **63**, 259-287.
- Manalo DJ, Rowan A, Lavoie T, Natarajan L, Kelly BD, Ye SQ, Garcia JG & Semenza GL. (2005). Transcriptional regulation of vascular endothelial cell responses to hypoxia by HIF-1. *Blood* **105**, 659-669.
- Mazure NM, Chauvet C, Bois-Joyeux B, Bernard MA, Nacer-Cherif H & Danan JL. (2002). Repression of alpha-fetoprotein gene expression under hypoxic conditions in human

hepatoma cells: characterization of a negative hypoxia response element that mediates opposite effects of hypoxia inducible factor-1 and c-Myc. *Cancer Res* **62**, 1158-1165.

- Meng F, Xie GX, Thompson RC, Mansour A, Goldstein A, Watson SJ & Akil H. (1993). Cloning and pharmacological characterization of a rat kappa opioid receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90**, 9954-9958.
- Miki T, Iwanaga T, Nagashima K, Ihara Y & Seino S. (2001). Roles of ATP-sensitive K+ channels in cell survival and differentiation in the endocrine pancreas. *Diabetes* **50 Suppl 1,** S48-51.
- Miki T, Nagashima K & Seino S. (1999). The structure and function of the ATP-sensitive K+ channel in insulin-secreting pancreatic beta-cells. *J Mol Endocrinol* **22**, 113-123.
- Minami K, Miki T, Kadowaki T & Seino S. (2004). Roles of ATP-sensitive K+ channels as metabolic sensors: studies of Kir6.x null mice. *Diabetes* **53 Suppl 3**, S176-180.
- Mochizuki-Oda N, Takeuchi Y, Matsumura K, Oosawa Y & Watanabe Y. (1997). Hypoxiainduced catecholamine release and intracellular Ca2+ increase via suppression of K+ channels in cultured rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *J Neurochem* **69**, 377-387.
- Montandon G, Qin W, Liu H, Ren J, Greer JJ & Horner RL. (2011). PreBotzinger complex neurokinin-1 receptor-expressing neurons mediate opioid-induced respiratory depression. *J Neurosci* **31**, 1292-1301.
- Morin-Surun MP, Boudinot E, Fournie-Zaluski MC, Champagnat J, Roques BP & Denavit-Saubie M. (1992). Control of breathing by endogenous opioid peptides: possible involvement in sudden infant death syndrome. *Neurochem Int* 20, 103-107.
- Mottet D, Dumont V, Deccache Y, Demazy C, Ninane N, Raes M & Michiels C. (2003). Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha protein level during hypoxic conditions by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt/glycogen synthase kinase 3beta pathway in HepG2 cells. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 31277-31285.
- Mousavi M, Hellstrom-Lindahl E, Guan ZZ, Bednar I & Nordberg A. (2001). Expression of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in human and rat adrenal medulla. *Life Sci* **70**, 577-590.
- Mravec B. (2005). A new focus on interoceptive properties of adrenal medulla. *Auton Neurosci* **120**, 10-17.
- Mulkey DK, Stornetta RL, Weston MC, Simmons JR, Parker A, Bayliss DA & Guyenet PG. (2004). Respiratory control by ventral surface chemoreceptor neurons in rats. *Nat Neurosci* 7, 1360-1369.
- Munoz-Cabello AM, Toledo-Aral JJ, Lopez-Barneo J & Echevarria M. (2005). Rat adrenal chromaffin cells are neonatal CO2 sensors. *J Neurosci* **25**, 6631-6640.

- Naidoo N, Partab P, Pather N, Moodley J, Singh B & Satyapal KS. (2001). Thoracic splanchnic nerves: implications for splanchnic denervation. *J Anat* **199**, 585-590.
- Narravula S & Colgan SP. (2001). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1-mediated inhibition of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha expression during hypoxia. *J Immunol* **166**, 7543-7548.
- Nichols CG. (2006). KATP channels as molecular sensors of cellular metabolism. *Nature* **440**, 470-476.
- Nock ML, Difiore JM, Arko MK & Martin RJ. (2004). Relationship of the ventilatory response to hypoxia with neonatal apnea in preterm infants. *J Pediatr* **144**, 291-295.
- North RA & Egan TM. (1983). Actions and distributions of opioid peptides in peripheral tissues. *Br Med Bull* **39**, 71-75.
- Nurse CA. (2005). Neurotransmission and neuromodulation in the chemosensory carotid body. *Auton Neurosci* **120**, 1-9.
- Nurse CA, Buttigieg J, Brown S & Holloway AC. (2009). Regulation of oxygen sensitivity in adrenal chromaffin cells. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1177**, 132-139.
- Obeso A, Gomez-Nino MA, Almaraz L, Dinger B, Fidone S & Gonzalez C. (1997). Evidence for two types of nicotinic receptors in the cat carotid body chemoreceptor cells. *Brain Res* **754**, 298-302.
- Padbury J, Agata Y, Ludlow J, Ikegami M, Baylen B & Humme J. (1987). Effect of fetal adrenalectomy on catecholamine release and physiologic adaptation at birth in sheep. *J Clin Invest* **80**, 1096-1103.
- Parker TL, Kesse WK, Mohamed AA & Afework M. (1993). The innervation of the mammalian adrenal gland. *J Anat* 183 (Pt 2), 265-276.
- Patrick SW, Schumacher RE, Benneyworth BD, Krans EE, McAllister JM & Davis MM. (2012). Neonatal abstinence syndrome and associated health care expenditures: United States, 2000-2009. *JAMA* **307**, 1934-1940.
- Peers C & Green FK. (1991). Inhibition of Ca(2+)-activated K+ currents by intracellular acidosis in isolated type I cells of the neonatal rat carotid body. *J Physiol* **437**, 589-602.
- Piros ET, Prather PL, Law PY, Evans CJ & Hales TG. (1996). Voltage-dependent inhibition of Ca2+ channels in GH3 cells by cloned mu- and delta-opioid receptors. *Mol Pharmacol* **50**, 947-956.

- Piskuric NA, Brown ST, Zhang M & Nurse CA. (2008). Glucosensing in an immortalized adrenomedullary chromaffin cell line: role of ATP-sensitive K+ channels. *Neurosci Lett* **445**, 94-98.
- Poets CF, Samuels MP & Southall DP. (1994). Epidemiology and pathophysiology of apnoea of prematurity. *Biol Neonate* **65**, 211-219.
- Prabhakar NR. (2001). Oxygen sensing during intermittent hypoxia: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *J Appl Physiol* **90**, 1986-1994.
- Prabhakar NR. (2006). O2 sensing at the mammalian carotid body: why multiple O2 sensors and multiple transmitters? *Exp Physiol* **91**, 17-23.
- Prabhakar NR, Kumar GK & Nanduri J. (2009). Intermittent hypoxia-mediated plasticity of acute O2 sensing requires altered red-ox regulation by HIF-1 and HIF-2. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1177**, 162-168.
- Prather PL, McGinn TM, Erickson LJ, Evans CJ, Loh HH & Law PY. (1994). Ability of deltaopioid receptors to interact with multiple G-proteins is independent of receptor density. J Biol Chem 269, 21293-21302.
- Putnam RW, Filosa JA & Ritucci NA. (2004). Cellular mechanisms involved in CO(2) and acid signaling in chemosensitive neurons. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **287**, C1493-1526.
- Quirion R, Finkel MS, Mendelsohn FA & Zamir N. (1983). Localization of opiate binding sites in kidney and adrenal gland of the rat. *Life Sci* **33 Suppl 1**, 299-302.
- Ream MA, Chandra R, Peavey M, Ray AM, Roffler-Tarlov S, Kim HG, Wetsel WC, Rockman HA & Chikaraishi DM. (2008). High oxygen prevents fetal lethality due to lack of catecholamines. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **295**, R942-953.
- Richard BW. (1990). The History of Endocrine Surgery. Praeger Publishers, New York.
- Richard DE, Berra E & Pouyssegur J. (2000). Nonhypoxic pathway mediates the induction of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha in vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 26765-26771.
- Richardson HL, Walker AM & Horne RS. (2009). Maternal smoking impairs arousal patterns in sleeping infants. *Sleep* **32**, 515-521.
- Rico AJ, Prieto-Lloret J, Gonzalez C & Rigual R. (2005). Hypoxia and acidosis increase the secretion of catecholamines in the neonatal rat adrenal medulla: an in vitro study. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 289, C1417-1425.

- Rico AJ, Prieto-Lloret, J., Gonzalez, C., Rigual, R. (2005). Hypoxia and acidosis increase the secretion of catecholamines in the neonatal rat adrenal medulla: an in vitro study. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 289, 1417-1425.
- Ridley DL, Pakkanen J & Wonnacott S. (2002). Effects of chronic drug treatments on increases in intracellular calcium mediated by nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in SH-SY5Y cells. Br J Pharmacol 135, 1051-1059.
- Rocha S. (2007). Gene regulation under low oxygen: holding your breath for transcription. *Trends Biochem Sci* **32**, 389-397.
- Rogers JM. (2008). Tobacco and pregnancy: overview of exposures and effects. *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today* **84**, 1-15.
- Sala F, Nistri A & Criado M. (2008). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors of adrenal chromaffin cells. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* **192**, 203-212.
- Salman S, Brown ST & Nurse CA. (2012). Chronic nicotine induces hypoxia inducible factor-2alpha in perinatal rat adrenal chromaffin cells: role in transcriptional upregulation of KATP channel subunit Kir6.2. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **302**, C1531-1538.
- Salman S, Buttigieg J, Zhang M & Nurse CA. (2013). Chronic exposure of neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells to opioids in vitro blunts both hypoxia and hypercapnia chemosensitivity. *J Physiol* **591**, 515-529.
- Sawnani H, Jackson T, Murphy T, Beckerman R & Simakajornboon N. (2004). The effect of maternal smoking on respiratory and arousal patterns in preterm infants during sleep. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **169**, 733-738.
- Schinner S & Bornstein SR. (2005). Cortical-chromaffin cell interactions in the adrenal gland. *Endocr Pathol* **16**, 91-98.
- Schlosser B, Kudernatsch MB, Sutor B & ten Bruggencate G. (1995). Delta, mu and kappa opioid receptor agonists inhibit dopamine overflow in rat neostriatal slices. *Neurosci Lett* 191, 126-130.
- Schofield CJ & Ratcliffe PJ. (2005). Signalling hypoxia by HIF hydroxylases. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **338**, 617-626.
- Schultzberg M, Lundberg JM, Hokfelt T, Terenius L, Brandt J, Elde RP & Goldstein M. (1978). Enkephalin-like immunoreactivity in gland cells and nerve terminals of the adrenal medulla. *Neuroscience* 3, 1169-1186.
- Seidler FJ & Slotkin TA. (1985). Adrenomedullary function in the neonatal rat: responses to acute hypoxia. *J Physiol* **358**, 1-16.

- Seidler FJ & Slotkin TA. (1986a). Non-neurogenic adrenal catecholamine release in the neonatal rat: exocytosis or diffusion? *Brain Res* **393**, 274-277.
- Seidler FJ & Slotkin TA. (1986b). Ontogeny of adrenomedullary responses to hypoxia and hypoglycemia: role of splanchnic innervation. *Brain Res Bull* **16**, 11-14.
- Semenza GL. (2004). O2-regulated gene expression: transcriptional control of cardiorespiratory physiology by HIF-1. *J Appl Physiol* **96**, 1173-1177; discussion 1170-1172.
- Semenza GL. (2009). Regulation of oxygen homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Physiology (Bethesda)* **24,** 97-106.
- Semenza GL, Jiang BH, Leung SW, Passantino R, Concordet JP, Maire P & Giallongo A. (1996). Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem* 271, 32529-32537.
- Slotkin TA, Lappi SE, McCook EC, Lorber BA & Seidler FJ. (1995). Loss of neonatal hypoxia tolerance after prenatal nicotine exposure: implications for sudden infant death syndrome. *Brain Res Bull* **38**, 69-75.
- Slotkin TA, Lau C & Bartolome M. (1976). Effects of neonatal or maternal methadone administration on ornithine decarboxylase activity in brain and heart of developing rats. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **199**, 141-148.
- Slotkin TA & Seidler FJ. (1988). Adrenomedullary catecholamine release in the fetus and newborn: secretory mechanisms and their role in stress and survival. *J Dev Physiol* **10**, 1-16.
- Solomon IC, Edelman NH & O'Neal MH, 3rd. (2000). CO(2)/H(+) chemoreception in the cat pre-Botzinger complex in vivo. *J Appl Physiol* **88**, 1996-2007.
- Souvannakitti D, Nanduri J, Yuan G, Kumar GK, Fox AP & Prabhakar NR. (2010). NADPH oxidase-dependent regulation of T-type Ca2+ channels and ryanodine receptors mediate the augmented exocytosis of catecholamines from intermittent hypoxia-treated neonatal rat chromaffin cells. *J Neurosci* **30**, 10763-10772.
- Stokowski LA. (2005). A primer on Apnea of prematurity. *Adv Neonatal Care* **5**, 155-170; quiz 171-154.
- Sun XL & Hu G. (2010). ATP-sensitive potassium channels: a promising target for protecting neurovascular unit function in stroke. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **37**, 243–252.
- Tan Z, Lu Y, Whiteis CA, Benson CJ, Chapleau MW & M. AF. (2007). Acid-Sensing Ion Channels Contribute to Transduction of
- Extracellular Acidosis in Rat Carotid Body Glomus Cells. Circ Res 101, 1009-1019.

- Tang WJ & Hurley JH. (1998). Catalytic mechanism and regulation of mammalian adenylyl cyclases. *Mol Pharmacol* **54**, 231-240.
- Taylor CT. (2008). Mitochondria and cellular oxygen sensing in the HIF pathway. *Biochem J* **409**, 19-26.
- Taylor SC & Peers C. (1998). Hypoxia evokes catecholamine secretion from rat pheochromocytoma PC-12 cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **248**, 13-17.
- Thompson RJ, Buttigieg J, Zhang M & Nurse CA. (2007). A rotenone-sensitive site and H2O2 are key components of hypoxia-sensing in neonatal rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells. *Neuroscience* **145**, 130-141.
- Thompson RJ, Farragher SM, Cutz E & Nurse CA. (2002). Developmental regulation of O(2) sensing in neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells from wild-type and NADPH-oxidase-deficient mice. *Pflugers Arch* **444**, 539-548.
- Thompson RJ, Farragher, S. M., Cutz, E., Nurse, C. A. (2002). Developmental regulation of O2sensing in neonatal adrenal chromaffin cells from wild-type and NADPH-oxidase-deficient mice. *Pflugers Arch* **444**, 539-548.
- Thompson RJ, Jackson A & Nurse CA. (1997). Developmental loss of hypoxic chemosensitivity in rat adrenomedullary chromaffin cells. *J Physiol* **498** (**Pt 2**), 503-510.
- Thompson RJ & Nurse CA. (1998). Anoxia differentially modulates multiple K+ currents and depolarizes neonatal rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *J Physiol* **512** (**Pt 2**), 421-434.
- Toschi A, Lee E, Gadir N, Ohh M & Foster DA. (2008). Differential dependence of hypoxiainducible factors 1 alpha and 2 alpha on mTORC1 and mTORC2. *J Biol Chem* **283**, 34495-34499.
- Toth IE. (1998). Transneuronal labeling of CNS neurons involved in the innervation of the adrenal gland. *Horm Metab Res* **30**, 329-333.
- Trauner D & Kramer RH. (2004). Metabolic modulation of potassium channels. *Sci STKE* 2004, pe22.
- van der Hal AL, Rodriguez AM, Sargent CW, Platzker AC & Keens TG. (1985). Hypoxic and hypercapneic arousal responses and prediction of subsequent apnea in apnea of infancy. *Pediatrics* **75**, 848-854.
- Van Woudenberg CD, Wills CA & Rubarth LB. (2012). Newborn transition to extrauterine life. *Neonatal Netw* **31**, 317-322.

- Volpe DA, McMahon Tobin GA, Mellon RD, Katki AG, Parker RJ, Colatsky T, Kropp TJ & Verbois SL. (2011). Uniform assessment and ranking of opioid mu receptor binding constants for selected opioid drugs. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* **59**, 385-390.
- Walker JM & Farney RJ. (2009). Are opioids associated with sleep apnea? A review of the evidence. *Curr Pain Headache Rep* **13**, 120-126.
- Wang GL, Jiang BH, Rue EA & Semenza GL. (1995). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helixloop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92, 5510-5514.
- Wang GL & Semenza GL. (1993). General involvement of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 in transcriptional response to hypoxia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90**, 4304-4308.
- Wasicko MJ, Sterni LM, Bamford OS, Montrose MH & Carroll JL. (1999). Resetting and postnatal maturation of oxygen chemosensitivity in rat carotid chemoreceptor cells. J Physiol 514 (Pt 2), 493-503.
- Wenger RH. (2002). Cellular adaptation to hypoxia: O2-sensing protein hydroxylases, hypoxiainducible transcription factors, and O2-regulated gene expression. *FASEB J* 16, 1151-1162.
- Wenger RH, Stiehl DP & Camenisch G. (2005). Integration of oxygen signaling at the consensus HRE. *Sci STKE* 2005, re12.
- Wiesener MS, Turley H, Allen WE, Willam C, Eckardt KU, Talks KL, Wood SM, Gatter KC, Harris AL, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ & Maxwell PH. (1998). Induction of endothelial PAS domain protein-1 by hypoxia: characterization and comparison with hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha. *Blood* 92, 2260-2268.
- Wittert G, Hope P & Pyle D. (1996). Tissue distribution of opioid receptor gene expression in the rat. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **218**, 877-881.
- Wouldes TA, Roberts AB, Pryor JE, Bagnall C & Gunn TR. (2004). The effect of methadone treatment on the quantity and quality of human fetal movement. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **26**, 23-34.
- Wyatt CN & Peers C. (1993). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in isolated type I cells of the neonatal rat carotid body. *Neuroscience* **54**, 275-281.
- Wykoff CC, Beasley NJ, Watson PH, Turner KJ, Pastorek J, Sibtain A, Wilson GD, Turley H, Talks KL, Maxwell PH, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ & Harris AL. (2000). Hypoxia-inducible expression of tumor-associated carbonic anhydrases. *Cancer Res* **60**, 7075-7083.
- Xu L & Enyeart JJ. (2001). Properties of ATP-dependent K(+) channels in adrenocortical cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **280**, C199-215.

- Yoshikawa H, Hellstrom-Lindahl E & Grill V. (2005). Evidence for functional nicotinic receptors on pancreatic beta cells. *Metabolism* **54**, 247-254.
- Yoshikawa M, Saito H, Sano T, Ohuchi T, Ishimura Y, Morita K, Saito S & Oka M. (1990). Localization and release of immunoreactive vasoactive intestinal polypeptide in bovine adrenal medulla. *Neurosci Lett* **111**, 75-79.
- Yuan G, Nanduri J, Khan S, Semenza GL & Prabhakar NR. (2008). Induction of HIF-1alpha expression by intermittent hypoxia: involvement of NADPH oxidase, Ca2+ signaling, prolyl hydroxylases, and mTOR. *J Cell Physiol* **217**, 674-685.
- Yuan G, Peng YJ, Reddy VD, Makarenko VV, Nanduri J, Khan SA, Garcia JA, Kumar GK, Semenza GL & Prabhakar NR. (2013). Mutual antagonism between hypoxia-inducible factors 1alpha and 2alpha regulates oxygen sensing and cardio-respiratory homeostasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **110**, E1788-1796.
- Zagon IS & McLaughlin PJ. (1977). Effects of chronic morphine administration on pregnant rats and their offspring. *Pharmacology* **15**, 302-310.
- Zhang M & Nurse CA. (2004). CO2/pH chemosensory signaling in co-cultures of rat carotid body receptors and petrosal neurons: role of ATP and ACh. *J Neurophysiol* **92**, 3433-3445.
- Zhang Q, Tang X, Zhang ZF, Velikina R, Shi S & Le AD. (2007). Nicotine induces hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha expression in human lung cancer cells via nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-mediated signaling pathways. *Clin Cancer Res* **13**, 4686-4694.